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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To The Members of Artemis Medicare Services Limited

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the standalone financial statements of 
Artemis Medicare Services Limited (“the Company”), which 
comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, 
the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income), the Standalone Statement of Changes 
in Equity and Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements, 
including a summary of the significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 
“Standalone Financial Statements”). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid Standalone 
Financial Statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required 
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of 
the Company as at March 31, 2023, and profit (including other 
comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash flows 
for the year ended on that date.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 
in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (“SA”) specified 
under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, as amended 
(“the Act”). Our responsibilities under those Standards are 
further described in Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the financial results section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the Standalone Financial Statements under the provisions of the 
Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters (‘KAM’) are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the Standalone Financial Statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the Standalone Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. We have determined the matters described 
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

1.	 Upgradation to new Information Technology (IT) system

The Company used SAP as its primary ERP which was 
upgraded to SAP HANA on October 1, 2022. The audit 
approach relies on the effectiveness of automated controls 
of these applications and controls around the interface of 
systems. While transitioning to a new information system, 
the robustness of IT general and application controls is 
critical to assess that changes to applications and underlying 
data are made in an appropriate manner to ensure accurate 
data migration.

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures performed included:

	 Identification of the IT risks based on our understanding of 
the IT environment.

	 Determination whether each general IT control, individually 
or in combination with other controls, is designed to address 
the associated IT risk. 

	 Testing of the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of the relevant general IT controls.

	We reviewed the management’s processes around system 
migration in order to ascertain the accuracy of balances 
migrated to the new information system.

	We obtained and tested the mitigating alternative controls 
to address the IT control deficiencies noted around the new 
application
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

2.	 Capitalisation of Property, Plant, and Equipment

The Company is in the process of executing various 
projects like the expansion of the hospital, installation of 
new machinery, new leased properties, etc. Since these 
projects take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
the intended use and due to their materiality in the context 
of the Balance Sheet of the Company, this is considered to 
be an area with significant effect. 

With regard to the above projects, management has 
identified specific expenditures including employee costs 
and other overheads relating to each of the assets in the 
above projects and has applied significant management 
judgement and estimation for consideration of cost incurred 
and percentage of completion of the project to ensure that 
the capitalization of assets meets the recognition criteria as 
per the requirement of Ind AS. This has been determined 
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the capital 
expenditure during the year and the risk that the elements 
of costs are not appropriately capitalized.

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures performed included:

	We performed walkthroughs of the capitalization process and 
assessed the design effectiveness and operating effectiveness 
for key control by understanding, evaluating and testing the 
key controls relating to capitalization.

	We assessed the progress of the project and the intention and 
ability of the management to carry forward the project.

	 Tested the direct and indirect costs capitalized, on a sample 
basis, with the underlying supporting documents to ascertain 
the nature of costs and basis for allocation, where applicable, 
and evaluated whether they meet the recognition criteria 
provided in the Indian Accounting Standards;

	 Ensured adequacy of disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements on the management judgements in such cases.

3.	 Allowances for credit losses relating to Trade Receivables:

The Company exercises significant judgment in assessing 
and calculating the Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on Trade 
Receivables as per the requirement of Ind AS 109. This 
assessment is done for the customer category resulting 
from possible defaults/delays over the expected life of 
the receivables and future economic conditions. Based on 
this assessment, the provision matrix is determined. The 
company recorded the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance 
for trade receivable based on this provision matrix. In view 
of this, we have considered the measurement of ECL on 
trade receivables as a key audit matter.

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures performed included:

	 Obtained an understanding of and assessed and tested 
the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of 
relevant internal controls relating to the development of 
methodology for the allowance for credit losses, including 
consideration of the overall economic conditions. 

	 Tested the completeness and accuracy of information used in 
the estimation of the probability of default.

	 Tested the computation of the expected credit loss allowances.
Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements 
and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Company’s 
annual report but does not include the Standalone Financial 
Statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The aforesaid 
report is expected to be made available to us after the date of 
this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Standalone Financial 
Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the Standalone Financial Statements or our 
knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the Company’s annual report and if we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required 
to communicate the matter to those charged with governance 
and shall take appropriate actions, if required.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for 
the Standalone Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the 
preparation and presentation of these Standalone Financial 
Statements that give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, financial performance including other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection 
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and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
Standalone Financial Statements that give a true and fair view 
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.
In preparing the Standalone Financial Statements, the Board of 
Directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.
Those Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the Standalone Financial Statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these Standalone Financial Statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the Annual Standalone Financial Statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)
(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our 
opinion on whether the Company has an adequate internal 
financial controls system with reference to the Standalone 
Financial statement in place and the operating effectiveness 
of such controls. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Management and Board 
of Directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of Management and Board 
of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the appropriateness of 
this assumption. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the Standalone 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the Annual Standalone Financial Statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Annual Standalone Financial 
Statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
Standalone Financial Statements that, individually or in the 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of 
a reasonably knowledgeable user of the financial statements 
may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and 
qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work, and (ii) to evaluate 
the effect of any identified misstatements in the financial 
statements.
We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
1.	 A. 	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our 

report, we report that: 
(a)	 We have sought and obtained all the information 

and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the 
purposes of our audit;
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(b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books;

(c)	 The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income), the Standalone 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone 
Statement of Cash Flow dealt with by this report 
are in agreement with the books of account;

(d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid Standalone Financial 
Statements comply with the Ind AS specified under 
Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

(e)	 Based on the written representations received 
from the directors as on March 31, 2023, taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the 
directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2023, from 
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164 (2) of the Act;

(f)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting with 
reference to Standalone Financial Statements of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 
A”. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion 
on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal financial controls over 
financial reporting;

B.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in 
our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us: 
(a)	 The Company has disclosed the impact of pending 

litigations as of March 31, 2023, on its financial 
position in its Standalone Financial Statements. 
Refer to note 40 to the Standalone Financial 
Statements;

(b)	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts 
including derivative contracts for which there were 
any material foreseeable losses;

(c)	 There has been no delay in transferring amounts, 
required to be transferred, to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

(d)	 (i) 	 The Management has represented that, to 
the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 
(which are material either individually or in 
the aggregate) have been advanced or loaned 
or invested (either from borrowed funds or 
share premium or any other sources or kind 
of funds) by the Company to or in any other 
person or entity, including foreign entity 
(“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, 
that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly 

or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries; 

(ii)	 The Management has represented, that, to 
the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 
(which are material either individually or in 
the aggregate) have been received by the 
Company from any person or entity, including 
foreign entity (“Funding Parties”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, 
directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding 
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(iii) 	Based on the audit procedures that have been 
considered reasonable and appropriate in 
the circumstances, nothing has come to our 
notice that has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) of 
Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (ii) above, 
contain any material misstatement.

(e)	 The company has neither declared nor paid any 
dividend during the year, therefore reporting 
under rule 11 (f) is not applicable.

(f)	 As proviso to rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014 is applicable for the company only 
w.e.f. April 1, 2023, reporting under this clause is 
not applicable.

C.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the 
Auditor’s Report in accordance with the requirements 
of Section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, 

	 In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, the 
remuneration paid by the Company to its directors 
during the year is in accordance with the provisions of 
section 197 of the Act.

2.	 As required by the Companies (Auditors’ Report) Order, 
2020 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government 
of India in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give 
in “Annexure B” a statement on the matters specified in 
paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
	 Chartered Accountants
	 (Firm Registration No.: 006711N/ N500028)

Place of Signature: Noida	 Neena Goel 
Dated: May 5, 2023	 Partner
UDIN: 23057986BGVLGQ8637	 Membership No. 057986
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditors’ Report on the 
Standalone Financial Statements of Artemis Medicare Services 
Limited for the year ended March 31, 2023

(Referred to in paragraph 1 (A) (f) under the ‘Report on Other 
Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of 
even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to 
aforesaid Standalone Financial Statements under Clause (i) of 
Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 
Act”)

Opinion 

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting of Artemis Medicare Services Limited(“the Company”) 
as of March 31, 2023, in conjunction with our audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements of the Company for the year 
ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, 
adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting 
and such internal financial controls were operating effectively 
as at March 31, 2023, based on the internal financial controls 
over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated 
in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”).

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting criteria established by 
the Company considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note. These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of 
its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, 
the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection 
of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable 
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 
2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”).

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls over financial reporting based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed 
under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an 
audit of internal financial controls with reference to Standalone 
Financial Statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether adequate internal financial controls over financial 
reporting was established and maintained and whether such 
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting and their operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exits, and testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of the internal controls 
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risk of 
misstatement of the Standalone Financial Statements, whether 
due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to 
Standalone Financial Statements

A company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting 
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
Standalone Financial Statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting 
include those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of Standalone Financial Statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the Standalone Financial Statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with 
Reference to Standalone Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls 
over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion 
or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be 
detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting to future periods 
are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
	 Chartered Accountants
	 (Firm Registration No.: 006711N/ N500028)

Place of Signature: Noida	 Neena Goel 
Dated: May 5, 2023	 Partner
UDIN: 23057986BGVLGQ8637	 Membership No. 057986
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditors’ Report on the 
Standalone Financial Statements of Artemis Medicare Services 
Limited for the year ended March 31, 2023

(Referred to in paragraph 2 under the ‘Report on Other Legal 
and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even 
date)

i)	 In respect of the Company’s Property, Plant and Equipment 
and Intangible Assets:

a.	 (A) 	The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of Property, Plant and 
Equipment and relevant details of right-of-use 
assets covered under Ind AS 116, ‘Leases’. 

(B) 	The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars of intangible assets. 

b.	 The Company has a program of verification of property, 
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets so as to 
cover all the items at least every 1-2 years, which, in 
our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of 
the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant 
to the program, some of the Property, Plant and 
Equipment, were physically verified during the year by 
the Management. According to the information and 
explanations given to us, no material discrepancies 
were noticed in such verification.

c.	 Based on the examination of the property tax receipts, 
and conveyance deed provided to us, we report that 
the title deeds of all the immovable properties of 
land and buildings (other than properties where the 
Company is the lessee and the lease agreements are 
duly executed in favour of the Company) disclosed in 
the financial statements included in property, plant, 
and equipment, are held in the name of the Company 
as at the balance sheet date. Immovable properties 
of land and buildings, title deeds of which have been 
pledged as security for loans, are held in the name 
of the Company based on the confirmations received 
from the Bank.

d.	 The Company has not revalued any of its Property, 
Plant and Equipment (including right-of-use assets) 
and intangible assets during the year. 

e.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us, no proceedings have been initiated during the 
year or are pending against the Company as of March 
31, 2023, for holding any benami property under 
the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as 
amended in 2016) and rules made thereunder.

ii)	 In respect of the Company’s Inventory:

a.	 The inventories were physically verified during the 
year by the Management at reasonable intervals. 
In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the coverage and procedure 
of such verification by the Management is appropriate 

having regard to the size of the Company and the 
nature of its operations. No discrepancies of 10% or 
more in the aggregate for each class of inventories were 
noticed on such physical verification of inventories 
when compared with books of account. 

b.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has been sanctioned working 
capital limits in excess of Rs. 5 crores, in the aggregate, 
from banks, on the basis of security of current assets. 
In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the quarterly cash flow 
statements filed by the Company with banks are in 
agreement with the unaudited books of account of the 
Company for the respective quarters.

iii)	 In respect of the Company’s Loans, Investments, guarantee 
or security, etc.

	 Based on the books of account examined by us and 
according to information and explanation given to us, the 
Company has granted unsecured loans during the year to 
the following persons, in respect of which: 

a.	 The Company has provided a loan and guarantee, 
during the year, details of which are given below:

Particulars Loans Advanced 
in nature 
of Loan

Guarantee Security

A. Aggregate amount granted/provided during the 
year:
Subsidiary 
Company

INR 155 
Lakhs

Nil INR 1,000 
Lakhs

Nil

B. Balance outstanding as at balance sheet date in 
respect of above cases::
Subsidiary 
Company*

INR 20 
Lakhs

Nil INR 2,500 
Lakhs

Nil

* The amounts reported are gross amounts.

	 The Company has not provided any advance in nature 
of loan or security to any other entity during the year.

b.	 In our opinion, the terms and conditions of the grant 
of all the above-mentioned loans, during the year are, 
prima facie, not prejudicial to the Company’s interest.

c.	 The Company has granted loans to the subsidiary which 
are payable on demand. During the year, the subsidiary 
company has repaid eighty-five per cent of the loan 
amount and the balance outstanding will also be repaid 
on demand. Having regard to the fact that the balance 
outstanding of the loan has not been demanded by the 
Company, in our opinion the repayments of principal 
amounts and receipts of interest are regular.

d.	 According to information and explanations given to 
us and based on the audit procedures performed, 
in respect of loans granted by the Company, there is 
no overdue amount remaining outstanding as of the 
balance sheet date.

e.	 No loan granted by the Company which has fallen due 
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during the year, has been renewed or extended or 
fresh loans granted to settle the overdue of existing 
loans given to the same parties. 

f.	 According to information and explanations given to 
us and based on the audit procedures performed, the 
Company has granted loans which are repayable on 
demand, details of which are given below:

(Amount in ` lakhs)

Particulars All 
Parties*

Promoters* Related 
Parties*

Aggregate of loans (as 
at March 31, 2023)

- Repayable on demand 
(A)

20.00 0 20.00

- Agreement does not 
specify any terms or 
period of repayment (B)

0 0 0

Total (A+B) 20.00 0 20.00

Percentage of loans/
advances in nature of 
loans to the total loans

19.25% 19.25%

* The amounts reported are gross amounts, without 
considering provisions made.

iv)	 Compliance with sections 185 and 186

	 The Company has complied with the provisions of Sections 
185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of loans 
granted, investments made and guarantees and securities 
provided, as applicable.

v)	 Public Deposits

	 The Company has not accepted any deposits from the 
public or amounts which are deemed to be deposited 
within the provisions of Sections 73 to 76 or any other 
relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2013 and the 
Rules framed thereunder. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

vi)	 Cost Records

	 The maintenance of cost records has been specified by 
the Central Government under section 148(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. We have broadly reviewed the 
books of account maintained by the Company in respect of 
Health services, namely functioning as or running hospitals 
pursuant to the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 
2014, as amended, prescribed by the Central Government 
for maintenance of cost records section 148(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and are of the opinion that, prima 
facie, the prescribed cost records have been made and 
maintained. We have not, however, made a detailed 
examination of the records with a view to determine 
whether they are accurate or complete.

vii)	 In respect of Statutory Dues

a.	 Undisputed statutory dues, including Goods and 
Service Tax, Provident Fund, Employees’ State 
Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, duty of Custom, duty 
of Excise, Value Added Tax, cess and other material 
statutory dues applicable to the Company have been 
generally deposited regularly by it with the appropriate 
authorities. 

	 There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect 
of Goods and Service tax, Provident Fund, Employees’ 
State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, 
duty of Custom, duty of Excise, Value Added Tax, cess 
and other material statutory dues in arrears as at 
March 31, 2023, for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

b.	 According to the information and explanations given to 
us and the records of the Company examined by us, 
there are no statutory dues referred in sub-clause (a) 
above, which have not been deposited on account of 
any dispute as on March 31, 2023.

viii)	Undisclosed Income

	 According to the information and explanations given to 
us and the records of the Company examined by us, there 
were no transactions relating to previously unrecorded 
income that were surrendered or disclosed as income in 
the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 
1961) during the year.

ix)	 Borrowings

a.	 In our opinion, the Company has not defaulted in 
the repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the 
payment of interest thereon to any lender during the 
year. 

b.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has not been declared a willful 
defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
government or any government authority.

c.	 The Company has not taken any term loan during the 
year and there are no unutilised term loans at the 
beginning of the year, hence, reporting under clause 
(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

d.	 On an overall examination of the financial statements 
of the Company, funds raised on a short-term basis 
have, prima facie, not been used during the year for 
long-term purposes by the Company.

e.	 The Company has not made any investment in or given 
any new loan or advances to any of its subsidiaries, 
associates or joint ventures during the year and hence, 
reporting under clause (ix)(e) of the Order is not 
applicable.

f.	 The Company has not raised loans during the year 
on the pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries or 
joint ventures or associate companies, hence reporting 
under clause (ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable.
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x)	 Issue of securities

a.	 The Company did not raise any money by way of initial 
public offer or further public offer (including debt 
instruments) during the year. Accordingly, clause 3 (x) 
of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

b.	 During the year the Company has not made any 
preferential allotment or private placement of shares 
or convertible debentures (fully or partly or optionally) 
and hence reporting under clause (x)(b) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

xi)	 Fraud

a.	 To the best of our knowledge and information and 
explanations given by the management, we report that 
no fraud by the Company and no material fraud on the 
Company has been noticed or reported during the year.

b.	 To the best of our knowledge, no report under sub-
section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act has 
been filed in Form ADT-4 (as prescribed) under rule 13 
of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with 
the Central Government, during the year and up to the 
date of this report. 

c.	 As represented to us by the Management, there were 
no whistleblower complaints received by the Company 
during the year.

xii)	 Nidhi Company

	 The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting 
under clause (xii) of the Order is not applicable. 

xiii)	Related parties

	 In our opinion, the Company is in compliance with sections 
177 and 188 of the Companies Act, where applicable, for 
all transactions with the related parties and the details 
of related party transactions have been disclosed in the 
financial statements etc. as required by the applicable 
accounting standards.

xiv)	Internal Audit

a.	 In our opinion the Company has an adequate internal 
audit system commensurate with the size and the 
nature of its business. 

b.	 We have considered, the internal audit reports issued 
to the Company during the year and to date, in 
determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedure. 

xv)	 Non-cash transactions

	 In our opinion, during the year the Company has not 
entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or 
persons connected with its directors and hence provisions 
of section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not 
applicable to the Company.

xvi)	Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934

a.	 The Company is not required to be registered under 
section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 
Hence, reporting under clauses (xvi)(a), (b), and (c) of 
the Order is not applicable.

b.	 The Group does not have any CIC as part of the group 
and accordingly reporting under clause (xvi)(d) of the 
Order is not applicable.

xvii)	Cash loss

	 The Company has not incurred cash losses during the 
financial year covered by our audit and the immediately 
preceding financial year.

xviii)	Resignation of statutory auditors

	 There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors of 
the Company during the year. Accordingly reporting under 
clause (xiii) of the Order is not applicable.

xix)	Ability to pay liabilities

	 On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected 
dates of realization of financial assets and payment of 
financial liabilities, other information accompanying the 
financial statements and our knowledge of the Board 
of Directors and Management plans and based on our 
examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, 
nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to 
believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of 
the audit report indicating that the Company is not capable 
of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of the balance 
sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year 
from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is 
not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. 
We further state that our reporting is based on the facts 
up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any 
guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due 
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, 
will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall 
due.

xx)	 CSR unspent amount

	 The Company has fully spent the required amount towards 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and there are no 
unspent CSR amounts for the year requiring a transfer to 
a Fund specified in Schedule VII to the Companies Act or 
special account in compliance with the provision of sub-
section (6) of section 135 of the said Act. Accordingly, 
reporting under clause (xx) of the Order is not applicable 
for the year.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
	 Chartered Accountants
	 (Firm Registration No.: 006711N/ N500028)

Place of Signature: Noida	 Neena Goel 
Dated: May 5, 2023	 Partner
UDIN: 23057986BGVLGQ8637	 Membership No. 057986
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2023
(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note 
No.

 As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2.1  49,409.56  41,748.92 

Capital work-in-progress 2.2  9,468.03  6,211.02 

Right-of-use assets 2.3  4,057.77  1,461.36 

Goodwill 2.4  4,162.07  4,162.07 

Other Intangible assets 2.5  745.23  232.75 

Intangible assets under development 2.6  -  194.02 

Financial assets

i.    Investments 3.1  1,170.00  559.00 

ii.   Loans 3.2  59.90  27.57 

iii.  Other financial assets 3.3  422.23  311.10 

Non-current tax assets (Net) 4  2,468.36  2,091.48 

Other non-current assets 5  397.69  478.28 

Total non-current assets A  72,360.84  57,477.57 

Current assets

Inventories 6  1,274.88  1,174.79 

Financial assets

i.    Trade receivables 7  8,480.82  6,963.50 

ii.   Cash and cash equivalents 8  2,166.61  1,511.44 

iii.  Bank balances other than (ii) above 9  2,666.34  1,199.91 

iv.  Loans 3.2  103.90  78.42 

v.   Other financial assets 3.3  697.89  651.86 

Other current assets 5  432.08  682.91 

Total current assets B  15,822.52  12,262.83 

Total Assets C = A + B  88,183.36  69,740.40 

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Equity share capital 10  1,341.19  1,323.77 

Other equity 11  39,300.87  34,837.43 

Total equity D  40,642.06  36,161.20 

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities

i.  Borrowings 12  19,825.78  15,257.31 

ii. Lease Liabilities  3,936.67  1,495.57 

Provisions 13  882.10  820.30 

Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 14  3,136.25  2,697.70 

Total non-current liabilities E  27,780.80  20,270.88 
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(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note 
No.

 As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities

i.    Borrowings 15  2,562.28  2,018.09 

ii.   Lease Liabilities  495.80  268.31 

iii.  Trade payables

(a) Total Outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and  
      Small Enterprises

16  1,171.65  1,289.52 

(b) Total Outstanding dues of Creditors other than  
      Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises

16  7,142.89  4,503.12 

iv.  Other financial liabilities 17  4,321.81  1,812.38 

Other current liabilities 18  2,941.00  2,364.24 

Provisions 13  1,125.07  1,052.66 

Total current liabilities F  19,760.50  13,308.32 

Total liabilities G = E + F  47,541.30  33,579.20 

Total equity and liabilities H = D + G  88,183.36  69,740.40 

Significant accounting policies 1
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements 2 to 46

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2023
(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note No.  Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

Income 
 Revenue from Operations 19  71,433.11  54,478.40 
 Other Income 20  713.36  388.47 

 Total income ( I )  72,146.47  54,866.87 
Expenses 
 Operative Expenses 21  44,546.60  33,537.48 
 Purchases of Stock in Trade -  0.36  9.65 
 Changes in inventories of Stock in Trade 22  (0.36)  13.38 
 Employee benefits expense 23  11,670.59  10,219.95 
 Finance costs 24  1,858.81  1,116.61 
 Depreciation and other amortization expense 25  2,946.57  2,108.20 
 Other expenses 26  5,837.60  3,980.71 

 Total expenses ( II )  66,860.17  50,985.98 
 Profit before exceptional items and tax III = ( I - II )  5,286.30  3,880.89 
 Exceptional Items IV  -  - 
 Profit before tax V = ( III + IV )  5,286.30  3,880.89 
 Tax Expense 27
 Current Tax  916.55  824.52 
 Earlier Year Tax  (69.77)  (55.13)
 Deferred Tax Charge / (Credit)  471.02  (146.24)
 Total Tax Expense ( VI )  1,317.80  623.15 
 Profit after tax for the year VII = ( V - VI )  3,968.50  3,257.74 
 Other comprehensive income 

 Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
 Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans (refer note 35) ( VIII )  59.43  (117.64)
 Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 
 to profit or loss ( IX )  (14.96)  29.61 
 Deferred Tax adjustment on revaluation that will not be reclassified 
 to profit or loss ( X )  47.44  54.22 

 Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to 
 profit or loss in subsequent periods: 

XI = (VIII + IX 
+ X)

 91.91  (33.81)

 Total comprehensive income for the year  XII = (VII + XI)  4,060.41  3,223.92 
 Earning Per Equity Share (Face Value of Re. 1/- each) 
 - Basic (`) 34  2.98  2.46 
 - Diluted (`)  2.86  2.34 
 Significant accounting policies 1
 See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements 2 to 46

As per our report of even date attached
For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2023
(` in Lacs)

Particulars    Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax  5,286.30  3,880.90 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization expense  2,946.57  2,108.20 

Interest Income  (275.21)  (146.86)

Finance Cost  1,616.93  856.19 

Employee Cost towards Stock Based Payments  403.05  775.26 

Unclaimed Credit balances / provisions no longer required written back  (87.98)  (82.87)

Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  122.21  (103.69)

Bad Debts Written Off  60.95  113.04 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain (net)  (18.26)  67.79 

Loss / (Gain) on Sale / Scrap of Property, Plant and Equipment (Net)  (124.17)  46.57 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes  9,930.39  7,514.53 

Adjustments for Changes in Working Capital

- (Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables  (1,682.23)  (1,743.29)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in inventories  (100.08)  (248.13)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets (Current)  (46.03)  (122.75)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets (Non - Current)  (92.87)  (76.27)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in other Current Assets  250.83  196.13 

- (Increase)/ Decrease in Other Non Current Assets  (897.96)  749.89 

- Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables  2,609.87  289.69 

- Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (Current)  72.42  34.75 

- Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (Non - Current)  121.22  44.59 

- Increase / (Decrease) in Other current liabilities (Current)  576.76  504.66 

- Increase / (Decrease) in Other financial liabilities (Current)  2,438.18  556.11 

Cash generated from operations  13,180.49  7,699.91 

Income tax refund / (paid)  (245.13)  (1,633.08)

Net cash generated from operating activities  ( A )  12,935.37  6,066.83 

Cash flow from investing activity

Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment / CWIP  (13,586.62)  (10,653.95)

Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant & Equipment  153.68  44.70 

Maturity / (investments) of / in fixed deposits having original maturity 
of more than 3 months

 (1,466.43)  (4.13)

Investment made in subsidiary  (611.00)  (130.00)

Interest received  256.94  133.77 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  ( B )  (15,253.43)  (10,609.61)

Cash flow from financing activity

Proceeds from non current borrowings  7,246.50  7,799.55 

Repayment of non current borrowings  (2,133.85)  (2,295.22)
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(` in Lacs)

Particulars    Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

Proceeds from issuance of Equity Share Capital (ESOP)  17.42  - 

Payment of lease liabilities - Principal amount  (269.07)  (164.26)

Payment of lease liabilities - Interest amount  (288.63)  (170.41)

Loans and Advances given  (57.81)  4.34 

Interest paid  (1,541.33)  (808.63)

Net cash generated from financing activities  ( C )  2,973.23  4,365.37 

Net increase in cash & cash equivalents  ( A + B + C )  655.17  (177.41)

Cash & cash equivalents as the beginning of the year  1,511.44  1,688.85 

Cash & cash equivalents as the end of the year  Total  2,166.61  1,511.44 

Components of cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand  80.02  67.87 

Balances with Banks:

 On current accounts  601.59  1,443.57 

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity of

 3 months or less  1,485.00  - 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents ( Refer Note 8 )  Total  2,166.61  1,511.44 

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
I	

( A ) Equity Share Capital (` in Lacs)

Particulars Note No Amount

Balance as at 31st March, 2021 10  1,323.77 

Change in equity share capital during the year  - 

Balance as at 31st March, 2022 10  1,323.77 

Change in equity share capital during the year  17.42 

Balance as at 31st March, 2023 10  1,341.19 

II   Other Equity	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars Note

Reserves and Surplus Share 
option 

outstanding 
account

Items of OCI

TotalCapital 
Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Remeasurements 
of the net defined 

benefit plans

Balance as at 31st March, 2021 11 14,457.89  6,638.97  -     9,830.59  -     (89.21)  30,838.24 

Profit / (Loss) for the year 11  -    -    -    3,257.74  -    -    3,257.74 

Deferred tax adjustment on revaluation 11  -    54.22  -    -    -    -    54.22 

Share option outstanding account 11  -    -    -    -    775.26  -    775.26 

Other comprehensive income (OCI) (net of tax) 11  -    -    -    -    -    (88.03)  (88.03)

Balance as at 31st March, 2022 11 14,457.89  6,693.18  -    13,088.33  775.26  (177.24)  34,837.43 

Profit / (Loss) for the year 11  -    -    -    3,968.50  -    -    3,968.50 

Deferred tax adjustment on revaluation 11  -    47.44  -    -    -    -    47.44 

Share option outstanding account 11  -    -    372.21  -    30.84  -    403.05 

Other comprehensive income (OCI) (net of tax) 11  -    -    -    -    -    44.47  44.47 

Balance as at 31st March, 2023 11 14,457.89  6,740.62  372.21 17,056.83  806.10  (132.77)  39,300.87 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements	                                  2 to 46

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023
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Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March, 2023
Note No.

1.1	 Corporate information

	 Artemis Medicare Services Limited (“The Company”) was incorporated on May 18, 2004. The Company is engaged in the 
business of managing and operating of multi specialty hospitals and commenced its commercial operation by setting up 
Artemis Hospital (formerly Artemis Health Institute) at Gurugram on July 16, 2007.

1.2	 Basis of preparation

a)	 Statement of compliance

	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance of Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under 
section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) read together with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, as amended.

b)	 Presentation of Financial Statements

	 The  Statement of Assets and Liabilities and the  Statement of Profit and Loss are prepared and presented in the format 
prescribed in the Division II of Schedule III to the Act. The  Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared and presented 
as per the requirements of Ind AS 7, Statement of Cash flows. The disclosure requirements with respect to items in the  
Statement of Assets and Liabilities  and  Statement of Profit and Loss, as prescribed in the Schedule III to the Act, are 
presented by way of notes forming part of the financial statements along with the other notes required to be disclosed 
under the notified Ind AS and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended.

	 Functional Currency

	 These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees in Lacs rounded off to two Decimal places as permitted by 
Schedule III to the Act. Per share data are presented in Indian Rupees to two Decimals places.

c)	 Classification of Current / Non-Current Assets and Liabilities

	 All the assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle 
and other criteria set out in the Schedule III to the Act.

	 Assets

	 An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

i) 	 it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii) 	 it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; 

iii) 	 it is expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting date; or 

iv) 	 it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting date.

	 Liabilities

	 A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

i) 	 it is expected to be settled in the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii) 	 it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; 

iii) 	 it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting date; or 

iv) 	 the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 
the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

	 All other assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current. Based on the nature of the products and services, the Company 
has ascertained its operating cycle as twelve months for the purpose of Current / Non-current classification of assets and 
liabilities.
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d)	 Basis of Accounting

	 The Company maintains accounts on accrual basis following the historical cost convention, except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value or amortised cost at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies below.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

	 Fair value measurements under Ind AS are categorised as below based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety:

i. 	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company 
can access at measurement date;

ii. 	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included in level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

iii. 	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the valuation of assets/liabilities

1.3	 Key estimates and assumptions

	 The preparation of  Financial Information in accordance with Ind AS requires use of estimates and assumptions for some 
items, which might have an effect on their recognition and measurement in the (i)  Statement of Assets and Liabilities  and (ii)  
Statement of Profit and Loss. The actual amounts realised may differ from these estimates.	

	 The estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the  Financial Information are continuously evaluated by the 
Company and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of future 
events) that the Company believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. Differences between actual results and 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the results are known/ materialised.

	 The said estimates are based on the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or that occurred after that date 
but provide additional evidence about conditions existing as at the reporting date.

	 This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which 
are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be different than those originally 
assessed.

	 Estimates and assumptions are required in particular for:

	 i.	 Determination of the estimated useful lives of tangible assets

	 Useful lives of tangible assets are based on the life prescribed in Schedule II to the Act. In cases, where the useful lives 
are different from that prescribed in Schedule II to the Act, they are based on technical advice, taking into account the 
nature of the asset, the estimated usage of the asset, the operating conditions of the asset, past history of replacement, 
anticipated technological changes, manufacturers’ warranties and maintenance support. 

ii. 	 Recognition and measurement of defined benefit obligations 

	 The obligation arising from defined benefit plan is determined on the basis of actuarial assumptions. Key actuarial 
assumptions include discount rate, trends in salary escalation, actuarial rates and life expectancy. The discount rate 
is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds. The period to 
maturity of the underlying bonds correspond to the probable maturity of the post-employment benefit obligations.

iii. 	 Recognition of deferred tax

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax base, and unutilized business loss and depreciation carry-
forwards and tax credits. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, depreciation carry-forwards and 
unused tax credits could be utilized.

iv. 	 Recognition and measurement of other provisions

	 The recognition and measurement of other provisions are based on the assessment of the probability of an outflow of 
resources, and on past experience and circumstances known at the  Statement of Assets and Liabilities  date. The actual 
outflow of resources at a future date may therefore vary from the amount included in other provisions.
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v. 	 Recoverability of trade receivable

	 Judgements are required in assessing the recoverability of overdue trade receivables and determining whether a 
provision against those receivables is required. Factors considered include the credit rating of the counterparty, the 
amount and timing of anticipated future payments and any possible actions that can be taken to mitigate the risk of 
non-payment.	

1.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies

a) 	 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)	

	 Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost (or revalued amounts, as the case may be), less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss, if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the property, plant 
and equipment to its working condition for its intended use. Borrowing costs relating to acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment which takes substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent 
they relate to the period till such property, plant and equipment are ready to be put to use.

	 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the case price equivalent at the recognition date. If payment 
is deferred beyond normal credit terms, the difference between the cash price equivalent and the total payment is 
recognised as interest over the period of credit, unless such interest is capitalised as per borrowing cost.	

	 The Company identifies and determines separate useful life of each major component of the property, plant and 
equipment, if they have useful life that is materially different from that of the remaining asset, as per Schedule II of 
Companies Act, 2013.

b)	 Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)

	 Depreciation on all of the property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight line method at the rates prescribed 
by Schedule II of the Companies  Act,  2013  and  /  or  useful  life  estimated  by  management  supported  by  technical  
valuer’s  independent  assessment.  The management believes that depreciation rates currently used fairly reflect its 
estimates of the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment.

	 Depreciation commences when the PPE are ready for their intended use. Depreciation on all PPE except land are provided 
on a straight line based on the estimated useful life of PPE, which is as follows:

Assets

Useful Life of 
property, plant 
and equipment 
as per Schedule II

Useful Life of property, 
plant and equipment 
as per Management 

supported by Technical 
Valuer’s Estimate

Buildings :    
 - with RCC 60 Years  

 - Temporary Structure (Porta Cabin)   30 Years
 - Tubewell / Borewell 5 Years  

Plant & Machinery :    
 - Electric Medical Equipments 13 Years  

 - Other Medical Equipments 15 Years  
 - Other Plant & Machinery 15 Years  

 - Loose Tools & Instruments   5 Years
Office Equipments 5 Years  
Computers & Data Processing Units    

 - Desktop & Laptops 3 Years  
 - Servers & Network 6 Years  

Vehicles 8 Years  
Furnitures & Fittings 10 Years  
Electrical Installations & Equipments 10 Years  
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	 Leasehold Improvements including renovation done on shared facilities have been depreciated as per the useful life 
ascertained or over the primary period of lease / contract, whichever is shorter.

c)	 Intangible Assets

	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

	 Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of other consideration given to acquire an asset 
at the time of its acquisition or construction, or, when applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the specific requirements of other Indian Accounting Standards.

	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.	

	 Goodwill is tested for impairment on annual basis and impairment is carried out whenever there is an indication that 
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount based on a number of factors including business plan, operating 
results, future cash flows and economic conditions. The recoverable amount is determined based on higher of value in 
use and fair value. The company carried out goodwill impairment test and the management does not believe, that it was 
more likely than not the fair value of any of the reporting units was less than the carrying amount.

	 Software

	 Cost of software is amortized over a period of 6 years, being the estimated useful life as per the management estimates.

d)	 Borrowing Cost

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an property, plant and equipment 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the 
cost of the respective property, plant and equipment. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

e)	 Impairment

	 At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication based on internal/ external factors that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any  such  indication exists,  the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of assets those are cash-generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

	 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.	

	 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and 
loss.
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f)	 Leases

	 Where the Company is the lessee

	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for land and buildings. The Company assesses whether a 
contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether:(i) the contract involves the 
use of an identified asset (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through 
the period of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.	

	 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset(“ROU”)and a corresponding 
lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve months or 
less(short-term leases)and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Company recognizes the 
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

	 Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU 
assets and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 

	 The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any 
lease incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term and useful life of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on 
an individual asset basis. 

	 The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the incremental 
borrowing rates. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if the 
Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option. Lease liability and ROU 
asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as financing cost.

	 Where the Company is the lessor

	 Leases for which the Company is a lessor is classified as a finance or operating lease. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. 

	 Assets subject to operating leases are included in PPE. Rental income on operating lease is recognized in the statement 
of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Where the rentals are structured solely to increase in line 
with expected general inflation to compensate for the Company’s expected inflationary cost increases, such increases 
are recognized in the year in which such benefits accrue benefits accrue.

	 Costs, including depreciation, are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised on 
a straight line basis over the lease term.

g)	 Inventories

	 Inventories of Pharmacy Drugs & Other Items, Medical Consumables and the Stores and Spares are valued at lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

	 Traded goods are valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs includes cost of purchase and other costs 
incurred to bring inventories to their present locations and conditions. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

	 Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

h)	 Revenue recognition

	 The Company derives revenue primarily from Healthcare Services through operating of multi-speciality Hospital.
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	 Revenue is measured at the transaction price. Revenue is reduced for returns, trade allowances for deduction, rebates, 
value added taxes and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

	 Sale of Pharmacy Drugs and Medical Supplies including Traded Goods

	 Revenue is recognized as and when Pharmacy Drugs, Medical Supplies and Traded goods are sold. Revenue from the sale 
of Pharmacy Drugs, Medical Supplies and Traded good are recognised when control of the goods has passed to the buyer 
i.e. at the point of sale / to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods. Sale is net of sales returns, discounts and goods & services tax. 	

	 Income from Operations

	 Revenue is recorded when the performance obligations are satisfied.  For outpatient customers services are simultaneously 
received and consumed by the patient. For inpatient customers, revenue is recognized as services are performed over 
the period. Revenue for the ongoing services at the reporting date is recognised as unbilled revenue. The income is 
stated net of discount and price differences, as per terms of contract.	

	 Interest

	 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the applicable 
interest rate.

	 Income from Nursing Hostel

	 Revenue is recognized as per contractual arrangement with nursing staff using the hostel facilities.

	 Income from Lease Rentals & Outsourced Facilities

	 Revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of lease agreements entered into with the respective lessees.

	 Income from Service Export from India Scheme (SEIS)

	 Income from ‘Service Export from India Scheme’ is recognized on accrual basis as and when eligible services are 
performed and convertible foreign exchange is received on a net basis.

	 Income from Clinical Research

	 Income from clinical research is recognised as and when the services are rendered in accordance with the terms of the 
respective agreements.

	 Income from Sponsorships

	 Sponsorship income is recognized when the underlying obligations are completed as per contractual terms.

i)	 Foreign currency transactions

	 In preparing the financial statements, transaction in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency (foreign 
currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

	 At the end of each reporting period 

i)	 Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date,

ii)	 Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.	

iii)	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are not retranslated.	

	 Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they 
arise except exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as adjustment to interest costs on 
those foreign currency borrowings.

j)	 Employees Benefits	

	 Short term employee benefits

	 Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving services are classified as short-term employee 



103

Artemis Medicare Services Ltd.
Annual Report 2022-23

benefits. These benefits include salary and wages, bonus and exgratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee 
benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognized as an expense as the related service is rendered by 
the employees.

	 Post employment benefits

	 Defined contribution plans

	 A defined contribution plan is post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified contributions to 
separate entity and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. The Company makes specified obligations towards 
employee provident fund and employee state insurance (ESI) to Government administered provident fund scheme and 
ESI scheme which is a defined contribution plan. The Company’s contributions are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of profit and loss during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

	 Defined benefit plans

	 The Company’s gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Company’s net obligation in respect of a defined 
benefit plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned and returned for 
services in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The  calculation of 
Company’s  obligation under  the  plan  is  performed periodically by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit 
method.

	 When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past 
service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Compensated absences

	 The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize it in future 
service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. The Company records an obligation for 
such compensated absences in the period in which the employee renders the services that increase this entitlement. 
The obligation is measured on the basis of independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method.

k)	 Income taxes

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

i)	 Current Tax

	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as 
reported in the statement of profit and loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The current tax is calculated using tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.	

	 Current income-tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the 
Income-tax Act, 1961 enacted in India.

ii)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilized.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of assets to be 
recovered.	

	 Deferred tax is measured based on tax rates and tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities.
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iii)	 Current and deferred tax for the year

	 Current and deferred tax are recognized in the statement of profit and loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are 
also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.	

l) 	 Expenditure on new projects

	 Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalized. Indirect expenditure incurred during construction 
period is capitalized as part of the indirect construction cost to the extent to which the expenditure is indirectly related 
to construction or is incidental thereto. Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing costs) incurred during the 
construction period which is not related to the construction activity nor is incidental thereto is charged to the Statement 
of profit and loss.

m)	 Earnings Per share	

	 Basic earnings per share is being calculated by dividing net profit or loss for the year (including prior period items, if any) 
attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares.

n)	 Operating Cycle

	 Based on the nature of products / activities of the Company and the normal time between acquisition of assets and their 
realisation in cash or cash equivalents, the Company has determined its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of 
classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-current.

o)	 Financial Instrument

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.	

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.	

	 All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

	 Classification of financial assets

	 Financial Assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost (except for financial 
assets that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

i)	 the assets is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash 
flows; and	

ii)	 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 Financial Assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (except for financial assets that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

i)	 the assets is held within a business model whose objective is achieved  both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets; and

ii)	 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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	 Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI). For the purposes of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, FVTOCI financial assets are treated 
as financial assets measured at amortised cost. Thus, the exchange differences on the amortised cost are recognised 
in profit or loss and other changes in the fair value of FVTOCI financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of ‘Reserve for financial assets through other comprehensive income’. 
When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in this reserve is reclassified to 
profit or loss.

	 All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.	

	 Effective interest method

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

	 Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at 
FVTPL. Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item.	

	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

	 A financial asset that meets the amortised cost criteria or debt instruments that meet the FVTOCI criteria may be 
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on 
them on different bases. The Company has not designated any debt instrument as at FVTPL.

	 Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses arising 
on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend 
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘Other income’ line item. Dividend on financial assets at 
FVTPL is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the dividends is established, it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the entity, the dividend does not represent a recovery of part of cost 
of the investment and the amount of dividend can be measured reliably.

	 Impairment of financial assets

	 The Company applies the expected credit loss model for recognising impairment loss on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, debt instruments at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables, and other contractual rights to receive 
cash or other financial asset, and financial guarantees not designated as at FVTPL.

	 Expected credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of default occurring as the 
weights. Credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive (i.e. all cash shortfalls), discounted at the original 
effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit impaired financial 
assets). The Company estimates cash flows by considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) through the expected life of that financial instrument.

	 The Company measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on 
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance 
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 12-month expected credit losses 
are portion of the life-time expected credit losses and represent the lifetime cash shortfalls that will result if default 
occurs within the 12 months after the reporting date and thus, are not cash shortfalls that are predicted over the next 
12 months.

	 If the Company measured loss allowance for a financial instrument at lifetime expected credit loss model in the previous 
period, but determines at the end of a reporting period that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition due to improvement in credit quality as compared to the previous period, the Company again measures the 
loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses.

	 When making the assessment of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the 
Company uses the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument instead 
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of the change in the amount of expected credit losses. To make that assessment, the Company compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information, that is available 
without undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition.	

	 For trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions that 
are within the scope of Ind AS 115, the Company always measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses.

	 Further, for the purpose of measuring lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables, the Company has used 
a practical expedient as permitted under Ind AS 109. This expected credit loss allowance is computed based on a provision 
matrix which takes into account historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward looking information.	

	 The impairment requirements for the recognition and measurement of a loss allowance are equally applied to debt 
instruments at FVTOCI except that the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and is not reduced 
from the carrying amount in the balance sheet.

	 Derecognition of financial assets

	 The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received.

	 On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration  received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise 
been recognised in profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset.

	 On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Company retains an option to repurchase 
part of a transferred asset), the Company allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the 
part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the 
relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to 
the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any 
cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit 
or loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise been recognised in profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset. A 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that 
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

	 Foreign exchange gains and losses

	 The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated 
at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. For foreign currency denominated financial assets measured at 
amortised cost and FVTPL, the exchange differences are recognised in statement of profit and loss since there are no 
designated hedging instruments in a hedging relationship.	

	 Financial liabilities

	 All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

	 However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or then 
the continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company, and commitments 
issued by the Company to provide a loan at below-market interest rate are measured in accordance with the specific 
accounting policies set out below.

	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

	 Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either contingent consideration recognised 
by the Company as an acquirer in a business combination to which Ind AS 103 applies or is held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.	
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A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

i) 	 it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

ii) 	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Company manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or	

iii) 	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.	

	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and 
is included in the ‘Other income’ line item.

	 However, for non-held-for-trading financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in 
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised 
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case these effects 
of changes in credit risk are recognised in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is 
always recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reflected immediately in retained earnings and are not subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss.

	 Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Company that are designated by 
the Company as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

	 Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are measured at amortised cost at 
the end of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost are determined based on the effective interest method. Interest expense that is not capitalised as part 
of costs of an asset is included in the ‘Finance costs’ line item.	

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

	 Financial guarantee contracts

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument.	

	 Financial guarantee contracts issued by a Company entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated 
as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:	

i) 	 the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and	

ii) 	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance 
with the principles of Ind AS 115.

	 Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate

	 Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:	

i) 	 the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and	

ii) 	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance 
with the principles of Ind AS115.

	 Foreign exchange gains and losses

	 For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each 
reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the instruments 
and are recognised in ‘Other income’.
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	 The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL, the 
foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Derecognition of financial liabilities

	 The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or have expired. An exchange between with a lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms is accounted 
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, 
a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability (whether or not attributable to the financial 
difficulty of the debtor) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of 
a new financial liability. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration  paid and payable is recognised in statement of profit and loss.

p) 	 Provisions & Contingencies

	 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). When some or all of the economic 
benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an 
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

q) 	 Contingent Liabilities

	 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more of uncertain future events beyond the control of Company or a present obligation 
that is not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the an obligation. 
A contingent liability also arises in the extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognized because 
it cannot be measured reliably its existence in the standalone financial statements. Company does not recognize the 
contingent liability but disclosed its existence in standalone financial statements.

r) 	 Government Grants

	 Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and such grants can reasonably have a value placed upon them.

	 Government grants are recognised in statement of profit and loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Company recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

s) 	 Cash and Cash Equivalents	

	 Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of cash flow statement are comprise of cash at bank and cash in hand and 
short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities in the balance sheet and forms part of financing activities in the cash flow statement. Book overdraft 
are shown within other financial liabilities in the balance sheet and forms part of operating activities in the cash flow 
statement.

t) 	 Recent pronouncements

	 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standard or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, applicable from April 1, 2023, as below:

i)	 Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

	 This amendment requires the entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant 
accounting policies. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after 
April 1, 2023. The Company has evaluated the amendment and the impact of the amendment is insignificant in the  
financial statements.
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ii)	 Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

	 This amendment has introduced a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included amendments to Ind AS 8 to 
help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The effective date for 
adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Company has evaluated the 
amendment and there is no impact on its financial statements.

iii)	 Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes

	 This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions 
that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is 
annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Company has evaluated the amendment and there is no 
impact on its financial statement.

	 Balance Sheet:

-	 Lease Liabilities should be separately disclosed under the head “financial liabilities”, duly distinguished as 
current or non-current.

-	 Certain additional disclosures in the statement of changes in equity such as changes in equity share capital due 
to prior period rectifications and  balances at the beginning of the current reporting period.

-	 Specified format for disclosure of shareholding of promoters.

-	 Specified format for ageing schedule of trade receivables, trade payables, capital work-in-progress and 
intangible assets under development.

-	 If a Company has not used funds for the specific purpose for which it was borrowed from banks and financial 
institutions, then disclosure of details of where it has been used.

-	 Specific disclosure under ‘additional regulatory requirement’ such as compliance with approved schemes of 
arrangements, compliance with number of layers of companies, title deeds of immovable property not held 
in name of the Company, loans and advances to promoters, directors, key managerial personnel (KMP) and 
related parties, details of benami property held etc.

-	 Current maturities of Long term borrowings shall be disclosed separately under the Short Term Borrowing 
(Current) which was earlier shown under Other Financial Liabilities.

-	 Classification of Security Deposits has been reclassed from Loans to Other Financial Assets (Current and non-
Current).

	 Statement of Profit and Loss:

-	 Additional disclosures relating to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), undisclosed income and crypto or 
virtual currency specified under the head ‘additional information’ in the notes forming part of the financial 
statements.

	 The amendments are extensive and the Company will evaluate the same to give effect to them as required by law.
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Note No. 2.2
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS			   (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  6,211.02  8,100.53 

Addition during the year  13,544.30  10,733.13 

Capitalised during the year  10,287.29  12,622.64 

Closing Balance  9,468.03  6,211.02 

(i)	 CWIP ageing schedule as at 31st March, 2023	 	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 
 Amount in CWIP for a period of 

 Total  Less than 1 
year  1- 2 years  2-3 

years
 More than 3 

years

Projects in progress  8,700.00  768.03  -     -     9,468.03 

Projects temporarily suspended #  -     -     -     -     -   

Total  8,700.00  768.03  -     -     9,468.03 

(ii) 	 CWIP aging schedule as at 31st March, 2022	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars
 Amount in CWIP for a period of 

 Total  Less than 1 
year  1- 2 years  2-3 

years
 More than 3 

years

Projects in progress  5,492.75  585.41  73.02  59.84  6,211.02 

Projects temporarily suspended #  -     -     -     -     -   

Total  5,492.75  585.41  73.02  59.84  6,211.02 

	 # No Projects have been temporarily suspended.

(iii) 	Capitalisation of Expenditure :	
	 During the year, the Company has capitalised the following expenses to the cost of property, plant and equipment/capital 

work in progress (CWIP). Consequently, expenses disclosed under the respective notes are net of the amount capitalised by 
the Company.

(` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Borrowing Cost  228.89  469.85 
Professional consultancy Fees  45.63  22.48 
Other directly attributable expenses  138.68  82.21 
Closing Balance  413.20  574.54 

Note No. 2.3
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
The Company has taken land and building on operating lease, the details of which are given below:		  (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  1,461.36  1,718.06 

Addition during the year  3,026.82 -

Deletion during the year  -  - 

Depreciation  430.40  256.70 

Closing Balance  4,057.77  1,461.36 
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Note No. 2.4
GOODWILL	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  4,162.07  4,162.07 
Addition during the year  -  - 
Impairment during the year  -  - 
Closing Balance  4,162.07  4,162.07 

Impairment testing
For the purpose of annual impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the operating segments expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the business combinations in which the goodwill arises as set out below, and is compared to its recoverable value:

Goodwill allocated to operating segments	 	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Health Care Services  4,162.07  4,162.07 
 4,162.07  4,162.07 

Goodwill impairments note
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or sooner whenever there is an indication that goodwill may be impaired. Impairment 
is recognized, when the carrying amount of a CGU including the goodwill, exceeds the estimated recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit (‘CGU’). The estimated value-in-use of this CGU is based on the future cash flow forecasts, based on certain 
assumptions which include revenue growth, earnings before interest and taxes, taxes, capital outflow and working capital 
requirement. Cash flow projections were developed covering a seven-year period as of March 31, 2023, and March 31, 2022, 
which reflects a more appropriate indication/trend of the future track of business of the Company. The assumptions are taken 
based on past trends and management estimates and judgement. Future cash flows are discounted with “Weighted Average Cost 
of Capital”. The key assumptions are as follows:
Annual growth rate considered for 10 years (average)	 6.40%	
Terminal growth rate (i)	 5.00%
Cost of Capital (Wacc) (ii)	 14.81%
Budgeted EBIDTA growth rate considered	 1.19%
(i) 	 (i) Terminal value has been arrived at by extrapolating the last forecasted year cash flows to perpetuity. This long-term growth 

rate takes into consideration external macroeconomic sources of data. Such long-term growth rate considered does not 
exceed that of the relevant business and industry sector.

(ii)	 (ii) The discount rate, which is applied to the net free cash flows of the whole entity, should reflect the opportunity cost to 
all capital providers (namely, shareholders, internal funding provided by the Company, and debt), weighted by their relative 
contribution to the total capital of the Company. This is commonly referred to as the weighted average cost of capital (WACC).

The estimate of recoverable amount is particularly sensitive towards post-tax discount rate and terminal growth rate. There will 
be no impairment even if the weighted average cost of capital is increased by 0.5% and the terminal growth rate is decreased by 
0.5%. Management is not currently aware of any other reasonably possible changes to key assumptions that would cause a unit’s 
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Note No. 2.5
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS			   (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

COST OR DEEMED COST Computer Software Computer Software
Opening Balance  677.74  645.47 
Addition during the year  677.68  32.27 
Deletion during the year  -  - 
Closing Balance  1,355.42  677.74 
AMORTIZATION
Opening Balance  444.99  376.77 
Addition during the year  165.20  68.23 
Deletion during the year  -  - 
Closing Balance  610.20  444.99 
NET BOOK VALUE  745.23  232.75 
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Note No. 2.6	 	 	
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT	 			   (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  194.02  - 

Addition during the year  237.96  194.02 

Capitalised during the year  431.98  - 

Closing Balance  -     194.02 

Other Intangible assets under development ageing schedule as at 31st March, 2023	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars
 

 Amount for a period of 

 Total  Less than 
1 year  1- 2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 

years 

Other Intangible assets under development  -     -     -     -     -   

Total  -     -     -     -     -   

Other Intangible assets under development ageing schedule as at 31st March, 2022	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 

 Amount for a period of 

 Total  Less than 
1 year  1- 2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 

years 

Other Intangible assets under development  194.02  -     -     -     194.02 

Total  194.02  -     -     -     194.02 

(` in Lacs)
Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022
Financial Assets

3.1 Note No. 3.1 Investments (Non-Current)
Unquoted Investments
Investment in Equity Instruments (at cost)
Investment in Subsidiary Company
i) Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  1,170.00  559.00 
1,17,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each
(55,90,000 as at March 31, 2022 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each) (all fully paid)
Total  1,170.00  559.00 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments and market value thereof
Aggregate value of unquoted investment  1,170.00  559.00 

Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022
3.2 Loans

Non Current
(Unsecured, Considered good)
Others
Loans & advances to Employees *  59.90  27.57 
Total  59.90  27.57 
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Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022
Current

(Unsecured, Considered good)
Others
 Loans & advances to Employees *  83.90  78.42 
 Loan to Subsidiary Company **  20.00 0.00
Total  103.90  78.42 
 * Loans & advances to Employees includes dues 25.00 43.00
 from Executive Director, KMP etc. (Refer Note 31)
 (As a part of service condition extended to all its eligible employees)
** Loan to Subsidiary Company, is an unsecured loan which is repayable on demand. The company charges interest @ 
9.25% p.a.
(i)    Disclosure of Loans or advances to specified persons

Disclosures where Loans are granted to the related parties either severally or jointly with any other person, that are 
either repayable on demand; or without specifying any terms or period of repayment.

(` in Lacs)

Particulars

 Amount of loan 
outstanding as 
at March 31, 

2023 

 Percentage to 
the total Loans 

 Amount of loan 
outstanding as at 
March 31, 2022 

 Percentage 
to the total 

Loans 

Related Parties  20.00 19.25%  - 0.00%

 20.00 19.25%  - 0.00%

(` in Lacs)

Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

3.3  Other Financial Assets   

Non Current

Security Deposits  364.48  263.10 

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity and

 remaining maturity of more than 12 months **  57.75  48.00 

 (Refer Note 9)

Total  422.23  311.10 

Current

Interest accrued on fixed deposits  18.27  13.08 

Other receivables#  19.05  66.79 

Unbilled Revenue (Accrued operating income)  660.58  571.99 

Total  697.89  651.86 

** Given as security to secure bank guarantee issued to Government Authorities.

# Receivables from the private limited company, in which director of the company is director.

(Refer Note 31)
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(` in Lacs)

Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

4. Non-current tax assets (Net)

Non Current

Income Tax Recoverable (Net of provision for taxation)  2,468.36  2,091.48 

Total  2,468.36  2,091.48 

(Aggregate amount of Tax Provisions as on 31st March 2023 Rs. 2525.66 Lacs (Previous year Rs. 1609.11 Lacs)

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

5. Other Assets

Non-Current (Unsecured, Considered good)

 Capital Advances  354.22  469.32 

 Prepaid Expenses  43.47  8.96 

Total  397.69  478.28 

Current (Unsecured, Considered good)

 Advances recoverable  53.74  26.80 

 Balances with statutory / government authorities  8.36  14.58 

 Prepaid Expenses  369.98  141.53 

 Export Incentive receivable  -  500.00 

Total  432.08  682.91 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

6. Inventories

(Valued at lower of cost or net realisable value)

Stock of Pharmacy Drugs & Medical Consumables 1,186.04  1,076.67 

Stock in Trade (Pharmacy and Other Items)  0.54  0.18 

Stores & Spares  88.29  97.94 

Total 1,274.88  1,174.79 
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

7. Trade Receivables

Current - at amortised cost

 Considered good  9,216.16  7,570.14 

 Significant increase in Credit Risk  88.49  94.98 

 Credit Impaired  -  - 

 Less: Allowance for credit losses  (823.83)  (701.62)

Total  8,480.82  6,963.50 

7.1 Trade Receivables ageing schedule

Trade Receivable Ageing Schedule as at 31st March 2023                                                                                                (` in Lacs)

Particulars Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not due Less than 
6 Month 

6 months 
-1 year

1-2 
Years

2-3 years More 
than 3 
years

Total 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 1,790.67  4,715.46  1,164.24  989.14  278.09  278.57  9,216.16 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -  -  -  -  -  88.49  88.49 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– credit 
impaired

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables – which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– credit impaired  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  1,790.67  4,715.46  1,164.24  989.14  278.09  367.06  9,304.66 

Trade Receivable Ageing Schedule as at 31st March 2022 ` in Lacs
Particulars Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not due Less than 
6 Month 

6 months 
-1 year

1-2 
Years

2-3 years More 
than 3 
years

Total 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 2,491.30  3,153.34  797.65  511.23  352.08  264.54  7,570.14 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -  -  -  -  -  94.98  94.98 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– credit 
impaired

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables – which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– credit impaired  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total  2,491.30  3,153.34  797.65  511.23  352.08  359.52  7,665.12 
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7.2 Trade Receivables Includes : (` in Lacs)

Particulars  As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

- Dues from KMP’s and Enterprises owned or significantly influenced.  56.88  108.92 

7.3	 As per Ind AS 109, the Company is required to apply expected credit loss model for recognizing the allowance for doubtful 
debts. The Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss on portfolio of its trade receivable. The provision 
matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for 
forward-looking estimates. At regular intervals, the historically observed default rates are updated and changes in forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

	 The Company uses judgements in making certain assumptions and selecting inputs to determine impairment of these trade 
receivables, based on the Company’s historical experience towards potential billing adjustments, delays and defaults at the 
end of each reporting period.

	 The Company has recorded an allowance of Rs. 823.83 Lacs (Previous year Rs. 701.62 Lacs) towards trade receivables. The 
Management believes that there is no further provision required in excess of the allowance for credit loss.

	 The movement in allowance for expected credit loss in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
(` in Lacs)

Allowance for expected credit loss  As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Opening balance 701.62 805.32
Credit loss created /(reversed) 122.21 (103.69)
Closing balance 823.83 701.62

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

8. Cash & Cash Equivalents

Balance with Banks:

 - In Current Accounts  601.59  1,443.57 

 - Bank deposit with original maturity of three 

 months or less.  1,485.00  - 

Cash on hand  80.02  67.87 

Total  2,166.61  1,511.44 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

9. Other Bank Balances

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity of more than

 3 months and remaining maturity of less than 12 months *  2,666.34  1,199.91 

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity of more than

 12 months and remaining maturity of more than 12 months *  57.75  48.00 

 Amount disclosed under Other Non-Current Financial Assets  (57.75)  (48.00)

Total  2,666.34  1,199.91 

* Given as security of Rs. 165.07 Lacs (Previous Year Rs. 148.37 Lacs ) to secure bank guarantee issued to Government Authorities.
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

10. Share Capital:

a. Authorised Shares (in nos.)

69,55,00,000 Equity Shares of Re.1/- Each #  6,955.00  6,955.00 

(69,55,00,000 as at March 31, 2022 Equity Shares of Re. 1/- Each)

11% Non-Cumulative 50,000 Preference Shares of Rs. 100/- Each  50.00  50.00 

(50,000 as at March 31, 2022 Preference Shares of Rs. 100/- Each)    

b. Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up Shares (in nos.)

13,41,18,750 Equity Shares of Re. 1/- Each (Refer Note 43)  1,341.19 1323.77

(13,23,77,000 as at March 31, 2022 Equity Shares of Re. 1/- each fully paid up 
(refer # below)

Total Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up Capital  1,341.19  1,323.77 

c.	 Reconciliation of the equity shares at the beginning and at the end of the year

Reconciliation

 As At 
31st March 2023

As At 
31st March 2022

 Nos. ` in Lacs  Nos. ` in Lacs 

Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year  13,23,77,000  1,323.77  1,32,37,700  1,323.77 

Share Split from face value of Rs 10/- to Re 1/- each equity 
shares (refer # below).

 -  -  11,91,39,300  - 

Share issued under Employee Stock Option Scheme (Refer Note 
43)

 17,41,750  17.42  -  - 

Shares outstanding at the end of the year  13,41,18,750  1,341.19  13,23,77,000  1,323.77 

d.	 Terms/rights attached to Equity Shares	

	 The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Re.1 per share (March 31, 2022 Re. 1 per share). Each 
holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share, where voting is held by show of hands. In case of Poll each holder of 
equity share is entitled to Number of votes against Number of shares held.

	 In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the 
company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares 
held by the equity share holders.

e.	 Shares held by holding / ultimate holding company and / or their subsidiaries / associates:

Name of the Shareholder

 As At 31st March 2023 As At 31st March 2022

No. of 
Shares # ` in Lacs No. of 

Shares # ` in Lacs

Constructive Finance Private Limited - holding company  9,24,25,790  924.26 9,24,25,790  924.26 
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f.	 Details of Shareholders holding more than 5% Equity Shares in the Company:

Name of the Shareholder
 As At 31st March 2023 As At 31st March 2022
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding
Constructive Finance Private Limited - holding company  9,24,25,790 68.91% 9,24,25,790 69.82%
Governor of Kerala  67,49,600 5.03%  67,49,600 5.10%

g.	 Shares reserved for issue under options

	 Pursuant to approved employee stock option scheme 2020, the Company has granted 69,67,000 nos of employees stock 
options of which 17,41,750 options have been exercised during financial year 2023 (Previous year Nil). Also refer Note 45.

h.	 Shares held by promoters :

Name of the Shareholder
 As At 31st March 2023 As At 31st March 2022
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding
Onkar Kanwar  5,000 0.00%  5,000 0.00%
Constructive Finance Private Limited  9,24,25,790 68.91% 9,24,25,790 69.82%
Total  9,24,30,790 68.92% 9,24,30,790 69.82%

i.	 No equity shares were allotted as fully paid up by way of bonus shares or pursuant to contract(s) without payment being 
received in cash during the last five years.

j.	 The Company has not issued any bonus shares in the last five years immediately preceding the balance sheet date. There are 
no securities which are convertible into equity shares.	

k.	 There are no calls unpaid by Directors or Officers of the Company.
l.	 As per the records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/members and other declaration received from the 

shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownership of shares.
	 # The Board of Directors of Artemis Medicare Services Limited (‘Company’) in its meeting held on August 5, 2021, approved  

for sub-division of the face value of the equity shares of the Company from Rs. 10 per equity share to Re. 1 per equity share 
i.e. 1 equity share to be split into 10 equity shares. Subsequent to the approval by the shareholders of the Company,on the 
record date i.e.,September 24, 2021 the sub-division became effective.

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

11. Other Equity :
a. Capital Reserve

Balance as per last financial statements  14,457.89  14,457.89 
Closing Balance  14,457.89  14,457.89 

b. Securities Premium
Balance as per last financial statements  -  - 
Addition during the year  372.21  - 
Closing Balance  372.21  - 

c. Retained earnings
Balance as per last financial statements  13,088.34  9,830.60 
Add : Profit / (Loss) for the year  3,968.50  3,257.74 
Closing Balance  17,056.84  13,088.34 

d. Share option outstanding account
Balance as per last financial statements  775.26  - 
Additions during the years  403.05  775.26 
Deletion during the years  372.21  - 
Closing Balance  806.10  775.26 
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Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

e. Revaluation Reserve

Balance as per last financial statements  6,693.18  6,638.97 

Add : Deferred tax adjustment on revaluation  47.44  54.22 

Closing Balance  6,740.62  6,693.18 

f. Items of OCI re-measurement

Balance as per last financial statements  (177.24)  (89.21)

Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans (refer note 35)  59.43  (117.64)

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified  (14.96)  29.61 

Balance at end of year  (132.77)  (177.24)

Total Other Equity  (a + b + c + d + e + f)  39,300.87  34,837.43 

a.	 Capital Reserve
	 Capital reserve represents excess of assets over liabilities and share issued consequent to scheme of arrangement of 

transferor companies in earlier years.	
b.	 Security Premium
	 Security premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The same is to be utilised in accordance with the 

provision of section 52 of the companies Act 2013
c.	 Retained Earnings
	 Retained earnings represents the profits that the Company has earned till date, less any transfer of general reserve, dividends 

or other distributions to shareholders etc.
d.	 Share option outstanding account
	 The share options outstanding account is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees under 

the Company’s Employee stock option plan. Refer note 43.
e.	 Revaluation Reserve	
	 Revaluation Reserve represents freehold land revalued as on 31st March, 2016 as per independent valuer’s report and related 

deferred tax adjustments.

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

12. Borrowings

Non Current Borrowings

Term Loans

 From Banks

 - Indian Rupee loans from Banks (secured) 
 (at amortised cost)  19,825.78  15,257.31 

Total  19,825.78  15,257.31 

Current Maturity

Term Loans

 From Banks

 - Indian Rupee loans from Banks (secured)  2,562.28  2,018.09 

 (at amortised cost)

Transferred to Current Borrowing (Note 15)  (2,562.28)  (2,018.09)

Total  -  - 
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1.	 Indian Rupee Loans from Banks include :

a)	 Term loans * of Rs.22388.06 Lacs (As at 31st March, 2022 Rs.17270.15 Lacs) from Scheduled Bank carries interest as 
linked with Base Rate of banks.The loans are secured by first pari passu charge over Land & Building located at Sector 
51, Gurgaon, Haryana and charge over all movable fixed assets, both present & future and second pari passu charge on 
current assets.

(` in lacs)

* Term Loans   As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

HDFC Bank Ltd  11,579.86  7,308.63

IDFC Bank Ltd  4,679.68  4,067.33 

Axis Bank Ltd.  5,689.17  5,894.19 

ICICI Bank Ltd.  439.35  - 

Total  22,388.06  17,270.15 

b) 	 Vehicle Loans of Rs. Nil Lacs (As at 31st March, 2022 Rs. 5.24 Lacs) from Scheduled Bank carries interest as linked with 
Banks prime lending rate (PLR). The loan is secured on exclusive charge on the vehicles financed out of the said term 
loan.

	 FY 2022-23	 	 (` in lacs)

Repayment Schedule  FY 2023-24  FY 2024-25  FY 2025-26  FY 2026-27  After  
FY 2026-27 

Secured Loan          

Term Loan - HDFC Bank Limited  1,694.71  1,270.23  1,556.76  1,765.12  5,369.95 

Term Loan - Axis Bank Limited  318.41  539.39  719.19  839.05  3,356.22 

Term Loan - IDFC First Bank Limited  586.06  716.98  804.26  843.21  1,745.56 

Term Loan - ICICI Bank Limited  -  13.35  26.71  40.06  365.02 

Processing Cost IND-AS adjustments  (36.90)  (36.34)  (33.26)  (29.02)  (46.65)

Total  2,562.28  2,503.61  3,073.66  3,458.42  10,790.09 

	 FY 2021-22	 	 (` in lacs)

Repayment Schedule  FY 2022-23  FY 2023-24  FY 2024-25  FY 2025-26  After  
FY 2025-26 

Secured Loan          

Term Loan - HDFC Bank Limited  1,580.09  1,130.08  558.60  698.14  3,434.49 

Term Loan - Axis Bank Limited  179.80  359.59  539.39  719.19  4,195.27 

Term Loan - IDFC First Bank Limited  252.96  500.26  602.58  670.79  2,054.92 

Vehicle Loan - HDFC Bank Limited  5.24  -  -  -  - 

Processing Cost IND-AS adjustments  (34.55)  (34.98)  (34.42)  (31.45)  (70.60)

Total  1,983.54  1,954.97  1,666.15  2,056.67  9,614.08 
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(` in lacs)

Note
No. Particulars

 As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Non-Current Current Non-Current Current

13. Provisions

Provision for Employee Benefits

Leave Benefits  224.03  109.65  216.22  109.58 

Gratuity  658.06  252.81  604.08  272.31 

(Refer Note 35)

Other Provisions

Provision for Contingencies  -  762.62  -  670.77 

(Refer Note 41)

Total  882.10  1,125.07  820.30  1,052.66 

(` in lacs)

14. Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to :
As at  

1st April  
2021

Credit / 
(Charge) 

to Profit or 
loss

Credit / (Charge) 
to Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

As at 31st 
March 2022

Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) (Net)

The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets / 
liabilities Recognised in profit and loss account and 
other comprehensive income

Property, plant and equipment  
(including intangible assets)

 (4,914.57)  924.46  54.22  (3,935.90)

Provision for Expenses  251.46  (82.62)  -  168.84 

Allowance for Doubtful Debts  
(Expected credit loss)

 281.41  (104.83)  -  176.58 

Employee Benefits  334.22  (61.26)  29.61  302.57 

Lease Liability  674.90  (230.97)  -  443.93 

MAT Credit Entitlement  120.70  (120.70)  -  (0.00)

Fair Value Adjustments  6.09  2.71  -  8.80 

Others  262.91  (125.43)  - 137.48

Total  (2,982.88)  201.37  83.82  (2,697.70)

* Including MAT credit write off of Rs. 175.83 Lacs as per section 115 JB (5A) (ii) of Income Tax Act 1961.
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(` in lacs)

14. Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to :
As at  

1st April  
2022

Credit / 
(Charge) 

to Profit or 
loss

Credit / (Charge) 
to Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

As at 31st 
March 2023

Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) (Net)

The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets / 
liabilities Recognised in profit and loss account and 
other comprehensive income

Property, plant and equipment  
(including intangible assets)  (3,935.90)  (1,266.82)  47.44  (5,155.28)

Provision for Expenses  168.84  23.10  -  191.94 

Allowance for Doubtful Debts  
(Expected credit loss)  176.58  30.76  -  207.34 

Employee Benefits  302.57  25.62  (14.96)  313.23 

Lease Liability  443.93  671.64  -  1,115.56 

Fair Value Adjustments  8.80  15.00  -  23.80 

Others  137.48  29.68  - 167.16

Total  (2,697.70)  (471.02)  32.48  (3,136.25)

Note : Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been offset as they are governed by the same taxation laws.

(` in lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

15. Borrowings

Term Loan (current maturity) (Refer Note 12)  2,562.28  2,018.09 

Total  2,562.28  2,018.09 

Note 15.1
(The Company has been sanctioned overdraft credit limit of Rs 40 Cr including Rs 10 Cr non-fund based limit. It carries interest rate 
linked with 3 Month MCLR and are repayable on demand. The Overdraft limit is secured by 1st Pari passu charge on current assets 
and 2nd pari passu charge on movable & Immovable fixed assets, both present & future. )

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

16. Trade payables

Total Outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises (Refer Note 
33)  1,171.65  1,289.52 

Total Outstanding dues of Creditors other than Micro Enterprises and Small 
Enterprises  7,142.89  4,503.12 

Total  8,314.54  5,792.64 
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Note 16.1: Trade Payables ageing schedule	 	 (` in Lacs)

Trade Payables Ageing Schedule as at 
31st March 2023

Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not Due Less than 
1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years More than 

3 years Total 

Due to Micro and Small Enterprises  1,171.65  -  -  -  1,171.65 

Other than Micro and Small Enterprises  5,157.91  1,293.11  494.09  51.20  146.58  7,142.89 

Disputed Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Dues to Others  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  6,329.56  1,293.11  494.09  51.20  146.58  8,314.54 

(` in Lacs)

Trade Payables Ageing Schedule as at 
31st March 2022 

Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not Due Less than 
1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years More than 

3 years Total 

Due to Micro and Small Enterprises  1,289.52  -  -  -  1,289.52 

Other than Micro and Small Enterprises  1,171.76  2,639.14  236.86  163.56  291.80  4,503.12 

Disputed Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Dues to Others  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  2,461.28  2,639.14  236.86  163.56  291.80  5,792.64 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars As At

31st March 2023
As At

31st March 2022

17. Other Financial Liabilities (secured)

Current

Other Payable #  4,246.21  1,764.82 

Interest Accrued but not due on borrowings  75.60  47.56 

Total  4,321.81  1,812.38 

# Other payable includes payments due on account of capital items, due to employees.
(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars As At

31st March 2023
As At

31st March 2022

18. Other Liabilities

Current

Advance from Patients / Others *  1,353.21  1,080.48 

Taxes and Other Statutory Dues * *  666.15  512.03 

Security Deposits  262.29  307.55 

Deferred Government Grant * * *  659.35  464.18 

Total  2,941.00  2,364.24 

* Advance from Patients/ Others for which the company is obliged to provide services to the patients/ Others.
* * Taxes and other statutory dues includes Withholding Tax, Goods & Services Tax and contribution of P F, ESI etc.
* * * During the year, the company has obtained EPCG License against import of fixed assets. The company has recognised this
grant as deferred income at fair value, which is being amortised in proportion to fulfillment of Export Obligation (Refer note 40B).
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

19. Revenue from Operations 

 Sale of Services 

 Revenue from Healthcare & Other Services  69,673.42  52,888.49 

 Sale of Goods 

 Sale of Pharmacy Drugs & Medical Consumables  1,509.22  1,318.07 

 Sale of Stock in Trade (Pharmacy)  0.36  26.54 

 Other Operating Income 

 Income from Nursing Hostel  28.43  26.52 

 Income from Education & Training  106.82  96.21 

 Unclaimed credit balances / provisions no longer 

 required written back  87.98  82.87 

 Sale of Scrap  26.89  39.69 

Total 71,433.11  54,478.40 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

20.  Other Income 

 Interest Income  275.21  146.86 

 - From Bank deposits  197.13  136.52 

 - From Financial Assets carried at amortised cost  12.35  9.80 

 - From Others (including interest on tax refunds)  65.72  0.54 

 Income from outsource activities (Cafeteria, Parking etc.)  74.17  72.72 

 Other Non-Operating Income (net of reimbursements)  125.99  119.75 

 Gain on sale of assets  136.35  - 

 Foreign Exchange Gain (Net)  101.64  49.14 

Total  713.36  388.47 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

21.  Operative Expenses 

 Material and Consumables  18,485.55  15,243.98 

 Outsource Lab Test Charges  376.39  339.44 

 Fees to Doctors and Consultation  16,245.97  12,208.55 

 Professional Medical Consultancy  5,864.18  3,025.83 

 Power, Fuel and Water Expenses  1,541.66  1,289.78 

 Housekeeping and Catering  1,464.81  982.82 

 Securities Expenses  305.52  243.24 

 Linen and Uniform  262.52  203.84 

Total 44,546.60  33,537.48 
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

22.  (Increase) / Decrease in Inventories of 

 Stock in Trade 

 Inventories at the beginning of the year  0.18  13.56 

 Inventories at the end of the year  0.54  (0.36)  0.18  13.38 

 Total  (0.36)  13.38 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

23.  Employee Benefits Expense 

 Salaries, Wages and Bonus  10,178.79  8,562.22 

 Contribution to Provident and Other Funds  614.93  478.00 

 Share based payment to employees (Refer note 43)  403.05  775.26 

 Gratuity Expenses (Refer note 35)  172.05  154.71 

 Employee Welfare Expenses  301.77  249.77 

 Total 11,670.59  10,219.95 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

24.  Finance Costs 

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

 - On term Loans  1,324.03  685.08 

 - On lease liability  288.63  170.41 

Other Interest Expense  4.28  0.70 

Bank Charges (Including Other Borrowing Costs)  241.87  260.42 

 Total  1,858.81  1,116.61 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

25.  Depreciation and amortization expense 

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  2,350.97  1,783.27 

 Amortization of intangible assets  165.20  68.23 

 Depreciation of Right-of-use assets  430.40  256.70 

 Total  2,946.57  2,108.20 
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

26. Other expenses

Consumption of stores & spares  355.46  150.07 

Short Term Lease Expenses  119.94  53.76 

Equipment Hire Charges  184.88  197.36 

Repairs and Maintenance - Machinery  1,450.98  1,236.58 

Repairs and Maintenance - Buildings  15.35  177.22 

Repairs and Maintenance - Others  259.05  201.12 

Rates & Taxes  98.99  98.26 

Legal & Professional Consultation Fees  865.78  405.28 

AGM & Annual Listing Expenses  22.14  26.44 

Printing & Stationery  191.86  129.41 

Provision for Contingencies  91.86  - 

Travelling & Conveyance  459.52  249.20 

Advertisement & Business Promotion  529.54  195.12 

Patients Amenities  185.26  24.83 

Communication Expenses  57.97  55.45 

Charity & Donation  103.39  27.06 

Insurance  80.98  78.09 

Clinical Research Expenses  364.24  320.73 

Auditors Remuneration

 - Audit Fee  8.56  7.67 

 - Limited Review  8.85  8.85 

 - Tax Audit Fee  2.36  2.36 

 - Others Services & Certification  3.39  1.93 

Directors Sitting Fees  35.64  28.17 

CSR Expenses  53.67  53.71 

Balance Write Back Export Incentive  45.00  152.90 

Newspaper & Periodicals  38.21  29.95 

Bad Debts Written Off  60.95  113.04 

Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  122.21  (103.69)

Loss on Scrap of Property, Plant and Equipment  12.18  46.57 

Miscellaneous Expenses  9.42  13.27 

 Total  5,837.60  3,980.71 
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(` in Lacs)

Note 
No..  Particulars  Year Ended  

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

27. Tax Expense 

Recognised in Statement of Profit and loss account

Current Tax

(a) In respect of the current year  916.55  824.52 

(b) Earlier years tax  (69.77)  (55.13)

Total  846.78  769.39 

Deferred Tax

(a) In respect of the current year  471.02  (146.24)

Tax expense recognised through statement of profit and loss account  1,317.80  623.15 

Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Deferred tax

In respect of the current year  (32.48)  (83.82)

Tax credit recognised through Other Comprehensive Income  (32.48)  (83.82)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting 
profit as follows:

Profit before tax  5,286.30  3,880.89 

Enacted income tax rate in India 25.17% 25.17%

Income tax calculated  1,330.46  976.74 

Earlier years Tax  (69.77)  (55.13)

Expenses not allowed for tax purposes  895.38  142.12 

Additional allowances for tax purposes  (1,045.44)  (500.84)

Effect of Other Adjustments  207.18  60.25 

Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss  1,317.80  623.15 

Effective Tax Rate 24.93% 16.06%

Note No.

28.	 Segmental  Reporting	

	 Operating segments

	 Ind AS 108 “Operating Segment” (“Ind AS 108”) establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report 
information about operating segments and related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major 
customers. Based on the “management approach” as defined in Ind AS 108, Operating segments are to be reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).The CODM evaluates 
the Company’s performance and allocates resources on overall basis. The Company’s sole operating segment is therefore 
‘Medical and Healthcare Services’. Accordingly, there are no additional disclosure to be provided under Ind AS 108, other than 
those already provided in the financial statements.

	 Geographical information

	 Geographical information analyses the Company’s revenue and non current assets by the Company’s country of domicile (i.e. 
India) and other countries. In presenting the geographical information, segment revenue has been based on the geographical 
location of the customers and segment assets which have been based on the geographical location of the assets.
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	 Secondary Segment - Geographical Location of customers

India Outside India Total
Current Year 
(` in Lacs)

Previous Year 
(` in Lacs)

Current Year 
(` in Lacs)

Previous Year 
(` in Lacs)

Current Year 
(` in Lacs)

Previous Year 
(` in Lacs)

Revenue by geographical 
markets

 54,025.25  44,952.20  17,407.86  9,526.20  71,433.11  54,478.40 

Non current assets  70,708.71  56,579.91  -    -    70,708.71  56,579.91 

29.	 Capital and Other Commitments	 	 (` in Lacs)

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022
a) Capital Commitments

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed 
on capital account not provided for (Net of Advances)  2,472.43  5,208.84 

b) Other Commitments
i) For commitments relating to lease arrangement, 

please refer Note 32.
ii) The Company does not have any long term commitments or material non-cancellable contractual commitments/

contracts, including derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses.

30.	 Expenditure on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

i) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year ended 31st March, 2023 Rs. 53.60 lacs 
(during the year ended 31st March, 2022 Rs. 53.35 lacs)

ii) Amount approved by board of directors Rs. 53.60 lacs (Previous year 53.35 lacs)
iii) Amount spent during the year ended 31st March 2023 :

(` in Lacs)

Particulars Paid (A) Yet to be paid (B) Total (A+B) 
(i) Construction / acquisition of any property, plant and equipment  -  -  - 

(ii) On purposes other than ( i ) above  53.67
53.71*

 - 
 - 

 53.67
53.71*

*For the year ended 31st March, 2022

iv) Details of related party transactions :
a) Contribution during the year ended 31st March, 2023 Rs. Nil Lacs (Previous year - Rs. 6.55 Lacs)

b) Payable as at 31st March, 2023 Rs. Nil (Previous year - Rs. Nil)

 v) 	 Details of ongoing CSR projects under section 135(6) of the Companies Act, 2013		  (` in Lacs)
 Particulars  For the year ended 

31st March, 2023 
 Balance as at 1st April, 2022  
 With the Company  - 
 In separate CSR Unspent account  - 
   - 
 Amount required to be spent during the period 36.10
  36.10
 Amount spent during the period  
 From the Companies bank account 36.10
 From separate CSR Unspent account  - 
  36.10
 Balance as at 31st March, 2023  
 With the Company  - 
 In separate CSR Unspent account  - 
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(vi) 	Details of CSR expenditure under section 135(5) of the Act in respect of other than ongoing projects	 (` in Lacs)

 Particulars  For the year ended 
31st March, 2023 

 Balance as at 1st April, 2022  -   
 Amount required to be spent during the period  17.57 
 Amount deposited in a specified fund of Schedule VII of the Act with in 6 months -  -   
 Amount spent during the period/year  (17.57)
 Balance as at 31st March, 2023  -   

(vii) Details of excess CSR expenditure under section 135(5) of the Act		  (` in Lacs)

 Particulars  For the year ended 
31st March, 2023 

 Balance excess spent as at 1st April, 2022  (0.36)
 Amount required to be spent during the period  53.60 
 Amount spent during the year  (53.67)
 Balance excess spent as at 31st March, 2023  (0.43)

31.	 Related party disclosure
a)	 Name of related parties

(i)    Holding Company Constructive Finance Private Limited
(ii)   Parties where control exists irrespective of whether transactions have occurred or not
        Subsidiary Company Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited
(iii)  Other Related Parties:

Directors and Key Management Personnel Mr. Onkar Kanwar (Chairman)
Dr. Devlina Chakravarty (Managing Director)
Mr. Neeraj Kanwar (Non-Executive Director)
Mrs. Shalini Kanwar Chand (Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari (Chief Financial Officer)
Mrs. Shilpa Budhia (Company Secretary)  
(up to 7th October, 2022)

Mrs. Poonam Makkar (Company Secretary)  
(from 9th November, 2022)

Relatives of Key Managerial Personnel## Mrs. Taru Kanwar

Mrs. Devarchana Rana

Dr. Srishti Chakravarty

Non-Executive Directors Dr. Nirmal Kumar Ganguly (Non-Executive Director)

Dr. S. Narayan (Independent Director)

Dr. Sanjaya Baru (Independent Director)

Ms. Deepa Gopalan Wadhwa (Independent Director)

Mr. Sanjib Sen (Independent Director)

Mr. Sunil Tandon (Independent Director)

Enterprises owned or Jointly Controlled 
Entities of Promoter - Promoter Group##

Apollo Tyres Limited

Apollo International Limited

Artemis Health Sciences Foundation

Artemis Education & Research Foundation
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Swaranganga Consultants Private Limited

Premedium Pharmaceuticals Private Limited

Apollo Tyres Centre of Excellence Limited

## where transactions have taken place during the year or previous year / balances outstanding.
Notes: Related parties and their relationships are as identified by the management and relied upon by the auditors. 
            All transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s length.

b)	 Transactions during the year	 	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 

 Holding 
Company 

 Subsidiary 
Company 

 Key Management 
Personnel and 
their relatives 

 Enterprises 
owned or 

significantly 
influenced by 

key management 
personnel or their 

relatives 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

Reimbursement of Expenses Received                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  -  -  33.28  61.81  -  -  -  - 

Corporate Guarantee Fee                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  -  -  0.96  0.78  -  -  -  - 

Inter-corporate Loan Given                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  -  -  155.00  -  -  -  -  - 

Inter-corporate Loan Recovered                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  -  -  135.00  -  -  -  -  - 

Interest on Inter-corporate Loan                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  -  -  2.52  -  -  -  -  - 

Investment in Subsidiary                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited  -  -  611.00  130.00  -  -  -  - 

Sale of Goods / Fixed Assets                

Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited                

- Pharmacy drugs & consumables  -  -  14.07  -  -  -  -  - 

- Property, plant & equipment  -  -  16.21  -  -  -  -  - 

CSR Expenses                

Artemis Health Sciences Foundation  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  6.55 

Recovery of Loans & Advances                

Dr. Devlina Chakravarty  -  -  -  -  12.00  12.00  -  - 

Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  -  -  -  -  6.00  6.00  -  - 

Lease Expenses *                

Apollo Tyres Centre of Excellence Limited #N/A  -  -  -  -  -  2.12  0.53 

Swaranganga Consultants Private Limited  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.94 

Charges for support services                

Artemis Education Research Foundation  -  -  -  -  -  -  19.72  18.86 
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Particulars 

 Holding 
Company 

 Subsidiary 
Company 

 Key Management 
Personnel and 
their relatives 

 Enterprises 
owned or 

significantly 
influenced by 

key management 
personnel or their 

relatives 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

Sale of Services / License                

Total Transactions  -  -  -  -  31.63  16.13  704.44  957.49 

Transactions in excess of 10%                

 ---- Apollo Tyres Limited  -  -  -  -  -  -  698.99  949.55 

Purchase of services / goods *                

Apollo Tyres Limited  -  -  -  -  -  -  7.08  7.08 

Mrs.Devarchana Rana  -  -  -  -  8.57  7.35  -  - 

Dr. Srishti Chakravarty  -  -  -  -  14.00  -  -  - 

Dr. Nirmal Kumar Ganguly  -  -  -  -  22.95  19.80  -  - 

Premedium Pharmaceuticals Private Limited  -  -  -  -  -  -  955.25  4,170.72 

Donation Paid                

Artemis Education & Research Foundation  -  -  -  -  -  -  25.00  20.00 

Artemis Health Sciences Foundation  -  -  -  -  -  -  78.39  7.06 

Medical Equipment Hiring                

 Artemis Health Sciences Foundation  -  -  -  -  -  -  12.00  - 

Directors’ Sitting Fees paid                

Mr. Onkar Kanwar  -  -  -  -  2.50  2.20  -  - 

Mr. Neeraj Kanwar  -  -  -  -  3.30  2.80  -  - 

Mrs.Shalini Kanwar Chand  -  -  -  -  2.80  2.80  -  - 

Dr. S. Narayan  -  -  -  -  4.10  2.20  -  - 

Dr. Sanjaya Baru  -  -  -  -  3.50  2.30  -  - 

Dr. Nirmal Kumar Ganguly  -  -  -  -  3.70  3.20  -  - 

Mr. Sunil Tandon  -  -  -  -  3.10  2.60  -  - 

Ms. Deepa Gopalan Wadhwa  -  -  -  -  4.10  3.40  -  - 

Mr. Sanjib Sen  -  -  -  -  3.10  2.40  -  - 

Key management personnel-Compensation                

Dr. Devlina Chakravarty  -  -  -  -  474.35  475.29  -  - 

Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  -  -  -  -  75.75  75.96  -  - 

Mrs Poonam Makkar  -  -  -  -  20.03  -  -  - 
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Particulars 

 Holding 
Company 

 Subsidiary 
Company 

 Key Management 
Personnel and 
their relatives 

 Enterprises 
owned or 

significantly 
influenced by 

key management 
personnel or their 

relatives 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

Mrs.Shilpa Budhia  -  -  -  -  14.47  24.41  -  - 

Defined benefit obligation as at year end                

Post-employment benefits  -  -  -  -  100.77  87.99  -  - 

Short-term benefits  -  -  -  -  24.31  26.66  -  - 

Share-based payments  -  -  -  -  904.49  -  -  - 

Total  -  -  -  - 1,029.57  114.65  -  - 

Dr. Devlina Chakravarty  -  -  -  -  100.13  93.26  -  - 

Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  -  -  -  -  24.12  20.10  -  - 

Mrs Poonam Makkar  -  -  -  -  0.83  -  -  - 

Mrs Shilpa Budhia  -  -  -  -  -  1.29  -  

Total  -  -  -  - 125.09  114.65  -  - 

* Transactions are reported including taxes.
(` in Lacs)

 Balance Payable  Name of Entity  31st March 2023  31st March 2022 

Enterprises owned or significantly influenced 
by key management personnel or their relatives

Premedium Pharmaceuticals 
Private Limited  55.94  256.27 

(` in Lacs)

Balance Recoverable  Name of Entity  31st March 2023  31st March 2022 

Key Management Personnel and their relatives 

 Relatives of Director & KMP  13.87  7.39 

 Dr. Devlina Chakravarty  10.09  27.01 

 Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  2.85  12.87 

Enterprises owned or significantly influenced 
by key management personnel or their 
relatives 

 Apollo Tyres Limited  23.97  59.63 

 Apollo International Limited  6.09  2.02 

 Artemis Education & Research 
Foundation  -  11.11 

   Artemis Cardiac Care Private 
Limited  39.05  66.79 

 
 Artemis Cardiac Care Private 
Limited (Corporate Guarantee 
Outstanding) 

 2,500.00  1,500.00 
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32.	 Leases

a. 	 Movement of Lease Liabilities during the year	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,763.88  1,931.37 

Addition/Deletion during the year  2,937.66  (3.24)

Finance cost accrued during the year  288.63  170.41 

Payment of Lease Liability  (557.69)  (334.66)

Balance at the end of the year  4,432.47  1,763.88 

Impact on the statement of profit or loss (increase / (decrease)	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Depreciation expense  430.40  256.70 

Short Term Lease Expenses (refer note 26)  119.94  53.76 

Finance Cost  288.63  170.41 

Total Expense for the year  838.97  480.87 

b. 	 The following is the cash outflow on lease during year	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Payment of lease liabilities - Principal amount  269.07  164.26 

Payment of lease liabilities - Interest amount  288.63  170.41 

Total Cash outflow on leases  557.69  334.66 

c.	  The table below provides detail regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities on undiscounted cases
(` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Less than 1 year  3,209.35  397.68 

1 to 5 years  1,186.26  932.79 

Over 5 years  3,990.46  1,929.32 

Total Cash outflow on leases  8,386.07  3,259.79 

d. 	 The Company does not face a significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities as the current assets are sufficient 
to meet the obligations related to lease liabilities as and when fall due.

e. 	 Lease payments during the period have been disclosed under financing activities in the Standalone Statement of Cash 
flows.

f. 	 The Company has entered into a lease agreement to operate a hospital which shall commence in the next financial year.
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33.	 The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises have been identified by the Company from the available information, which has 
been relied upon by the auditors. According to such identification, the disclosures as per Section 22 of “The Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprise Development (MSMED) Act, 2006” are as follows:

(` in Lacs)

Details of dues to Micro and Small Enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006  Year Ended  
31st March, 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March, 2022

The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier 
at the end of each accounting year.	

   

- Principal Amount  1,171.65  1,289.52 

- Interest thereon  -  - 

The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the Micro Small 
and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the 
payment made  to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting 
year.

 -  - 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 
(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but   
without adding the interest specified under Micro Small and Medium Enterprise 
Development Act, 2006.

 -  - 

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid  at the end of the accounting 
year.

 -  - 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date  when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under 
section 23 of the Micro Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006.

 -  - 

34.	 Earning Per Share (EPS)	 	

Particulars Year Ended
31st March, 2023

Year Ended
31st March, 2022

Net profit after Tax

Profit / (Loss) attributable to the Equity Shareholders (` in Lacs)  3,968.50  3,257.74 

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating 
basic earning per share

(Number)  13,33,60,859  13,23,77,000 

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating 
diluted earning per share

(Number)  13,85,86,109 1,390,17,982

Earning Per Share (in Rupees)

-   Basic (In Rupees)  2.98  2.46 

-   Diluted (In Rupees)  2.86  2.34 

Nominal value of Equity Shares (In Rupees)  1.00  1.00 

The shares pending for allotment for the previous year have been considered for the purpose of calculation of EPS appropriately.
The Board of Directors of Artemis Medicare Services Limited (‘Company’) in its meeting held on August 5, 2021, approved 
a proposal for sub-division of the face value of the equity shares of the Company from Rs. 10 per equity share to Re. 1 per 
equity share i.e. 1 equity share to be split into 10 equity shares. Subsequent to the approval of the above proposal by the 
shareholders of the Company, the record date was fixed as September 24, 2021 and thereafter the sub-division became 
effective. Accordingly, the basic and diluted earnings per equity share (EPS) have been computed for all the periods presented 
in the Financial Results of the Company on the basis of new number of equity shares in accordance with Ind AS 33 - Earnings 
per shares.
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35.	 Employee Benefits

A) Defined Contribution Plan

Expense under defined contribution plans include: Year Ended
31st March, 2023

(` in Lacs)

Year Ended
31st March, 2022 

(` in Lacs)

a) Employer's contribution to provident fund 558.70  427.78 

The expense is disclosed in the line item - contribution to provident fund and other funds in Note 23.

B) Defined Benefit Plan

ii) The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of the 
service gets a gratuity on retirement / termination at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year 
of service. The Company has also provided for long-term compensated absences.

(` in Lacs)

Gratuity (unfunded) Leaves (unfunded)

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2023

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2022

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2023

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2022

(i) Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of obligations:

a) Obligation at the beginning  876.38  671.37  325.80  285.08 

b) Current Service Cost  118.59  118.45  98.32  66.69 

c) Interest Cost  53.46  36.25  19.87  15.39 

d) Past Service Cost  -    -    -    -   

e) Actuarial (Gain) / Loss  (59.43)  117.64  (45.72)  12.80 

f) Benefits paid  (78.14)  (67.33)  (64.58)  (54.15)

g) Obligation at the year end  910.87  876.38  333.68  325.80 

(ii) Change in Plan Assets (Reconciliation of opening and closing balances):

a) Fair Value of Plan Assets at beginning  -  -  -  - 

b) Prior Period Adjustment  -  -  -  - 

c) Expected return on Plan Asset  -  -  -  - 

d) Contributions  -  -  -  - 

e) Benefits paid  -  -  -  - 

f) Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Plan Assets  -  -  -  - 

g) Fair Value of Plan Assets at year end  -  -  -  - 

(iii) Reconciliation of fair value of assets and obligations:

a) Present value of obligation at year end  910.87  876.38  333.68  325.80 

b) Fair Value of Plan Assets at year end  -    -    -    -   

c) Asset / Liability recognized in the Balance 
Sheet

 910.87  876.38  333.68  325.80 
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(iv) Amount recognized in the income statement

a) Current Service Cost  118.59  118.45  98.32  66.69 

b) Past Service Cost  -    -    -    -   

c) Interest Cost  53.46  36.25  19.87  15.39 

d) Curtailment Cost (Credit)  -    -    -    -   

e) Expected return on Plan Assets  -    -    -    -   

f) Actuarial (Gain) / Loss  -    -    (45.72)  12.80 

g) Expenses recognized during the year  172.05  154.71  72.47  94.87 

(v) Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

a) Unrealised actuarial Gain / (Loss)  59.43  (117.64)  -  - 

(vi) Assumptions: Year Ended 31st March, 2023 Year Ended 31st March, 2022

a) Discounting Rate (per annum) 7.20% 6.10%

b) Future Salary Increase 6.50% 5.00%

Withdrawal / Employee Turnover Rate

c) Age upto 30 years 36.00% 36.00%

d) Age from 31 to 44 years 32.00% 32.00%

e) Age above 44 years 15.00% 15.00%

Mortality table used Indian Assured Lives  
Mortality (2012-14 ult)

Indian Assured Lives  
Mortality (2012-14 ult)

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take into account inflation, seniority, 
promotion and other relevant factors including supply and demand in the employment market.

Significant actuarial assumption for the determination of the defined obligation are discounted rate, expected salary 
escalation rate and withdrawal rate. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably 
possible changes of the respective assumption occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other 
assumptions constant.

The above information is certified by the actuarial valuer.

Enterprise best estimate of contribution during next year is Rs. 155.59 Lacs for Gratuity & Rs. 82.11 Lacs for Leave 
Encashment.

The discount rate is based on prevailing market yield of Government Bonds as at the date of valuation.

(vii)	Sensitivity Analysis	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars
Year Ended  

31st March, 2023
Year Ended  

31st March, 2022

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Change in discount rate by 1.00%  34.14  36.52  37.37  40.57 

Change in Salary escalation rate by 1.00%  36.42  34.67  40.61  38.09 

Sensitivity due to mortality and withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change not calculated.

Sensitivity as to rate of inflation, rate of increase of pensions in payment, rate of increase of pensions before retirement 
and life expectancy are not applicable being a lump sum benefit on retirement.	
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36.	 Capital Management

	 The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as going concern while maximising the 
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance

	 The capital structure of the Company consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in Notes 12 & 15 offset by cash and bank 
balances) and total equity of the Company.

	 The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than for covenants under various loan 
arrangements of the Company.	

	 The Company’s Board reviews the capital structure of the Company on need basis. As part of this review, the Board considers 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The gearing ratio at 31st March 2023 of 59.87% (previous 
year 53.66% ) (See below).

	 Gearing Ratio :

	 The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows :	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022
Debt *  22,463.66  17,322.97 
Less : Cash and Cash Equivalents (Refer Note 8)  2,166.61  1,511.44 
Net Debt  20,297.05  15,811.53 
Total Equity (Net of Revaluation Reserve)  33,901.44  29,468.02 
Gearing Ratio 59.87% 53.66%

* Debt is defined as long-term and short-term borrowings.

37.	 Financial Instruments	

	 i)	 Categories of Financial Instruments		
	 The criteria for recognition of financial instruments is explained in accounting policies for Company.	 (` in Lacs)

Financial Assets Fair value hierarchy 
(Level 1, 2 or 3)

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Measured at amortised cost
Loans- Non Current  59.90  27.57 
Other Financial assets - Non Current  422.23  311.10 
Trade receivables - Current  8,480.82  6,963.50 
Cash and cash equivalents  2,166.61  1,511.44 
Other Bank balances - Current  2,666.34  1,199.91 
Loans - Current  103.90  78.42 
Other financial assets - Current  697.89  651.86 
Total  14,597.69  10,743.79 

	 At the end of the reporting period, there are no significant concentrations of financial assets designated at FVTPL. The 
carrying amount reflected above represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for such financial assets.

(` in Lacs)

Financial Liabilities Fair value hierarchy 
(Level 1, 2 or 3)

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Measured at amortised cost
Borrowings - Non Current  19,825.78  15,257.31 
Borrowings - Current  2,562.28  2,018.09 
Lease Liabilities - Non Current  3,936.67  1,495.57 
Lease Liabilities - Current  495.80  268.31 
Trade payables - Current  8,314.54  5,792.64 
Other financial liabilities - Current  4,321.81  1,812.38 
Total  39,456.87  26,644.30 

	 The management considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised 
cost in the balance sheet approximates their fair value.
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	 Fair Value Hierarchy
	 The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could 

be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following 
table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of Company’s asset and liabilities, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 as 
described below :-
i. 	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can 

access at measurement date;
ii. 	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included in level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly; and
iii. 	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the valuation of assets/liabilities

ii)	 Financial Risk Management Objectives
	 The Company’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and 

international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks including market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

	 The Board of Directors manages the financial risk of the Company through internal risk reports which analyse exposure by 
magnitude of risk. The Company has limited exposure from the international market as the Company’s operations are in 
India. The Company has limited exposure towards foreign currency risk it earns approx. & 15.89% of its revenue from in 
foreign currency from international patients. Also capital expenditure includes capital goods purchased in foreign currency 
through the overseas vendors. The Company has not taken any derivative contracts to hedge the exposure. However the 
exposure towards foreign currency fluctuation is partly hedged naturally on account of receivable from customers and 
payable to vendors in foreign currency.

	 Market Risk	
	 The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange 

rates.
a)	 Foreign Currency risk management	
	 The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate 

fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters.
	 The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 

the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(` in Lacs)

I.  Assets Foreign 
Currency

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

FC in lacs Equivalent  
` In Lacs FC in lacs Equivalent  

` In Lacs

Receivables (trade & others) (A) USD  6.92  563.24  1.66  124.56 

Hedges by derivative contracts (B) USD  -    -    -    -   

Unhedged Receivables (C = A - B) USD  6.92  563.24  1.66  124.56 

(` in Lacs)

II.  Liabilities Foreign 
Currency

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

FC in lacs Equivalent  
` In Lacs FC in lacs Equivalent  

` In Lacs

Payables (trade & others)  
(including Deferred payment liability) (D) USD  -  -  -  - 

Hedges by derivative contracts (E) USD  -  -  -  - 

Unhedged Payables  (F = D - E ) USD  -  -  -  - 
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(` in Lacs)

III.  Contingent Liabilities and 
Commitments

Foreign 
Currency

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

FC in lacs Equivalent  
` In Lacs FC in lacs Equivalent  

` In Lacs

Contingent Liabilities (G) USD  -  -  -  - 

Commitments (H) USD  -    -    11.59  886.21 

Hedges by derivative contracts (I) USD  -    -    -    -   

Unhedged Payables (J = G + H - I) USD  -    -    11.59  886.21 

Total unhedged FC Exposures K=C-F-J  USD  6.92  563.24  (9.93)  (761.65)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Company is mainly exposed to the USD currency.

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the Rupees against the USD. 
1% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
the period end for a 1% change in foreign currency rates. In case of net foreign currency outflow, a positive number 
below indicates an increase in profit or equity where the Rs. strengthens 1% against the relevant currency. For a 1% 
weakening of the Rupees against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, 
and the balances below would be negative. In case of net foreign currency inflow, a positive number below indicates 
an increase in profit or equity where the Rs. weakens 1% against the relevant currency. For a 1% strengthening of the 
Rupees against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the balances 
below would be negative.

(` in Lacs)

If decrease by 1% Currency Impact (net USD Inflow)

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year 5.63  1.25 

Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period 5.63  1.25 

(` in Lacs)

If increase by 1% Currency Impact (net USD Inflow)

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year  (5.63)  (1.25)

Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period  (5.63)  (1.25)

b)	 Interest Rate risk management

	 The Company is exposed to  interest  rate  risk  because  Company  borrow  funds  at  both  fixed  and  floating  
interest rates. The risk is managed by the Company by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate 
borrowings.	

	 The Company’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 
management section of this note.

	 Interest Rate sensitivity analysis

	 The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the 
reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding 
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at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used 
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

(` in Lacs)

If increase by 1% in interest rates Interest Impact

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year  (223.88)  (172.75)

Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period  (223.88)  (172.75)

(` in Lacs)

If decrease by 1% in interest rates Interest Impact

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year  223.88  172.75 

Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period  223.88  172.75 

c)	 Credit Risk Management
	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and loans 
given. Credit risk arises from cash held with banks, as well as credit exposure to trade receivables and other financial 
assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets. The objective of 
managing counter party credit risk is to prevent losses in financial assets. The Company assesses the credit quality of 
the counterparties, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.

	 Trade and other Receivables 
	 The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Trade 

receivables and unbilled revenue are typically unsecured and are derived from revenue earned from customers. 
The Company has a process in place to monitor outstanding receivables on a monthly basis. In monitoring customer 
credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including government entities, insurance 
companies, corporates, individual and others. The default in collection as a percentage to total receivable is low. 
Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than one year are still collectible in 
full, based on historical payment behaviour and extensive analysis of customer credit risk.

	 Cash and bank balances, loans and other financial assets
	 Cash and bank balances comprises of deposits with bank, interest accrued on deposits, and security deposits,. These 

deposits are held with credit worthy banks. The credit worthiness of such banks are evaluated by the Management on 
an ongoing basis and is considered to be good with low credit risk. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
as at 31 March 2023, and 31 March 2022 is the carrying value of each class of financial assets. 

	 The security deposit pertains to rent deposit given to lessors. The Company does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counter-parties

	 The Company is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantee given by the company on behalf of the 
subsidiary company. The company’s maximum exposure in this regard is the maximum amount company could have 
to pay if the guarantee is called on at 31st March 2023 is Rs. 1765.54 Lacs (31st March 2022 Rs.1080.92 Lacs).This 
financial guarantee has been issued to banks. Based on the expectations at the end of reporting period, the company 
considers likelihood of any claim under guarantee is remote.

d)	 Liquidity risk management
	 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an 

appropriate liquidity risk management  framework  for  the  management  of  the  Company’s  short-term,  medium-
term and  long-term  funding  and  liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining  adequate  reserves,  banking  facilities  and  reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets  and liabilities. Note given 
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below sets out details of additional undrawn facilities that the Company has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity 
risk.

	 Liquidity risk	
	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s 
reputation.

	 The table below provides details regarding the undiscounted contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities :

(` in Lacs)

Particulars Within 1 
year 1 - 2 years More than 2 

years Total
Carrying Amount 
(net of transaction 

cost)

As at 31st March, 2023

Term Loan  2,562.28  2,503.61  17,322.17  22,388.06  22,388.06 

Trade Payables  8,314.54  -    -    8,314.54  8,314.54 

Interest accrued but not due on 
borrowings  75.60  -    -    75.60  75.60 

Lease Liability  495.80  430.51  3,506.15  4,432.47  4,432.47 

Other Financial Liability  4,246.21  -    -    4,246.21  4,246.21 

Total  15,694.42 2934.13  20,828.32  39,456.87  39,456.87 

(` in Lacs)

Particulars Within 1 
year 1 - 2 years More than 2 

years Total
Carrying Amount 
(net of transaction 

cost)

As at 31st March, 2022

Term Loan  1,983.54  1,954.97  13,336.90  17,275.41  17,275.41 

Trade Payables  5,792.64  -    -    5,792.64  5,792.64 

Interest accrued but not due on 
borrowings  47.56  -    -    47.56  47.56 

Lease Liability  268.31  155.44  1,340.13  1,763.88  1,763.88 

Other Financial Liability  1,764.82  -    -    1,764.82  1,764.82 

Total  9,856.86 2110.41  14,677.03  26,644.30  26,644.30 

38.	 Disclosure u/s 186(4) of the Companies Act, 2013			   (` in Lacs)

Particulars Purpose Amount 
Outstanding  

As at 31st March, 
2023

Amount 
Outstanding  

As at 31st March, 
2022

Corporate Guarantee given to bank on behalf of subsidiary Business Purpose  2,500.00  1,500.00 

Loan Given Business Purpose 20.00

Investment in subsidiary company  
(Refer Note 3)

Investment  1,170.00  559.00 
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39.	 Disclosure under Ind AS - 115 (Revenue from contracts with customers)
(` in Lacs)

a. Disaggregated revenue information  Year Ended  
31st March, 2023 

 Year Ended  
31st March, 2022 

Type of Services or goods

Revenue from Healthcare & Other Services  69,923.54  53,133.79 

Revenue from Sale of Pharmacy Drugs & Medical Consumables  1,509.58  1,344.61 

Total  71,433.11  54,478.40 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Revenue from Customers based in India  54,025.25  44,952.20 

Revenue from Customers based outside India  17,407.86  9,526.20 

Total  71,433.11  54,478.40 

Timing of Revenue Recognition 

Services transferred over time (Healthcare Services & Others)  69,896.65  53,094.10 

Goods (Pharmacy & Scrap) transferred at a point in time  1,536.46  1,384.30 

Total  71,433.11  54,478.40 

(` in Lacs)

b. Trade receivables and Contract Customers  Year Ended  
31st March, 2023 

 Year Ended  
31st March, 2022 

Trade Receivables  8,480.82  6,963.50 

Unbilled revenue  660.58  571.99 

Contract Liabilities (advance from patients)  1,353.21  1,080.48 

c.	 The Company classifies the right to consideration in exchange for deliverables as either a receivable or as unbilled revenue. 
A receivables is right to consideration that is unconditional upon passage of time. Revenue for ongoing services at the 
reporting date yet to be invoiced is recorded as unbilled revenue. Trade receivables and unbilled revenue are presented 
net of impairment in the Balance sheet. 

d.	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0- 90 days. Rs. 122.21 Lacs (Rs. -103.69 Lacs as at 
31st March 2022) was recognised during the year as provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables.

e.	 Performance obligation and remaining performance obligation 

	 The remaining performance obligation disclosure provides the aggregate amount of the transaction price yet to be 
recognized as at the end of the reporting period and an explanation as to when the Company expects to recognize these 
amounts in revenue. As on 31st March 2023, there were no remaining performance obligation as the same is satisfied 
upon delivery of goods/services.



144

Artemis Medicare Services Ltd.
Annual Report 2022-23

40.	 Contingent Liabilities	 		  (` in Lacs)

Particulars As at  
31st March, 2023

As at  
31st March, 2022

A Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts

(i) In respect of compensation demanded by the patient / their relatives, for 
negligence in treatment and are pending with various consumers disputes 
redressal forums. The Company has been advised by its legal counsel that it 
is possible, the action may succeed after considering that insurance cover has 
also been taken by the Company and the doctors, the Company is of the view  
that is adequately insured to mitigate the possibility of any loss to that extent.

 2,061.64  1,654.12

(ii) Basis the Apex court judgement dated 28th February 2019 in the matter 
of “M/s Surya Roshini Limited Vs RPFC”, the RPFC (Regional Provident 
Fund Commissioner – I) Gurugram, has passed an impugned order (dated  
12th January 2021) against the company to deposit a sum of Rs. 392.16 Lacs 
plus interest & penalty for the period November 2015  till January 2019. 
The Company had filed an appeal & got favourable order from the Central 
Govt. Industrial Tribunal -1.

-  392.16

(iii) Outstanding Bank Guarantee’s issued out of non fund based overdraft limit  609.01  509.00 

B	 The status of completion of obligation as at the end on licensing years for the EPCG licenses obtained by the Group is as 
under:

(` in Lacs)

Export Obligation value  
(` in lacs) Licensing Year Export Obligation to 

be completed till

Export Obligation 
completed 
(Rs in lacs)

Export Duty Payable 
(With interest)

470.75 2018-2019 2024-2025 470.75* 126.21

205.02 2019-2020 2025-2026 205.02* 52.69

434.82 2020-2021 2026-2027 434.82* 102.07

2845.52 2021-2022 2027-2028 NIL 342.3

* In respect of Licensing of FY 2018-19, FY 2019-20 and FY 2020-21, Export Obligations are completed but yet not approved 
by regulatory authorities.

C	 Corporate guarantee given to Bank in respect of financial assistance availed by the subsidiary company i.e. Artemis Cardiac 
Care Private Limited Outstanding as on 31st March 2023 for Rs. 1765.54 Lacs (Previous Year Rs. 1080.92 Lacs).

D	 For the Income Tax assessment proceedings for AY 2017-18, Assessing officer has made addition of Rs. 937.84 Lacs. 
Addition made by the Assessing Officer has not resulted any demand, as the additions has been setoff against unabsorbed 
losses of the Company. However, the Company has filed an appeal before CIT (Appeals) against the order passed by the 
Assessing Officer and matter is sub-judice. 

41.	 The Company carries a general provision for contingencies towards various claims against the Company including claims raised 
by patients / vendors / government authorities, not acknowledged as debts as mentioned in note no. 40 A

(` in Lacs)

  Opening Balance as at 
01.04.2022

Additional provision 
made during the year

Incurred / (reversed) against 
provision during the year

Closing Balance as at 
31.03.2023

670.77 0.00 91.86 762.62

42.	 India’s Code on Social Security, 2020, which aims to consolidate, codify and revise certain existing social security laws, received 
Presidential assent in September 2020 and has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the related final rules have 
not yet been issued and the date on which this Code will come into effect has not been announced. The Code may impact the 
contributions by the company towards provident fund, gratuity and ESIC. The Company will assess the impact of this Code and 
the rules thereunder when they come into effect and will record any related impact, if any, in the period the Code becomes 
effective.
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43.	 Note 45: Share-based payments

(a)	 The share-based payment plan is an employee option plan. The options are equity settled options.	

	 The Board and shareholders have approved the Artemis Medicare Management Stock Option Plan – 2021 (the Plan). In 
accordance with the Plan, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, had, on April 1, 2021, granted 6,96,700 Stock 
Options to the Managing Director. These stock options are to be vested after a minimum of one year from the grant date 
and it may extend up to a maximum of four years from the grant date. The exercise period is one year from the date of 
respective vesting.

	 Further, according to the sub-division of the Equity Shares of the Company from the face value of ₹10/- each per share into 
₹ 1/- each per share, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee revised the no. of Stock Options to bring the same in 
line with the Sub-divided Equity Shares of the Company. Accordingly, the revised no. of Stock Options stands at 69,67,000  
Stock Options with the face value of ₹ 1/- each. 

(b)	 Set out below is the summary of options	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars

 As at 31st March, 2023  As at 31st March, 2022

 Average 
exercise 

price/ share 
in `

 No. of 
options

 Average 
exercise 

price/ share 
in `

 No. of 
options

Opening Balance  -  69,67,000  -    -   

Granted during the period/ year -  -   21.37 69,67,000 

Exercised during the period/ year 21.37  17,41,750  -    -   

Expired during the period/ year  -  -    -    -   

Closing Balance    52,25,250 69,67,000 

Vested and exercisable    52,25,250 69,67,000 

	 Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at end of period as at March 31, 2023 is 2 years 
(Previous year: 2.5).

(c) 	 Share options outstanding at the end of the period/ year have the following exercise period and exercise prices:

Grant Grant Date  Exercise Period Exercise Price/ 
Share in `

Share Option as on 
31st March, 2023

Share Option as on 
31st March, 2022

Grant - I 01.04.2021 2 years from the date of grant - -  17,41,750 

Grant - II 01.04.2021 3 years from the date of grant 21.37 1741750  17,41,750 

Grant - III 01.04.2021 4 years from the date of grant 21.37 1741750  17,41,750 

Grant - IV 01.04.2021 5 years from the date of grant 21.37 1741750  17,41,750 

(d) 	The company has estimated fair value of options using Black Scholes Model. The following assumptions have been 
used for calculation of fair value of options garnted:

Particulars Year Ended  
31st March, 2023

Year Ended  
31st March, 2022

Risk Free Rate  4.52% - 5.80%  4.52% - 5.80% 

Expected Life of option  2-5 years  2-5 years 

Expected Volatility 55.80% 55.80%

Share Price 1 1

(e) 	 Fair value of options granted :-
	 The fair value at grant date is determined using the Black Scholes Model which takes into account the exercise price, term 

of option, the share price at grant date, and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield 
and the risk free interest rate for the term of option. The Fair Value of the Stock option as of grant date was ̀  21.37. During 
the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company issued 17,41,750 equity shares (March 31, 2022: Nil).
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(f) 	 Expense arising from share-based payment transactions :-

	 The company has recorded an expense of ` 403.05 Lacs for the year ended March 31, 2023 (March 31, 2022: ` 775.26 
Lacs), as a part of the employee benefits expense.	

(g) 	 In the existing Employee Stock Option Scheme, 17,41,750 options have been exercised till March 31, 2023 (March 31, 
2022: Nil).

Note 44: Ratio Analysis and its Elements

Note 44.1: Ratio	

Particulars Units 31st March, 2023 31st March, 2022
% change from 
 March 31, 2022 

 to March 31, 2023

Current Ratio Times  0.80  0.92  (13.10)

Debt-Equity Ratio Times  0.66  0.59  12.65 

Debt Service Coverage ratio Times  2.20  1.90  15.66 

Inventory Turnover ratio Times  15.09  14.53  3.87 

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio Times  3.89  3.72  4.41 

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio Times  7.14  6.60  8.25 

Net Capital Turnover Ratio Times  (28.67)  (53.32)  (46.23)

Net Profit ratio Percentage 5.56% 5.98%  (7.10)

Return on Equity ratio Percentage 12.52% 11.85%  5.71 

Return on Capital Employed Percentage 12.02% 10.11%  18.95 

Return on Investment Percentage 8.10% 7.17%  13.07 

Note 44.2: Elements of Ratio	 	 (` in Lacs)

Ratios
31st March, 2023 31st March, 2022

Numerator Denominator Numerator Denominator

Current ratio  15,822.52  19,760.50  12,262.83  13,308.32 

Debt- Equity Ratio  22,388.06  33,901.44  17,275.40  29,468.02 

Debt Service Coverage ratio  8,773.88  3,992.66  6,482.55  3,411.83 

Inventory Turnover ratio  18,485.55  1,224.83  15,267.00  1,050.72 

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio  30,030.00  7,722.16  22,832.00  6,130.42 

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio  50,384.20  7,053.59  37,541.22  5,689.23 

Net Capital Turnover Ratio  71,433.11  (2,491.73)  54,478.40  (1,021.79)

Net Profit Ratio  3,968.50  71,433.11  3,257.74  54,478.40 

Return on Equity ratio  3,968.50  31,684.73  3,257.74  27,495.53 

Return on Capital Employed  7,145.11  59,425.75  4,997.50  49,441.12 

Return on Investment  7,145.11  88,183.36  4,997.50  69,740.40 
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Note 44.3: Consideration of Element of Ratio

i. Current Ratio: Numerator= Current Assets  
Denominator= Current Liabilities

ii. Debt-Equity Ratio: Numerator= Total Debt  
Denominator= Total Equity - Revaluation Reserve

iii. Debt Service Coverage ratio: Numerator= Profit After Tax + Interest Cost + Depreciation  
Denominator= Principal Repayment + Interest Cost

iv. Inventory Turnover ratio: Numerator= Cost of Goods Sold  
Denominator= Average Inventory 

v. Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio: Numerator= Total Credit Sales  
Denominator=Average Trade Receivables

vi. Trade Payable Turnover Ratio: Numerator= Total Credit Purchases  
Denominator= Average Trade Payables

vii. Net Capital Turnover Ratio:
Numerator= Revenue from operations  
Denominator= Average Working Capital (i.e. Current Assets - 
Current Liabilities)

viii. Net Profit ratio: Numerator= Net Profit after tax  
Denominator= Revenue from operations

ix. Return on Equity ratio: Numerator= Profit after tax  
Denominator= Average Total Equity - Revaluation Reserve

x. Return on Capital Employed:
Numerator= Profit Before Tax + Finance cost  
Denominator= Equity - Revaluation Reserve + Debt + Deferred 
Tax Liability

xi. Return on Investment: Numerator= Profit Before Tax+ Finance cost  
Denominator= Total Assets

Note . 44.4: Reasons for more than 25% increase/ (decrease) in above ratios

Particulars % change from March 31, 2022 to March 31, 2023

Current Ratio Not Significant

Debt-Equity Ratio Not Significant

Debt Service Coverage ratio Not Significant

Inventory Turnover ratio Not Significant

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio Not Significant

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio Not Significant

Net Capital Turnover Ratio The change in the ratio has been due to an increase in business operations during the 
year.

Net Profit ratio Not Significant

Return on Equity ratio Not Significant

Return on Capital Employed Not Significant

Return on Investment Not Significant

Note 45: Other Statutory Information
(i)	  The Company did not have any transactions with struck-off companies under section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or 

section 560 of the Companies Act, 1956.
(ii)	 The Company does not have any creation, modification or satisfaction of charges which are yet to be registered with ROC 

beyond the statutory period, except for the satisfaction of charge as below:
- 	 In the case of 3 vehicle loans taken from the HDFC bank, having charge IDs 100316110, 100231792, and 100100057, 

the company has fully paid the loans. The company is in the process of filling required forms with the ROC and is 
expected to be filed by the month of July 2023. 
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(iii) 	The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the period/year.
(iv) 	The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources 

or kind of funds) any funds to or in any other persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, directly or indirectly lend or invest 
in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(v) The Company has not received any funds from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), 
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(vi) The Company does not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or 
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or 
any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961).

(vii)	The Company has not raised funds on short-term basis which have been utilised for long-term purposes.
(viii)	The Company had not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender (as defined 

under the Companies Act, 2013) or consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by 
the Reserve Bank of India. The company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment 
of interest thereon to any lender.

(ix)	 The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Act read with 
Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017, as amended.

(x)	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses.

(xi)	 There were no amounts, during the year, which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Company.

46. 	 Other Notes 
(i) 	 In the opinion of the Board of Directors, Trade Receivables, other current financial assets, and other current assets have a 

value on realization in the ordinary course of the company’s business, which is at least equal to the amount at which they 
are stated in the balance sheet.

(ii) 	 The balances of some of the accounts classified as Trade Payables, Trade Receivables, etc. are in the process of 
reconciliations/ confirmation. In the opinion of Board of directors, the result of such exercise will not have any material 
impact on the carrying value. 

(iii) 	The Board of Directors at its meeting held on May 05, 2023 has approved the Financial Statement for the year ended 
March 31, 2023.

As per our report of even date attached	 Signature to Note 1 to 46

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To The Members of Artemis Medicare Services Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated financial 
statements of Artemis Medicare Services Limited (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Holding Company”), and its subsidiaries 
(the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred 
to as “the Group”), which comprise the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet as at March 31, 2023, the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), 
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
including a summary of the significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Consolidated Financial Statements”). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration 
of reports of other auditors on separate Financial Statements 
and on the other financial information of the subsidiaries as 
referred to in ‘Other Matters’ paragraph below, the aforesaid 
Consolidated Financial Statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the 
Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of 
the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS”) and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state 
of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2023, and the consolidated 
profit and consolidated total Other comprehensive income, 

consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) 
specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) read 
together with the independence requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements under the 
provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We 
believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit 
evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports 
referred to in the Other Matter section below, is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters (‘KAM’) are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the Consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
Consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. We have determined the matters described 
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report:

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
1.	 Upgradation to new Information Technology (IT) system
The Group used SAP as its primary ERP which was upgraded 
to SAP HANA on October 1, 2022. The audit approach 
relies on the effectiveness of automated controls of these 
applications and controls around the interface of systems. 
While transitioning to a new information system, the 
robustness of IT general and application controls is critical 
to assess that changes to applications and underlying data 
are made in an appropriate manner to ensure accurate data 
migration.

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures performed included:

	 Identification of the IT risks based on our understanding of the 
IT environment.

	 Determination whether each general IT control, individually or 
in combination with other controls, is designed to address the 
associated IT risk. 

	 Testing of the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of the relevant general IT controls.

	We reviewed the management’s processes around system 
migration in order to ascertain the accuracy of balances 
migrated to the new information system.

	We obtained and tested the mitigating alternative controls 
to address the IT control deficiencies noted around the new 
application
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
2.	 Capitalisation of Property, Plant, and Equipment
The Group is in the process of executing various projects like 
the expansion of the hospital, installation of new machinery, 
new leased properties, etc. Since these projects take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for the intended use 
and due to their materiality in the context of the Balance 
Sheet of the Group, this is considered to be an area with 
significant effect. 

With regard to the above projects, management has 
identified specific expenditures including employee costs 
and other overheads relating to each of the assets in the 
above projects and has applied significant management 
judgement and estimation for consideration of cost incurred 
and percentage of completion of the project to ensure that 
the capitalization of assets meets the recognition criteria as 
per the requirement of Ind AS. This has been determined 
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the capital 
expenditure during the year and the risk that the elements 
of costs are not appropriately capitalized.

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures performed included:

	We performed walkthroughs of the capitalization process and 
assessed the design effectiveness and operating effectiveness 
for key control by understanding, evaluating and testing the 
key controls relating to capitalization.

	We assessed the progress of the project and the intention and 
ability of the management to carry forward the project.

	 Tested the direct and indirect costs capitalized, on a sample 
basis, with the underlying supporting documents to ascertain 
the nature of costs and basis for allocation, where applicable, 
and evaluated whether they meet the recognition criteria 
provided in the Indian Accounting Standards;

	 Ensured adequacy of disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements on the management judgements in such cases.

3.	 Allowances for credit losses relating to Trade Receivables:
The Group exercises significant judgment in assessing 
and calculating the Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on Trade 
Receivables as per the requirement of Ind AS 109. This 
assessment is done for the customer category resulting 
from possible defaults/delays over the expected life of the 
receivables and future economic conditions. Based on this 
assessment, the provision matrix is determined. The Group 
recorded the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance for trade 
receivable based on this provision matrix. In view of this, 
we have considered the measurement of ECL on trade 
receivables as a key audit matter.

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures performed included:

	 Obtained an understanding of and assessed and tested the 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of relevant 
internal controls relating to the development of methodology 
for the allowance for credit losses, including consideration of 
the overall economic conditions. 

	 Tested the completeness and accuracy of information used in 
the estimation of the probability of default.

	 Tested the computation of the expected credit loss allowances.

Information Other than the Consolidated financial statements 
and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Holding Company’s 
annual report but does not include the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, Standalone Financial Statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. The aforesaid report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements 
or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. When we 

read the company’s annual report and, If, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to those charged with governance 
and shall take appropriate actions, if required.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for 
the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 
2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these 
Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial 
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group in accordance with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of 
the Act. 

The respective Board of Directors of the entities included in 
the Group are responsible for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
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for safeguarding of the assets of each entity and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection 
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view 
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements by the Directors of 
the Holding Company, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the 
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
the entity or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in 
the Group are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting 
process of each entity.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these Consolidated Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) 
of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also responsible for 

expressing our opinion on whether the Holding company 
has an adequate internal financial controls system in place 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the management of the 
Holding Company.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management of 
the Holding Company’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
appropriateness of this assumption. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the financial 
statements of such entities included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of which we are the independent 
auditors. For the other entities included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, which have been audited by other 
auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the audits 
carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements that, individually or in the 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a 
reasonably knowledgeable user of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative 
materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of 
our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work, and 
(ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the 
Holding Company, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1.	 A. 	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our 
report, we report that: 

(a)	 We have sought and obtained all the information 
and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the 
purposes of our audit of the aforesaid Consolidated 
Financial Statements;

(b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law relating to the preparation of the aforesaid 
Consolidated Financial Statements have been kept 
so far as it appears from our examination of those 
books and the reports of the other auditors;

(c)	 The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income), the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the relevant 
books of account maintained for the purpose 
of preparation of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements;

(d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid Consolidated Financial 
Statements comply with the Accounting Standards 
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with 
Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

(e)	 On the basis of the written representations received 
from the directors of the Holding Company as on 
March 31, 2023, taken on record by the Board of 
Directors of the Holding Company and reports of 
the statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies 
which are incorporated in India, none of the 
directors of the Group’s companies incorporated 
in India is disqualified as on March 31, 2023, from 
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164 (2) of the Act;

(f)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to 
our separate Report in “Annexure A” which is based 
on the auditors’ reports of the Holding company, 
and subsidiary companies incorporated in India. 
Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the 
adequacy and operating effectiveness of internal 
financial controls over the financial reporting of 
those companies;

B.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in 
our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us: 

(a)	 The consolidated financial statements disclose the 
impact of pending litigations on the consolidated 
financial position of the Group- Refer to note 39 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements;

(b)	 The Group did not have any long-term contracts 
including derivative contracts for which there were 
any material foreseeable losses;

(c)	 There were no amounts, during the year, 
which were required to be transferred to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund by the 
Holding Company and its subsidiary companies 
incorporated in India;

(d)	 (i) 	 The respective Managements of the Holding 
Company and its subsidiaries which are 
companies incorporated in India, whose 
financial statements have been audited under 
the Act, have represented to us and to the 
other auditors of such subsidiaries respectively 
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
other than as disclosed in note 45 to the 
consolidated financial statements, no funds 
have been advanced or loaned or invested 
(either from borrowed funds or share premium 
or any other sources or kind of funds) by the 
Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries 
to or in any other persons or entities, including 
foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Holding Company or any 
of such subsidiaries (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security or the like 
on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;; 

(ii) The respective Managements of the Holding 
company and its subsidiaries which are 
companies incorporated in India, whose 
financial statements have been audited under 
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the Act, have represented to us and to the 
other auditors of such subsidiaries respectively 
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
other than as disclosed in note 45 to the 
consolidated financial statements, no funds 
have been received by the Holding company 
or any of such subsidiaries from any persons 
or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 
Holding company or any of such subsidiaries 
shall, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in 
other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(iii) Based on the audit procedures performed 
that have been considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances performed 
by us and that performed by the auditors of the 
subsidiary which are companies incorporated 
in India whose financial statements have been 
audited under the Act, nothing has come to 
our or other auditor’s notice that has caused 
us or the other auditors to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) 
of Rule 11(e), as provided under d(i) and d(ii) 
above, contain any material misstatement.

(e)	 The Group has neither declared nor paid any 
dividend during the year, therefore reporting 
under rule 11 (f) is not applicable;

(f)	 As proviso to rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014 is applicable for the company only 
w.e.f. April 1, 2023, reporting under this clause is 
not applicable for the financial year ending March 
31, 2023.

C.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the 
Auditor’s Report in accordance with the requirements 
of Section 197(16) of the Act, as amended,

	 In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanation given to us, the remuneration paid 
during the current year by the Holding Company and 
its subsidiaries which are incorporated in India to its 
directors is in accordance with the provisions of Section 
197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to any director 
by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which 
are incorporated in India, is not in excess of the limit 
laid down under Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other details 
under Section 197(16) of the Act which is required to 
be commented upon by us.

2.	 With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 3(xxi) 
and 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 

(the “Order”/ “CARO”) issued by the Central Government 
in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, to be included 
in Auditor’s report, according to the information and 
explanations given to us, and based on the CARO reports 
issued by the auditors of the subsidiary, included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company, to 
which reporting under CARO is applicable, provided to 
us by the Management of the Company and based on 
the identification of matters of qualifications or adverse 
remarks in their CARO reports by the respective component 
auditors and provided to us, we report that the auditors 
of such companies have not reported any qualifications 
or adverse remarks in their CARO report except for the 
following:

No. Name of the 
Company

CIN Nature of
Relationship

Clause Number of 
CARO report with 
qualification or 
adverse remark

1. Artemis 
Cardiac 
Care Private 
Limited 

U85110DL2019PTC344351 Subsidiary 
Company 

CARO clause 
number 3 (xvii)

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
	 Chartered Accountants
	 (Firm Registration No.: 006711N/ N500028)

Place of Signature: Noida 	 Neena Goel 
Dated: May 5, 2023	 Partner
UDIN: 23057986BGVLGR5254	 Membership No. 057986

Annexure A to the Independent Auditors’ Report on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Artemis Medicare 
Services Limited for the year ended March 31, 2023

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to 
aforesaid Consolidated financial statements under Clause (i) 
of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”)

(Referred to in paragraph 1 A (f) under the ‘Report on Other 
Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of 
even date)

Opinion 

In conjunction with our audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of Artemis Medicare Services Limited (“the Holding 
Company”) as of March 31, 2023, we have audited the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting with reference to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Holding Company and 
such companies incorporated in India under the Companies 
Act, 2013 which are its subsidiary companies, as of that date.

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to 
the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of 
the reports of other auditors referred to in the Other Matters 
paragraph below, the Holding company, and its subsidiary 
companies, which are companies incorporated in India, have, 
in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls 
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system over financial reporting and such internal financial 
controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as 
at March 31, 2021, based on the criteria for internal financial 
control over financial reporting established by the respective 
companies considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”).

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The respective company’s management and the Board of 
Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements based on the criteria established by the 
respective company, considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. These 
responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the 
respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under 
the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”).

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting with reference to 
Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and 
the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial 
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements. 
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 
financial controls over financial reporting with reference 
to consolidated financial statements were established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all 
material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements and 
their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to Consolidated 
Financial Statements included obtaining an understanding 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting with 
reference to Consolidated Financial Statements, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exits, and testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of the internal controls 
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risk of misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the 
audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their 

reports referred to is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls 
system over financial reporting with reference to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to 
Consolidated Financial Statements

A company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting 
with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
Consolidated Financial Statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal financial control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with 
Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, including the possibility of collusion 
or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be 
detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting with reference to 
consolidated financial statements to future periods are subject 
to the risk that the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting with reference to consolidated financial statements 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

Other Matters

Our aforesaid report under Section 143 (3) (i) of the Act on the 
adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to Consolidated 
Financial Statements insofar as it related to one subsidiary 
company, which is incorporated in India, is based on the 
corresponding report of auditors of such company.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
	 Chartered Accountants
	 (Firm Registration No.: 006711N/ N500028)

Place of Signature: Noida 	 Neena Goel 
Dated: May 5, 2023	 Partner
UDIN: 23057986BGVLGR5254	 Membership No. 057986
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2023
(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note 
No.

 As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Assets
A Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2.1  51,563.04  42,997.45 
Capital work-in-progress 2.2  9,468.03  6,223.24 
Right-of-use assets 2.3  4,057.77  1,461.36 
Goodwill 2.4  4,162.07  4,162.07 
Other Intangible assets 2.5  745.23  232.74 
Other Intangible assets under development 2.6 3.58  194.02 
Financial assets

i. Loans 3.1  59.90  27.57 
ii. Other financial assets 3.2  422.23  311.10 

Non-current tax assets (Net) 4  2,580.12  2,160.85 
Other non-current assets 5  397.69  491.29 
Total non-current assets A  73,459.66  58,261.69 

B Current assets
Inventories 6  1,399.10  1,239.67 
Financial assets

i. Trade receivables 7  9,327.63  7,341.45 
ii. Cash and cash equivalents 8  2,286.86  1,569.88 
iii. Bank balances other than (ii) above 9  2,807.34  1,199.91 
iv. Loans 3.1  85.40  78.90 
v. Other financial assets 3.2  687.25  587.73 

Other current assets 5  441.86  687.24 
Total current assets B  17,035.44  12,704.78 

C Total Assets C = A + B  90,495.10  70,966.46 
Equity and liabilities

D Equity
Equity share capital 10  1,341.19  1,323.77 
Other equity 11  38,973.56  34,618.71 
 Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company  40,314.75  35,942.48 
 Non-controlling Interests  454.23  183.82 
Total equity D  40,768.98  36,126.30 
Liabilities

E Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
i. Borrowings 12  21,358.91  16,129.07 
ii. Lease Liabilities  3,936.67  1,495.57 
Provisions 13  899.19  828.25 
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 14  2,951.89  2,571.61 

Total non-current liabilities E  29,146.66  21,024.49 
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(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note 
No.

 As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

F Current liabilities

Financial liabilities

i. Borrowings 15  2,794.68  2,227.25 

ii. Lease Liabilities  495.80  268.31 

iii. Trade payables

(A) Total Outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 16  1,171.65  1,293.18 

(B) Total Outstanding dues of Creditors other than Micro Enterprises and 
Small Enterprises

16  7,646.69  4,703.90 

iv. Other financial liabilities 17  4,377.52  1,887.59 

Other current liabilities 18  2,964.71  2,381.25 

Provisions 13  1,128.41  1,054.20 

Total current liabilities F  20,579.46  13,815.68 

G Total liabilities G = E + F  49,726.12  34,840.17 

H Total equity and liabilities H = D + G  90,495.10  70,966.47 

Significant accounting policies 1

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 2 to 46

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2023
(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note
No.

 Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

 Income 

 Revenue from Operations 19  73,742.52  55,480.12 

 Other Income 20  733.90  389.94 

 Total income ( I )  74,476.42  55,870.06 

 Expenses 

 Operative Expenses 21  45,992.93  34,154.40 

 Purchases of Stock in Trade -  0.36  9.65 

 Changes in inventories of Stock in Trade 22  (0.36)  13.38 

 Employee benefits expense 23  12,077.50  10,430.00 

 Finance costs 24  1,967.65  1,197.51 

 Depreciation and other amortization expense 25  3,100.44  2,219.28 

 Other expenses 26  6,277.30  4,127.36 

 Total expenses ( II )  69,415.82  52,151.58 

 Profit before exceptional items & Tax III = ( I - II )  5,060.60  3,718.48 

 Exceptional Items IV  -  - 

 Profit before Tax V = ( III + IV )  5,060.60  3,718.48 

 Tax Expense 27

 Current Tax  916.55  824.52 

 Earlier year tax  (69.77)  (55.13)

 Deferred Tax Charge / (Credit)  412.71  (191.06)

 Total Tax Expense ( VI )  1,259.49  578.33 

 Profit after tax for the year VII = ( V - VI )  3,801.11  3,140.15 

 Other comprehensive income 

 Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 

 Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans (refer note 35) ( VIII)  59.69  (117.16)

 Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 

 to profit or loss ( IX )  (15.03)  29.47 

 Deferred Tax adjustment on revaluation that will not be reclassified 

 to profit or loss ( X )  47.44  54.22 

 Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods: 

XI = (VIII + IX 
+ X)

 92.10  (33.47)

 Total comprehensive income for the year  XII = (VII + XI)  3,893.21  3,106.68 

 Profit / (Loss) for the year attributable to : 

 Shareholders of the Company  3,859.76  3,181.44 

 Non-controlling interests  (58.65)  (41.29)

 3,801.11  3,140.15 
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(` in Lacs)

Particulars Note
No.

 Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

 Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year attributable to : 

 Shareholders of the Company  3,951.80  3,147.84 

 Non-controlling interests  (58.59)  (41.16)

 3,893.21  3,106.68 

 Earning Per Equity Share (Face Value of Rs. 10/- each) 

 - Basic (`) 34  2.89  2.40 

 - Diluted (`)  2.79  2.29 

 Significant accounting policies 1

 See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 2 to 46

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023	
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2023
(` in Lacs)

Particulars    Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax  5,060.61  3,718.48 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization expense  3,100.44  2,219.28 

Interest Income  (297.59)  (148.89)

Finance Cost  1,724.96  935.84 

Employee Cost towards Stock Based Payments  403.05  775.26 

Unclaimed Credit balances / provisions no longer required written back  (87.98)  (82.87)

Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  153.86  (98.47)

Bad Debts Written Off  60.95  113.04 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain (net)  (18.26)  67.79 

Loss / (Gain) on Sale / Scrap of Property, Plant and Equipment (Net)  (114.13)  52.11 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes  9,985.91  7,551.57 

Adjustments for Changes in Working Capital

- (Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables  (2,182.73)  (1,952.12)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in inventories  (159.43)  (277.25)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets (Current)  (99.51)  (124.51)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets (Non - Current)  (92.87)  (76.27)

- (Increase)/ Decrease in other Current Assets  245.38  196.23 

- (Increase)/ Decrease in Other Non Current Assets  (884.95)  (2,603.09)

- Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables  2,909.23  353.01 

- Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (Current)  74.21  34.92 

- Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (Non - Current)  130.62  46.13 

- Increase / (Decrease) in Other current liabilities (Current)  583.46  510.72 

- Increase / (Decrease) in Other financial liabilities (Current)  2,494.25  623.65 

Cash generated from operations  13,003.57  4,282.99 

Income tax refund / (paid)  (287.50)  1,670.46 

Net cash generated from operating activities  ( A )  12,716.07  5,953.45 

Cash flow from investing activity

Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment / CWIP  (14,647.19)  (10,890.03)

Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant & Equipment  154.02  36.09 

Maturity / (investments) of / in fixed deposits having original maturity of 
more than 3 months

 (1,607.43)  (4.13)

Interest received  279.32  135.81 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  ( B )  (15,821.28)  (10,722.26)



160

Artemis Medicare Services Ltd.
Annual Report 2022-23

(` in Lacs)

Particulars    Year Ended 
31st March 2023

 Year Ended 
31st March 2022

Cash flow from financing activity

Proceeds from non current borrowings  8,280.00  7,913.60 

Repayment of non current borrowings  (2,482.73)  (2,295.22)

Proceeds from issuance of shares to non controlling interests  329.00  70.00 

Proceeds from issuance of Equity Share Capital (ESOP)  17.42  - 

Payment of lease liabilities - Principal amount  (269.07)  (164.26)

Payment of lease liabilities - Interest amount  (288.63)  (170.41)

Loans and Advances given  (38.83)  4.61 

Interest paid  (1,724.96)  (935.84)

Net cash generated from financing activities  ( C )  3,822.20  4,422.48 

Net increase in cash & cash equivalents  ( A + B + C )  716.99  (346.33)

Cash & cash equivalents as the beginning of the year  1,569.87  1,916.20 

Cash & cash equivalents as the end of the year  Total  2,286.86  1,569.87 

Components of cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand  92.86  85.30 

Balances with Banks:

 On current accounts  709.00  1,484.57 

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity of

 3 months or less  1,485.00  - 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents ( Refer Note 8 )  Total  2,286.86  1,569.87 

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
I	

( A ) Equity Share Capital (` in Lacs)

Particulars Note No Amount

Balance as at 31st March, 2021 10  1,323.77 

Change in equity share capital during the year  - 

Balance as at 31st March, 2022 10  1,323.77 

Change in equity share capital during the year  17.42 

Balance as at 31st March, 2023 10  1,341.19 

II   Other Equity	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars Note

Reserves and Surplus Items of OCI
Share option 
outstanding 
account

Other Equity 
attributable to 
shareholders 

of the 
Company

Non - 
controlling 
Interests 
(NCI)

TotalCapital 
Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Securities 
premium

Remeasurements 
of the net defined 

benefit plans

Balance as at March 31, 2021 11  14,457.89  6,638.97  9,687.54  -  (88.78)  -  30,695.61  154.99  30,850.61 

Profit / (Loss) for the year 11  -  -  3,181.44  -  -  -  3,181.44  (41.28)  3,140.16 

Deferred tax adjustment on 
revaluation 11  -  54.22  -  -  -  -  54.22  -  54.22 

Equity Settled Share based Payment 
Reserve 11  -  -  -  -  -  775.26  775.26  -  775.26 

Other comprehensive income (OCI) 
(net of tax) 11  -  -  -  -  (87.81)  -  (87.81)  0.12  (87.69)

Further Issue of Equity Shares of 
Subsidiary to Non Controlling Interest 11  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  70.00  70.00 

Balance as at 31st March 2022 11  14,457.89  6,693.18 12,868.98  -  (176.59)  775.26  34,618.72  183.82  34,802.55 

Profit / (Loss) for the year 11  -  -  3,859.76  -  -  -  3,859.76  (58.66)  3,801.10 

Deferred tax adjustment on 
revaluation 11  -  47.44  -  -  -  -  47.44  -  47.44 

Equity Settled Share based Payment 
Reserve 11  -  -  -  372.21  -  30.84  403.05  -  403.05 

Other comprehensive income (OCI) 
(net of tax) 11  -  -  -  -  44.59  -  44.59  0.07  44.66 

Further Issue of Equity Shares of 
Subsidiary to Non Controlling Interest 11  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  329.00  329.00 

Balance as at 31st March 2023 11  14,457.89  6,740.62 16,728.74  372.21  (132.00)  806.10  38,973.56  454.23  39,427.80 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements                                 2 to 46

As per our report of even date attached

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023	
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March, 2023

Note No.

1.1	 Corporate information

	 Artemis Medicare Services Limited (“The Group”) was incorporated on May 18, 2004. The Group is engaged in the business of 
managing and operating of multi specialty hospitals and commenced its commercial operation by setting up Artemis Hospital 
(formerly Artemis Health Institute) at Gurugram on July 16, 2007.	

1.2	 Basis of preparation	

a)	 Statement of compliance	

	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance of Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under 
section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) read together with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, as amended.	

b)	 Presentation of Financial Statements

 	 The Statement of Assets and Liabilities and the Statement of Profit and Loss are prepared and presented in the format 
prescribed in the Division II of Schedule III to the Act. The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared and presented 
as per the requirements of Ind AS 7, Statement of Cash flows. The disclosure requirements with respect to items in the 
Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Profit and Loss, as prescribed in the Schedule III to the Act, are 
presented by way of notes forming part of the financial statements along with the other notes required to be disclosed 
under the notified Ind AS and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended.

	 Functional Currency

	 These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees in Lacs rounded off to two Decimal places as permitted by 
Schedule III to the Act. Per share data are presented in Indian Rupees to two Decimals places.	

c)	 Classification of Current / Non-Current Assets and Liabilities	

	 All the assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle 
and other criteria set out in the Schedule III to the Act.

	 Assets

	 An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

i) 	 it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii) 	 it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; 

iii) 	 it is expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting date; or 

iv) 	 it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting date.

	 Liabilities

	 A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

i) 	 it is expected to be settled in the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii) 	 it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; 

iii) 	 it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting date; or 

iv) 	 the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 
the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

	 All other assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current. Based on the nature of the products and services, the Group has 
ascertained its operating cycle as twelve months for the purpose of Current / Non-current classification of assets and 
liabilities.
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d)	 Basis of Accounting

	 The Group maintains accounts on accrual basis following the historical cost convention, except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value or amortised cost at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies below.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

	 Fair value measurements under Ind AS are categorised as below based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety:	

i. 	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can 
access at measurement date;	

ii. 	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included in level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

iii. 	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the valuation of assets/liabilities

1.3	 Key estimates and assumptions

 	 The preparation of Financial Information in accordance with Ind AS requires use of estimates and assumptions for some 
items, which might have an effect on their recognition and measurement in the (i) Statement of Assets and Liabilities and (ii) 
Statement of Profit and Loss. The actual amounts realised may differ from these estimates.

 	 The estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the Financial Information are continuously evaluated by the Group 
and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of future events) 
that the Company believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. Differences between actual results and 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the results are known/ materialised.

 	 The said estimates are based on the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or that occurred after that date 
but provide additional evidence about conditions existing as at the reporting date.

 	 This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which 
are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be different than those originally 
assessed.

 	 Estimates and assumptions are required in particular for:

i. 	 Determination of the estimated useful lives of tangible assets	

 	 Useful lives of tangible assets are based on the life prescribed in Schedule II to the Act. In cases, where the useful lives 
are different from that prescribed in Schedule II to the Act, they are based on technical advice, taking into account the 
nature of the asset, the estimated usage of the asset, the operating conditions of the asset, past history of replacement, 
anticipated technological changes, manufacturers’ warranties and maintenance support.

ii. 	 Recognition and measurement of defined benefit obligations 

 	 The obligation arising from defined benefit plan is determined on the basis of actuarial assumptions. Key actuarial 
assumptions include discount rate, trends in salary escalation, actuarial rates and life expectancy. The discount rate 
is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds. The period to 
maturity of the underlying bonds correspond to the probable maturity of the post-employment benefit obligations.

iii. 	 Recognition of deferred tax

 	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax base, and unutilized business loss and depreciation carry-
forwards and tax credits. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, depreciation carry-forwards and 
unused tax credits could be utilized.

iv. 	 Recognition and measurement of other provisions

 	 The recognition and measurement of other provisions are based on the assessment of the probability of an outflow of 
resources, and on past experience and circumstances known at the Statement of Assets and Liabilities date. The actual 
outflow of resources at a future date may therefore vary from the amount included in other provisions.
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v. 	 Recoverability of trade receivable

 	 Judgements are required in assessing the recoverability of overdue trade receivables and determining whether a 
provision against those receivables is required. Factors considered include the credit rating of the counterparty, the 
amount and timing of anticipated future payments and any possible actions that can be taken to mitigate the risk of 
non-payment.	

1.4	 Basis for Consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statement includes the financial statement of Parent Company and its subsidiary. The parent 
company has control over the subsidiary when :	

a) 	 It has power over the investee;

b) 	 it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

c) 	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.	

	 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the parent obtains controls over the subsidiary and ceases when parent loses 
control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities , income and expenses of subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date parent gains control to the date it ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

	 Profit and loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the shareholders of the Parent Company 
to the non controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of subsidiary is attributed to owners of parent company and the 
non controlling interests even if this results in non controlling interest having a deficit balance.

	 Wherever necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statement of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 
with the groups accounting policies.

	 Financial statement of the Group Companies are consolidated on line by line basis. All intra group assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses, cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the group are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. Non-controlling interest represents the part of net profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries that are not 
directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the parent company.	

	 The following subsidiary was consolidated:

% of Holding % of Holding
Name of the subsidiary Country of Incorporation 31st March, 2023 31st March, 2022
Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited India 65 65

	 The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within equity.

1.5	 Summary of significant accounting policies

a) 	 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)

	 Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost (or revalued amounts, as the case may be), less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss, if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the property, plant 
and equipment to its working condition for its intended use. Borrowing costs relating to acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment which takes substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent 
they relate to the period till such property, plant and equipment are ready to be put to use.	

	 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the case price equivalent at the recognition date. If payment 
is deferred beyond normal credit terms, the difference between the cash price equivalent and the total payment is 
recognised as interest over the period of credit, unless such interest is capitalised as per borrowing cost.	

	 The Group identifies and determines separate useful life of each major component of the property, plant and equipment, 
if they have useful life that is materially different from that of the remaining asset, as per Schedule II of Companies Act, 
2013.
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b) 	 Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)	

	 Depreciation on all of the property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight line method at the rates prescribed 
by Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013 and / or useful life estimated by management supported by technical valuer’s 
independent assessment. The management believes that depreciation rates currently used fairly reflect its estimates of 
the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment.	

	 Depreciation commences when the PPE are ready for their intended use. Depreciation on all PPE except land are provided 
on a straight line based on the estimated useful life of PPE, which is as follows:

Assets

Useful Life of 
property, plant 
and equipment 
as per Schedule II

Useful Life of property, 
plant and equipment 
as per Management 

supported by Technical 
Valuer’s Estimate

Buildings :    
 - with RCC 60 Years  

 - Temporary Structure (Porta Cabin)   30 Years
 - Tubewell / Borewell 5 Years  

Plant & Machinery :    
 - Electric Medical Equipments 13 Years  

 - Other Medical Equipments 15 Years  
 - Other Plant & Machinery 15 Years  

 - Loose Tools & Instruments   5 Years
Office Equipments 5 Years  
Computers & Data Processing Units    

 - Desktop & Laptops 3 Years  
 - Servers & Network 6 Years  

Vehicles 8 Years  
Furnitures & Fittings 10 Years  
Electrical Installations & Equipments 10 Years  

	 Leasehold Improvements including renovation done on shared facilities have been depreciated as per the useful life 
ascertained or over the primary period of lease / contract, whichever is shorter.

cc) 	 Intangible Assets	

	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.	

	 Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of other consideration given to acquire an asset 
at the time of its acquisition or construction, or, when applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the specific requirements of other Indian Accounting Standards.	

	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.	

	 Software

	 Cost of software is amortized over a period of 6 years, being the estimated useful life as per the management 
estimates.	

d) 	 Borrowing Cost

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an property, plant and equipment 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the 
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cost of the respective property, plant and equipment. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

e) 	 Impairment

	 At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication based on internal/ external factors that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of assets those are cash-generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

	 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

	 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and 
loss.

f) 	 Leases

	 Where the Group is the lessee

	 The Group’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for land and buildings. The Group assesses whether a contract 
contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:(i) the contract involves the use of an 
identified asset (ii) the Group has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of 
the lease and (iii) the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

	 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset(“ROU”)and a corresponding lease 
liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less(short-
term leases)and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments 
as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

	 Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU 
assets and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 

	 The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any 
lease incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term and useful life of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on 
an individual asset basis. 

	 The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the incremental 
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borrowing rates. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if 
the Group changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option. Lease liability and 
ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as financing 
cost.	

	 Where the Group is the lessor

	 Leases for which the Group is a lessor is classified as a finance or operating lease. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. 

	 Assets subject to operating leases are included in PPE. Rental income on operating lease is recognized in the statement 
of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Where the rentals are structured solely to increase in line 
with expected general inflation to compensate for the Group’s expected inflationary cost increases, such increases are 
recognized in the year in which such benefits accrue benefits accrue.	

	 Costs, including depreciation, are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised on 
a straight line basis over the lease term.

g) 	 Inventories

	 Inventories of Pharmacy Drugs & Other Items, Medical Consumables and the Stores and Spares are valued at lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

	 Traded goods are valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs includes cost of purchase and other costs 
incurred to bring inventories to their present locations and conditions. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

	 Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

hh)	 Revenue recognition

	 The Group derives revenue primarily from Healthcare Services through operating of multi-speciality Hospital.	

	 Revenue is measured at the transaction price. Revenue is reduced for returns, trade allowances for deduction, rebates, 
value added taxes and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

	 Sale of Pharmacy Drugs and Medical Supplies including Traded Goods

	 Revenue is recognized as and when Pharmacy Drugs, Medical Supplies and Traded goods are sold. Revenue from the sale 
of Pharmacy Drugs, Medical Supplies and Traded good are recognised when control of the goods has passed to the buyer 
i.e. at the point of sale / to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods. Sale is net of sales returns, discounts and goods & services tax. 

	 Income from Operations

	 Revenue is recorded when the performance obligation are satisfied. For outpatient customers services are simultaneously 
received and consumed by the patient. For inpatient customers, revenue is recognized as serviced are performed over 
the period. Revenue for the ongoing services at the reporting date is recognised as unbilled revenue. The income is 
stated net of discount and price differences, as per terms of contract.	

	 Interest

	 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the applicable 
interest rate.

	 Income from Nursing Hostel

	 Revenue is recognized as per contractual arrangement with nursing staff using the hostel facilities.

	 Income from Lease Rentals & Outsourced Facilities

	 Revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of lease agreements entered into with the respective lessees.
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	 Income from Service Export from India Scheme (SEIS)

	 Income from ‘Service Export from India Scheme’ is recognized on accrual basis as and when eligible services are 
performed and convertible foreign exchange is received on a net basis.

	 Income from Clinical Research

	 Income from clinical research is recognised as and when the services are rendered in accordance with the terms of the 
respective agreements.

	 Income from Sponsorships

	 Sponsorship income is recognized when the underlying obligations are completed as per contractual terms.

i) 	 Foreign currency transactions

	 In preparing the financial statements, transaction in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency (foreign 
currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.	

	 At the end of each reporting period 

i)	 Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date,

ii)	 Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.	

iii)	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are not retranslated.	

	 Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they 
arise except exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as adjustment to interest costs on 
those foreign currency borrowings.	

j) 	 Employees Benefits

	 Short term employee benefits

	 Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving services are classified as short-term employee 
benefits. These benefits include salary and wages, bonus and exgratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee 
benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognized as an expense as the related service is rendered by 
the employees.	

	 Post employment benefits

	 Defined contribution plans

	 A defined contribution plan is post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified contributions to 
separate entity and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. The Group makes specified obligations towards 
employee provident fund and employee state insurance (ESI) to Government administered provident fund scheme 
and ESI scheme which is a defined contribution plan. The Group’s contributions are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of profit and loss during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

	 Defined benefit plans

	 The Group’s gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of a defined benefit 
plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned and returned for services 
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The calculation of Group’s 
obligation under the plan is performed periodically by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.	

	 When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past 
service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.	

	 Compensated absences

	 The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize it in future 
service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. The Group records an obligation for such 
compensated absences in the period in which the employee renders the services that increase this entitlement. The 
obligation is measured on the basis of independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method.
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k)	 Income taxes

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

i)	 Current Tax

	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as 
reported in the statement of profit and loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The current tax is calculated using tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.	

	 Current income-tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the 
Income-tax Act, 1961 enacted in India and tax laws prevailing in the respective tax jurisdictions where the Group 
operates.	

ii)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilized.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of assets to be 
recovered.	

	 Deferred tax is measured based on tax rates and tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities.

iii)	 Current and deferred tax for the year

	 Current and deferred tax are recognized in the statement of profit and loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are 
also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.	

l)	 Expenditure on new projects

	 Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalized. Indirect expenditure incurred during construction 
period is capitalized as part of the indirect construction cost to the extent to which the expenditure is indirectly related 
to construction or is incidental thereto. Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing costs) incurred during the 
construction period which is not related to the construction activity nor is incidental thereto is charged to the Statement 
of profit and loss.

m) 	 Earnings Per share

	 Basic earnings per share is being calculated by dividing net profit or loss for the year (including prior period items, if any) 
attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares.

n) 	 Operating Cycle

	 Based on the nature of products / activities of the Group and the normal time between acquisition of assets and their 
realisation in cash or cash equivalents, the Group has determined its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of 
classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-current.

o) 	 Financial Instrument

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.	
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	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.	

	 All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

	 Classification of financial assets

	 Financial Assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost (except for financial 
assets that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

i)	 the assets is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash 
flows; and	

ii)	 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 Financial Assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (except for financial assets that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

i)	 the assets is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets; and

ii)	 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI). For the purposes of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, FVTOCI financial assets are treated 
as financial assets measured at amortised cost. Thus, the exchange differences on the amortised cost are recognised 
in profit or loss and other changes in the fair value of FVTOCI financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of ‘Reserve for financial assets through other comprehensive income’. 
When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in this reserve is reclassified to 
profit or loss.	

	 All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.	

	 Effective interest method

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

	 Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at 
FVTPL. Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item.	

	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

	 A financial asset that meets the amortised cost criteria or debt instruments that meet the FVTOCI criteria may be 
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on 
them on different bases. The Group has not designated any debt instrument as at FVTPL.

	 Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses arising 
on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend 
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘Other income’ line item. Dividend on financial assets 
at FVTPL is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, it is probable that the economic 
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benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the entity, the dividend does not represent a recovery of part of cost 
of the investment and the amount of dividend can be measured reliably.

	 Impairment of financial assets

	 The Group applies the expected credit loss model for recognising impairment loss on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, debt instruments at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables, and other contractual rights to receive 
cash or other financial asset, and financial guarantees not designated as at FVTPL.

	 Expected credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of default occurring as the 
weights. Credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive (i.e. all cash shortfalls), discounted at the original 
effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit impaired financial 
assets). The Group estimates cash flows by considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) through the expected life of that financial instrument.

	 The Group measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk 
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance 
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 12-month expected credit losses 
are portion of the life-time expected credit losses and represent the lifetime cash shortfalls that will result if default 
occurs within the 12 months after the reporting date and thus, are not cash shortfalls that are predicted over the next 
12 months.	

	 If the Group measured loss allowance for a financial instrument at lifetime expected credit loss model in the previous 
period, but determines at the end of a reporting period that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition due to improvement in credit quality as compared to the previous period, the Group again measures the loss 
allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses.

	 When making the assessment of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
the Group uses the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument instead 
of the change in the amount of expected credit losses. To make that assessment, the Group compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information, that is available 
without undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition.	

	 For trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions 
that are within the scope of Ind AS 115, the Group always measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses.

	 Further, for the purpose of measuring lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables, the Group has used a 
practical expedient as permitted under Ind AS 109. This expected credit loss allowance is computed based on a provision 
matrix which takes into account historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward looking information.	

	 The impairment requirements for the recognition and measurement of a loss allowance are equally applied to debt 
instruments at FVTOCI except that the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and is not reduced 
from the carrying amount in the balance sheet.

	 Derecognition of financial assets

	 The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received.	

	 On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise 
been recognised in profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset.	
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	 On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase 
part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it 
continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair 
values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that 
is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative 
gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss if such 
gain or loss would have otherwise been recognised in profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset. A cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be 
recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

	 Foreign exchange gains and losses

	 The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated 
at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. For foreign currency denominated financial assets measured at 
amortised cost and FVTPL, the exchange differences are recognised in statement of profit and loss since there are no 
designated hedging instruments in a hedging relationship.	

	 Financial liabilities

	 All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

	 However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or then the 
continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group, and commitments issued 
by the Group to provide a loan at below-market interest rate are measured in accordance with the specific accounting 
policies set out below.

	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

	 Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either contingent consideration recognised by 
the Group as an acquirer in a business combination to which Ind AS 103 applies or is held for trading or it is designated 
as at FVTPL.

	 A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

i) 	 it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

ii) 	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

iii) 	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and 
is included in the ‘Other income’ line item.	

	 However, for non-held-for-trading financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in 
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised 
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case these effects 
of changes in credit risk are recognised in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is 
always recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reflected immediately in retained earnings and are not subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss.

	 Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group that are designated by the 
Group as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

	 Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are measured at amortised cost at 
the end of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost are determined based on the effective interest method. Interest expense that is not capitalised as part 
of costs of an asset is included in the ‘Finance costs’ line item.	

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
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interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

	 Financial guarantee contracts

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument.	

	 Financial guarantee contracts issued by a Group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as 
at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

i) 	 the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and	

ii) 	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance 
with the principles of Ind AS 115.

	 Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate

	 Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:	

i) 	 the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and	

ii) 	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance 
with the principles of Ind AS115.

	 Foreign exchange gains and losses

	 For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each 
reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the instruments 
and are recognised in ‘Other income’.

	 The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL, the 
foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Derecognition of financial liabilities

	 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. An exchange between with a lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms is accounted for 
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial 
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the 
debtor) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in statement of profit and loss.

p) 	 Provisions & Contingencies	

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). When some or all of the economic 
benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an 
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.
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q)	 Contingent Liabilities

	 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more of uncertain future events beyond the control of Group or a present obligation that 
is not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the an obligation. A 
contingent liability also arises in the extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognized because 
it cannot be measured reliably its existence in the consolidated financial statements. Group does not recognize the 
contingent liability but disclosed its existence in consolidated financial statements.

r) 	 Government Grants

	 Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and such grants can reasonably have a value placed upon them.

	 Government grants are recognised in statement of profit and loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

s) 	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of cash flow statement are comprise of cash at bank and cash in hand and 
short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities in the balance sheet and forms part of financing activities in the cash flow statement. Book overdraft 
are shown within other financial liabilities in the balance sheet and forms part of operating activities in the cash flow 
statement.

t) 	 Recent pronouncements

	 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standard or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, applicable from April 1, 2023, as below:

i) 	 Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

	 This amendment requires the entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant 
accounting policies. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April 
1, 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and the impact of the amendment is insignificant in the financial 
statements

ii) 	 Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

	 This amendment has introduced a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included amendments to Ind AS 8 to 
help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The effective date 
for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Group has evaluated the 
amendment and there is no impact on its financial statements.

iii) 	 Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes

	 This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions 
that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is 
annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact 
on its financial statement.

	 Balance Sheet:

- 	 Lease Liabilities should be separately disclosed under the head “financial liabilities”, duly distinguished as 
current or non-current.

- 	 Certain additional disclosures in the statement of changes in equity such as changes in equity share capital due 
to prior period rectifications and balances at the beginning of the current reporting period.

- 	 Specified format for disclosure of shareholding of promoters.

- 	 Specified format for ageing schedule of trade receivables, trade payables, capital work-in-progress and 
intangible assets under development.
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- 	 If a Group has not used funds for the specific purpose for which it was borrowed from banks and financial 
institutions, then disclosure of details of where it has been used.

- 	 Specific disclosure under ‘additional regulatory requirement’ such as compliance with approved schemes of 
arrangements, compliance with number of layers of companies, title deeds of immovable property not held in 
name of the Group, loans and advances to promoters, directors, key managerial personnel (KMP) and related 
parties, details of benami property held etc.

-	  Current maturities of Long term borrowings shall be disclosed separately under the Short Term Borrowing 
(Current) which was earlier shown under Other Financial Liabilities.

- 	 Classification of Security Deposits has been reclassed from Loans to Other Financial Assets (Current and non-
Current).	

	 Statement of Profit and Loss:

- 	 Additional disclosures relating to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), undisclosed income and crypto or virtual 
currency specified under the head ‘additional information’ in the notes forming part of the financial statements.

	 The amendments are extensive and the Group will evaluate the same to give effect to them as required by law.
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Note No. 2.2
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS	 		  (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance 6223.25 8105.79

Addition during the year 14590.43 10969.23

Capitalised during the year 11342.07 12851.77

Closing Balance 9471.62 6223.25

(i)	 CWIP ageing schedule as at 31st March, 2023	 	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 

 Amount in CWIP for a period of 

 Total  Less than 1 
year  1- 2 years  2-3 

years
 More than 3 

years

Projects in progress  8,700.00  768.03  -     -     9,468.03 

Projects temporarily suspended #  -     -     -     -     -   

Total  8,700.00  768.03  -     -     9,468.03 

(ii) 	 CWIP aging schedule as at 31st March, 2022	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars

 Amount in CWIP for a period of 

 Total  Less than 1 
year  1- 2 years  2-3 

years
 More than 3 

years

Projects in progress  5,502.85  587.54  73.02  59.84  6,223.25 

Projects temporarily suspended #  -     -     -     -     -   

Total  5,502.85  587.54  73.02  59.84  6,223.25 

	 # No Projects have been temporarily suspended.

(iii) 	Capitalisation of Expenditure :	

	 During the year, the Group has capitalised the following expenses to the cost of property, plant and equipment/capital work 
in progress (CWIP). Consequently, expenses disclosed under the respective notes are net of the amount capitalised by the 
Group.

(` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Borrowing Cost  228.89  469.85 

Professional consultancy Fees  45.63  22.48 

Other directly attributable expenses  138.68  82.21 

Closing Balance  413.20  574.54 
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Note No. 2.3

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group has taken land and building on operating lease, the details of which are given below:		  (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  1,461.36  1,718.06 

Addition during the year  3,026.82 -

Deletion during the year  -  - 

Depreciation  430.40  256.70 

Closing Balance *  4,057.77  1,461.36 

* (Refer Note 32 for disclosure)

Note No. 2.4
GOODWILL	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  4,162.07  4,162.07 
Addition during the year  -  - 
Impairment during the year  -  - 

Closing Balance  4,162.07  4,162.07 

Impairment testing
For the purpose of annual impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the operating segments expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the business combinations in which the goodwill arises as set out below, and is compared to its recoverable value:

Goodwill allocated to operating segments	 	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Health Care Services  4,162.07  4,162.07 
 4,162.07  4,162.07 

Goodwill impairments note
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or sooner whenever there is an indication that goodwill may be impaired. Impairment 
is recognized, when the carrying amount of a CGU including the goodwill, exceeds the estimated recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit (‘CGU’). The estimated value-in-use of this CGU is based on the future cash flow forecasts, based on certain 
assumptions which include revenue growth, earnings before interest and taxes, taxes, capital outflow and working capital 
requirement. Cash flow projections were developed covering a seven-year period as of March 31, 2023, and March 31, 2022, 
which reflects a more appropriate indication/trend of the future track of business of the Group. The assumptions are taken based 
on past trends and management estimates and judgement. Future cash flows are discounted with “Weighted Average Cost of 
Capital”. The key assumptions are as follows:

Annual growth rate considered for 10 years (average)	 6.40%	
Terminal growth rate (i)	 5.00%
Cost of Capital (Wacc) (ii)	 14.81%
Budgeted EBIDTA growth rate considered	 1.19%
(i) 	 Terminal value has been arrived at by extrapolating the last forecasted year cash flows to perpetuity. This long-term growth 

rate takes into consideration external macroeconomic sources of data. Such long-term growth rate considered does not 
exceed that of the relevant business and industry sector.	

(ii) 	 The discount rate, which is applied to the net free cash flows of the whole entity, should reflect the opportunity cost to all 
capital providers (namely, shareholders, internal funding provided by the Company, and debt), weighted by their relative 
contribution to the total capital of the group. This is commonly referred to as the weighted average cost of capital (WACC)

	 The estimate of recoverable amount is particularly sensitive towards post-tax discount rate and terminal growth rate. There 
will be no impairment even if the weighted average cost of capital is increased by .5% and the terminal growth rate is 
decreased by .5%. Management is not currently aware of any other reasonably possible changes to key assumptions that 
would cause a unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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Note No. 2.5
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS			   (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

COST OR DEEMED COST Computer Software Computer Software

Opening Balance  677.74  645.47 

Addition during the year  677.68  32.27 

Deletion during the year  -  - 

Closing Balance  1,355.42  677.74 

AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance  444.99  376.77 

Addition during the year  165.20  68.23 

Deletion during the year  -  - 

Closing Balance  610.20  444.99 

NET BOOK VALUE  745.23  232.74 

Note No. 2.6
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT	 			   (` in Lacs)

Particulars As At
31st March, 2023

As At
31st March, 2022

Opening Balance  194.02  - 

Addition during the year  237.96  194.02 

Capitalised during the year  431.98  - 

Closing Balance  -     194.02 

Other Intangible assets under development ageing schedule as at 31st March, 2023	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars

 Amount for a period of 

 Total  Less than 
1 year

 1- 2 
years  2-3 years  More than 3 

years 

Other Intangible assets under development  3.58  -     -     -     3.58 

Total  3.58  -     -     -     3.58 

Other Intangible assets under development ageing schedule as at 31st March, 2022	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 

 Amount for a period of 

 Total  Less than 
1 year

 1- 2 
years  2-3 years  More than 3 

years 

Other Intangible assets under development  194.02  -     -     -     194.02 

Total  194.02  -     -     -     194.02 
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(` in Lacs)
Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022
Financial Assets

3.1 Loans

Non Current

(Unsecured, Considered good)

Others

     Loans & advances to Employees *  59.90  27.57 

Total  59.90  27.57 

Current

(Unsecured, Considered good)

Others

     Loans & advances to Employees *  85.40  78.90 

Total  85.40  78.90 

 *   Loans & advances to Employees includes dues 25.00 43.00

     from Executive Director, KMP etc. (Refer Note 31)

     (As a part of service condition extended to all its eligible employees)

3.2 Other Financial Assets

Non Current

Security Deposits  364.48  263.10 

  Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity and   

  remaining maturity of more than 12 months **  57.75  48.00 

  (Refer Note 9)  

Total  422.23  311.10 

Current

Interest accrued on fixed deposits  18.27  13.08 

Unbilled Revenue (Accrued operating income)  668.98  574.65 

Total  687.25  587.73 

** Given as security to secure bank guarantee  issued to Government Authorities.

(` in Lacs)

Note 
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

4.  Non-current tax assets (Net)

Non Current

Income Tax Recoverable (Net of provision for taxation)  2,580.12  2,160.85 

Total  2,580.12  2,160.85 

 (Aggregate amount of Tax Provisions as on 31st March 2023 Rs 2525.66 Lacs (Previous year Rs 1609.11 Lacs)
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

5. Other Assets

Non-Current (Unsecured, Considered good)

 Capital Advances  354.22  482.33 

 Prepaid Expenses  43.47  8.96 

Total  397.69  491.29 

Current (Unsecured, Considered good)

 Advances recoverable  55.17  26.85 

 Balances with statutory / government authorities  12.06  18.15 

 Prepaid Expenses  374.63  142.24 

 Export Incentive receivable  -    500.00 

Total  441.86  687.24 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

6. Inventories

(Valued at lower of cost or net realisable value)

Stock of Pharmacy Drugs & Medical Consumables  1,310.27  1,141.55 

Stock in Trade (Pharmacy and Other Items)  0.54  0.18 

Stores & Spares  88.29  97.94 

Total  1,399.10  1,239.67 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

7. Trade Receivables

Current - at amortised cost

 Considered good  10,099.83  7,953.32 

 Significant increase in Credit Risk  88.49  94.98 

 Credit Impaired  -  - 

 Less: Allowance for credit losses  (860.70)  (706.84)

Total  9,327.63  7,341.45 
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7.1 Trade Receivables ageing schedule

Trade Receivable Ageing Schedule as at 31st March 2023

Particulars Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not due Less than 
6 Month 

6 months 
-1 year

1-2 
Years

2-3 years More 
than 3 
years

Total 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 2,005.52  5,129.60  1,339.93 1,055.50  290.71  278.57  10,099.83 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -    -    -    -    -    88.49  88.49 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– credit 
impaired

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables – which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– credit 
impaired

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  2,005.52  5,129.60  1,339.93 1,055.50  290.71  367.06 10,188.33 

Trade Receivable Ageing Schedule as at 31st March 2022 (` in Lacs)
Particulars Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not due Less than 
6 Month 

6 months 
-1 year

1-2 
Years

2-3 years More 
than 3 
years

Total 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 2,617.37  3,410.45  797.65  511.23  352.08  264.54  7,953.32 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -    -    -    -    -    94.98  94.98 

Undisputed Trade Receivables– credit 
impaired

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– considered 
good

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables – which have 
significant increase in credit risk

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disputed Trade Receivables– credit impaired  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total  2,617.37  3,410.45  797.65  511.23  352.08  359.52  8,048.30 

7.2 Trade Receivables Includes : (` in Lacs)

Particulars  As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

- Dues from KMP’s and Enterprises owned or significantly influenced.  56.88  108.92 

7.3	 As per Ind AS 109, the Group is required to apply expected credit loss model for recognizing the allowance for doubtful debts. 
The Group uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss on portfolio of its trade receivable. The provision matrix is 
based on its historically observed default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-
looking estimates. At regular intervals, the historically observed default rates are updated and changes in forward-looking 
estimates are analysed.

	 The Group uses judgements in making certain assumptions and selecting inputs to determine impairment of these trade 
receivables, based on the Company’s historical experience towards potential billing adjustments, delays and defaults at the 
end of each reporting period.	
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	 The Group has recorded an allowance of Rs. 860.7 Lacs (Previous Year Rs. 706.84 Lacs) towards trade receivables. The 
Management believes that there is no further provision required in excess of the allowance for credit loss.

	 The movement in allowance for expected credit loss in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
(` in Lacs)

Allowance for expected credit loss  As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Opening balance  706.84  805.32 

Credit loss created /(reversed)  153.86  (98.47)

Closing balance  860.70  706.84 

7.4	 The Group’s exposure to currency risks related to trade receivables are disclosed in note 36.	
7.5	 Refer Note 12 for information on trade receivable hypothecated as security by the Group.
7.6	 No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of 31st March 2023 & 31st March 2022. There is no 

significant concentration of credit risk.	

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

8. Cash & Cash Equivalents

Balance with Banks:

 - In Current Accounts  709.00  1,484.57 

 - Bank deposit with original maturity of three 

 months or less.  1,485.00  - 

Cash on hand  92.86  85.30 

Total  2,286.86  1,569.88 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

9. Other Bank Balances

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity of more than

 3 months and remaining maturity of less than 12 months *  2,807.34  1,199.91 

 Fixed Deposit in banks having original maturity of more than

 12 months and remaining maturity of more than 12 months *  57.75  48.00 

 Amount disclosed under Other Non-Current Financial Assets  (57.75)  (48.00)

Total  2,807.34  1,199.91 

* Given as security  of  Rs. 165.07 Lacs (Previous Year Rs. 148.37 Lacs ) to secure bank guarantee  issued to Government Authorities.
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At

31st March 2023
 As At

31st March 2022

10. Share Capital:

a. Authorised Shares (in nos.)

69,55,00,000 Equity Shares of Re.1/- Each #  6,955.00  6,955.00 

(69,55,00,000 as at March 31, 2022 Equity Shares of Re.1/- Each)

11% Non-Cumulative 50,000 Preference Shares of Rs. 100/- Each  50.00  50.00 

(50,000 as at March 31, 2022 Preference Shares of Rs. 100/- Each)    

b. Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up Shares (in nos.)

13,41,18,750 Equity Shares of Re. 1/- Each (Refer Note 43)  1,341.19 1323.77

(13,23,77,000 as at March 31, 2022 Equity Shares of Re.1/- each fully paid up 
(refer # below)

Total Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up Capital  1,341.19  1,323.77 

c.	 Reconciliation of the equity shares at the beginning and at the end of the year

Reconciliation

 As At 
31st March 2023

As At 
31st March 2022

 Nos. ` in Lacs  Nos. ` in Lacs 

Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year  13,23,77,000  1,323.77  1,32,37,700  1,323.77 

Share Split from face value of Rs 10/- to Re 1/- each equity 
shares (refer # below).

 -  -  11,91,39,300  - 

Share issued under Employee Stock Option Scheme (Refer Note 
43)

 17,41,750  17.42  -  - 

Shares outstanding at the end of the year  13,41,18,750  1,341.19  13,23,77,000  1,323.77 

d.	 Terms/rights attached to Equity Shares	

	 The Holding company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Re.1 per share (March 31, 2022 Re. 1 per share). 
Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share, where voting is held by show of hands. In case of Poll each 
holder of equity share is entitled to Number of votes against Number of shares held.	

	 In the event of liquidation of the holding company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets 
of the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity 
shares held by the equity share holders.

e.	 Shares held by holding / ultimate holding company and / or their subsidiaries / associates:

Name of the Shareholder

 As At 31st March 2023 As At 31st March 2022

No. of 
Shares # ` in Lacs No. of 

Shares # ` in Lacs

Constructive Finance Private Limited - holding company  9,24,25,790  924.26 9,24,25,790  924.26 
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f.	 Details of Shareholders holding more than 5% Equity Shares in the Company:

Name of the Shareholder
 As At 31st March 2023 As At 31st March 2022
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding

Constructive Finance Private Limited - holding company  9,24,25,790 68.91% 9,24,25,790 69.82%

Governor of Kerala  67,49,600 5.03%  67,49,600 5.10%

g.	 Shares reserved for issue under options

	 Pursuant to approved employee stock option scheme 2020, the Group has granted 69,67,000 nos of employees stock options 
of which 17,41,750 options have been exercised during financial year 2023 (Previous year Nil). Also refer Note 45.	

h.	 Shares held by promoters :

Name of the Shareholder
 As At 31st March 2023 As At 31st March 2022
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding
No. of 

Shares #
% of 

Holding

Onkar Kanwar  5,000 0.00%  5,000 0.00%

Constructive Finance Private Limited  9,24,25,790 68.91% 9,24,25,790 69.82%

Total  9,24,30,790 68.92% 9,24,30,790 69.82%

i.	 No equity shares were allotted as fully paid up by way of bonus shares or pursuant to contract(s) without payment being 
received in cash during the last five years.

j.	 The Group has not issued any bonus shares in the last five years immediately preceding the balance sheet date. There are no 
securities which are convertible into equity shares.

k.	 There are no calls unpaid by Directors or Officers of the Group.
l.	 As per the records of the Group, including its register of shareholders/members and other declaration received from the 

shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownership of shares.
	 # The Board of Directors of Artemis Medicare Services Limited (‘Group’) in its meeting held on August 5, 2021, approved  for 

sub-division of the face value of the equity shares of the Group from Rs. 10 per equity share to Re. 1 per equity share i.e. 1 
equity share to be split into 10 equity shares. Subsequent to the approval by the shareholders of the Group,on the record date 
i.e.,September 24, 2021 the sub-division became effective.

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

11. Other Equity :

a. Capital Reserve

Balance as per last financial statements  14,457.89  14,457.89 

Closing Balance  14,457.89  14,457.89 

b. Securities Premium

Balance as per last financial statements  -  - 

Addition during the year  372.21  - 

Closing Balance  372.21  - 

c. Retained earnings

Balance as per last financial statements  12,868.97  9,687.54 

Add : Profit / (Loss) for the year  3,859.76  3,181.44 

Closing Balance  16,728.73  12,868.97 
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Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

d. Share option outstanding account

Balance as per last financial statements  775.26  - 

Additions during the years  403.05  775.26 

Deletion during the years  372.21  - 

Closing Balance  806.10  775.26 

e. Revaluation Reserve

Balance as per last financial statements  6,693.18  6,638.97 

Add : Deferred tax adjustment on revaluation  47.44  54.22 

Closing Balance  6,740.62  6,693.18 

f. Items of OCI re-measurement

Balance as per last financial statements  (176.59)  (88.78)

Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (refer note 35)  44.59  (87.81)

Balance at end of year  (132.00)  (176.59)

Total Other Equity  (a + b + c + d + e + f)  38,973.56  34,618.71 

a.	 Capital Reserve
	 Capital reserve represents excess of assets over liabilities and share issued consequent to scheme of arrangement of 

transferor companies in earlier years.
b.	 Security Premium
	 Security premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The same is to be utilised in accordance with the 

provision of section 52 of the companies Act 2013
c.	 Retained Earnings
	 Retained earnings represents the profits that the Company has earned till date, less any transfer of general reserve, dividends 

or other distributions to shareholders etc.
d.	 Share option outstanding account
	 The share options outstanding account is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees under 

the Company’s Employee stock option plan. Refer note 43.
e.	 Revaluation Reserve	
	 Revaluation Reserve represents freehold land revalued as on 31st March, 2016 as per independent valuer’s report and related 

deferred tax adjustments.
(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022
12. Borrowings

Non Current Borrowings
Term Loans

 From Banks
 - Indian Rupee loans from Banks (secured) 
 (at amortised cost)  21,358.91  16,129.07 

Total  21,358.91  16,129.07 
Current Maturity
Term Loans

 From Banks
 - Indian Rupee loans from Banks (secured)  2,794.68  2,227.25 
 (at amortised cost)

Transferred to Current Borrowing (Note 15)  (2,794.68)  (2,227.25)
Total  -  - 
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1.	 Indian Rupee Loans from Banks include :

a)	 Term loans* of Rs. 22593.08 Lacs  (As at  31st  March, 2022 Rs. 17270.15 Lacs) from Scheduled Bank carries interest as 
linked with Base Rate of banks.The loans are secured by first pari passu charge over Land & Building located at Sector 
51, Gurgaon, Haryana and charge over all movable fixed assets, both present & future and second pari passu charge on 
current assets.

* Term Loans   As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

HDFC Bank Ltd  11,579.86  7,308.63

IDFC Bank Ltd  4,679.68  4,067.33 

Axis Bank Ltd.  5,894.19  5,894.19 

ICICI Bank Ltd.  439.35  - 

Total  22,593.08  17,270.15 

b) 	 Term loans of Rs. 1765.54 Lacs (As at 31st March, 2022 Rs. 1080.92 Lacs ) from Scheduled Bank carries interest as linked 
with one year MCLR. The loans are secured by the charge on entire movable fixed assets  and second charge on current 
assets.

c)	 Vehicle Loans of Rs. Nil Lacs (As at 31st March, 2021 Rs. 5.24 Lacs) from Scheduled Bank carries interest as linked with 
Bank’s Prime Lending Rate (PLR). The Loan is secured on exclusive charge on the vehicles financed out of the said term 
loan.

	 FY 2022-23	 	 (` in lacs)

Repayment Schedule  FY 2023-24  FY 2024-25  FY 2025-26  FY 2026-27  After  
FY 2026-27 

Secured Loan          

Term Loan - HDFC Bank Limited  1,927.11  2,803.36  1,556.76  1,765.12  5,369.95 

Term Loan - Axis Bank Limited  318.41  539.39  719.19  839.05  3,356.22 

Term Loan - IDFC First Bank Limited  586.06  716.98  804.26  843.21  1,745.56 

Term Loan - ICICI Bank Limited  -    13.35  26.71  40.06  365.02 

Processing Cost IND-AS adjustments  (36.90)  (36.34)  (33.26)  (29.02)  (46.65)

Total  2,794.68  4,036.75  3,073.65  3,458.42  10,790.09 

	 FY 2021-22	 	 (` in lacs)

Repayment Schedule  FY 2022-23  FY 2023-24  FY 2024-25  FY 2025-26  After  
FY 2025-26 

Secured Loan          

Term Loan - HDFC Bank Limited  1,789.25  1,362.48  802.62  953.78  3,574.19 

Term Loan - Axis Bank Limited  179.80  359.59  539.39  719.19  4,195.27 

Term Loan - IDFC First Bank Limited  252.96  500.26  602.58  670.79  2,054.92 

Vehicle Loan - HDFC Bank Limited  5.24  -    -    -    -   

Processing Cost IND-AS adjustments  (34.55)  (34.98)  (34.42)  (31.45)  (70.60)

Total  2,192.70  2,187.37  1,910.17  2,312.31  9,753.78 
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(` in lacs)

Note
No. Particulars

 As At 
31st March 2023

 As At 
31st March 2022

Non-Current Current Non-Current Current

13. Provisions

Provision for Employee Benefits

Leave Benefits  240.77  109.66  222.43  111.11 

Gratuity  658.42  256.14  605.82  272.32 

(Refer Note 35)

Other Provisions

Provision for Contingencies  -  762.62  -  670.77 

(Refer Note 40)

Total  899.19  1,128.41  828.25  1,054.20 

(` in lacs)

14. Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to :
As at  

1st April  
2021

Credit / 
(Charge) 

to Profit or 
loss

Credit / (Charge) 
to Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

As at 31st 
March 2022

Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) (Net)

The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets / 
liabilities Recognised in profit and loss account and 
other comprehensive income

Property, plant and equipment  
(including intangible assets)

 (4,934.30)  898.11  54.22  (3,981.98)

Provision for Expenses  251.46  (82.62)  -    168.84 

Allowance for Doubtful Debts  
(Expected credit loss)

 281.41  (104.83)  -    176.58 

Employee Benefits  336.58  (60.84)  29.47  305.21 

Lease Liability  674.90  (230.97)  -    443.93 

MAT Credit Entitlement  120.71  (120.71)  -    0.00 

Fair Value Adjustments  6.09  2.71  -    8.80 

Unabsorbed Losses  98.78  69.23  -    168.01 

Others  262.91  (123.92)  -    138.99 

Total  (2,901.48)  246.18  83.69  (2,571.61)

* Including MAT credit write off of Rs 175.83 Lacs as per section 115 JB (5A) (ii) of Income Tax Act 1961.
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(` in lacs)

14. Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to :
As at  

1st April  
2022

Credit / 
(Charge) 

to Profit or 
loss

Credit / (Charge) 
to Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

As at 31st 
March 2023

Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) (Net)

The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets / 
liabilities Recognised in profit and loss account and 
other comprehensive income

Property, plant and equipment  
(including intangible assets)  (3,981.98)  (1,291.80)  47.44  (5,226.34)

Provision for Expenses  168.84  23.12  -    191.96 

Allowance for Doubtful Debts  
(Expected credit loss)  176.58  30.76  -    207.34 

Employee Benefits  305.21  28.81  (15.03)  318.99 

Lease Liability  443.93  671.63  -    1,115.56 

Fair Value Adjustments  8.80  14.93  -    23.73 

Unabsorbed losses  168.01  74.14  -    242.15 

Others  138.99  35.72  -    174.71 

Total  (2,571.61)  (412.70)  32.41  (2,951.89)

Note : Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been offset as they are governed by the same taxation laws.

(` in lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

15. Borrowings

Term Loan (current maturity) (Refer Note 12)  2,794.68  2,227.25 

Total  2,794.68  2,227.25 

Note 15.1
(The Group has been sanctioned overdraft credit limit of Rs 40 Cr including Rs 10 Cr non-fund based limit. It carries interest rate 
linked with 3 Month MCLR and are repayable on demand. The Overdraft limit is secured by 1st Pari passu charge on current assets 
and 2nd pari passu charge on movable & Immovable fixed assets, both present & future.)

(` in lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  As At 

31st March 2023
 As At 

31st March 2022

16. Trade payables

Total Outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises (Refer Note 
33)  1,171.65  1,293.18 

Total Outstanding dues of Creditors other than Micro Enterprises and Small 
Enterprises  7,646.69  4,703.90 

Total  8,818.34  5,997.08 
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Note 16.1: Trade Payables ageing schedule	 	 (` in Lacs)

Trade Payables Ageing Schedule as at  
31st March 2023

Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not Due Less than 
1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years More than 

3 years Total 

Due to Micro and Small Enterprises  1,171.65  -    -    -    1,171.65 

Other than Micro and Small Enterprises  5,157.91  1,787.86  502.96  51.38  146.58  7,646.69 

Disputed Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises  -    -    -    -    -   

Disputed Dues to Others  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  6,329.56  1,787.86  502.96  51.38  146.58  8,818.34 

		 	 	 	 	 	 Note due                	 (` in Lacs)

Trade Payables Ageing Schedule as at  
31st March 2022 

Outstanding for following Periods from due date of payments

Not Due Less than 
1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years More than 

3 years Total 

Due to Micro and Small Enterprises  1,293.18 -  -    -    -    1,293.18 

Other than Micro and Small Enterprises  1,171.76  2,839.93  236.86  163.56  291.80  4,703.91 

Disputed Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises  -    -    -    -    -   

Disputed Dues to Others  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  2,464.94  2,839.93  236.86  163.56  291.80  5,997.08 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars As At

31st March 2023
As At

31st March 2022

17. Other Financial Liabilities (secured)

Current

Other Payable #  4,295.22  1,832.82 

Interest Accrued but not due on borrowings  82.30  54.77 

Total  4,377.52  1,887.59 

#  Other payable includes payments due on account of capital items, due to employees.
(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars As At

31st March 2023
As At

31st March 2022

18. Other Liabilities

Current

Advance from Patients / Others *  1,353.21  1,080.48 

Taxes and Other Statutory Dues * *  686.02  524.84 

Security Deposits  266.12  311.75 

Deferred Government Grant * * *  659.35  464.18 

Total  2,964.71  2,381.25 

* Advance from Patients/ Others for which the Group is obliged to provide services to the patients/ Others. 
* * Taxes and other statutory dues includes Withholding Tax,Goods & Services Tax and contribution of P F, ESI etc.
* * *  During the year, the group has obtained EPCG License against import of fixed assets. The company has recognised this grant 
as deferred income at fair value, which is being amortised in proportion to fulfillment of Export Obligation (Refer note 39B).
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

19. Revenue from Operations 

 Sale of Services 

 Revenue from Healthcare & Other Services  71,981.11  53,888.93 

 Sale of Goods 

 Sale of Pharmacy Drugs & Medical Consumables  1,510.94  1,319.35 

 Sale of Stock in Trade (Pharmacy)  0.36  26.54 

 Other Operating Income 

 Income from Nursing Hostel  28.43  26.52 

 Income from Education & Training  106.82  96.21 

 Unclaimed credit balances / provisions no longer 

 required written back  87.98  82.87 

 Sale of Scrap  26.89  39.69 

Total  73,742.52  55,480.12 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

20.  Other Income 

 Interest Income  297.59  148.89 

 - From Bank deposits  223.13  139.09 

 - From Financial Assets carried at amortised cost  12.35  9.80 

 - From Others (including interest on tax refunds)  62.11  (0.00)

 Income from outsource activities (Cafeteria, Parking etc.)  74.17  72.72 

 Other Non-Operating Income (net of reimbursements)  124.16  119.19 

 Gain on sale of assets  136.35  -   

 Foreign Exchange Gain (Net)  101.64  49.14 

Total  733.90  389.94 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

21. Operative Expenses 

 Material and Consumables  19,105.81  15,480.94 

 Outsource Lab Test Charges  381.86  340.88 

 Fees to Doctors and Consultation  16,924.16  12,549.09 

 Professional Medical Consultancy  5,889.85  3,028.36 

 Power, Fuel and Water Expenses  1,605.09  1,303.13 

 Housekeeping and Catering  1,506.58  996.19 

 Securities Expenses  309.99  247.53 

 Linen and Uniform  269.59  208.29 

Total  45,992.93  34,154.40 
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

22.  (Increase) / Decrease in Inventories of 

 Stock in Trade 

 Inventories at the beginning of the year  0.18  13.56 

 Inventories at the end of the year  0.54  (0.36)  0.18  13.38 

 Total  (0.36)  13.38 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

23.  Employee Benefits Expense 

 Salaries, Wages and Bonus  10,549.84  8,754.86 

 Contribution to Provident and Other Funds  641.65  490.34 

 Share based payment to employees (Refer note 43)  403.05  775.26 

 Gratuity Expenses (Refer note 35)  174.25  155.88 

 Employee Welfare Expenses  308.70  253.66 

 Total  12,077.50  10,430.00 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

24.  Finance Costs 

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

 - On term Loans  1,432.05  764.73 

 - On lease liability  288.63  170.41 

Other Interest Expense  4.28  0.70 

Bank Charges (Including Other Borrowing Costs)  242.68  261.67 

 Total  1,967.65  1,197.51 

(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

25.  Depreciation and amortization expense 

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  2,504.85  1,894.35 

 Amortization of intangible assets  165.20  68.23 

 Depreciation of Right-of-use assets  430.40  256.70 

 Total  3,100.44  2,219.28 
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(` in Lacs)

Note
No. Particulars  Year Ended 

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

26. Other expenses

Consumption of stores & spares  355.46  150.07 

Short Term Lease Expenses  121.77  54.56 

Equipment Hire Charges  185.45  197.70 

Repairs and Maintenance -  Machinery  1,562.58  1,306.77 

Repairs and Maintenance -  Buildings  15.49  177.22 

Repairs and Maintenance -  Others  281.08  202.69 

Rates & Taxes  129.95  98.89 

Legal & Professional Consultation Fees  893.50  407.38 

AGM & Annual Listing Expenses  22.14  26.44 

Printing & Stationery  202.61  132.02 

Provision for Contingencies  91.86  -   

Travelling & Conveyance  480.23  258.94 

Advertisement & Business Promotion  694.81  236.82 

Patients Amenities  185.26  24.83 

Communication Expenses  59.59  57.42 

Charity & Donation  103.39  27.06 

Insurance  82.76  79.21 

Clinical Research Expenses  364.24  320.73 

Auditors Remuneration

 - Audit Fee  10.06  9.17 

 - Limited Review  8.85  9.35 

 - Tax Audit Fee  2.95  2.36 

 - Others Services & Certification  4.28  2.77 

Directors Sitting Fees  35.64  28.17 

CSR Expenses  53.67  53.71 

Balance Write Back Export Incentive  45.00  152.90 

Newspaper & Periodicals  38.21  29.95 

Bad Debts Written Off      60.95  113.04 

Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  153.86  (98.47)

Loss on Scrap of Property, Plant  
and Equipment  22.22  52.11 

Miscellaneous Expenses  9.47  13.52 

 Total  6,277.30  4,127.36 
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(` in Lacs)

Note 
No..  Particulars  Year Ended  

31st March 2023
 Year Ended 

31st March 2022

27. Tax Expense 

Recognised in Statement of Profit and loss account

Current Tax

(a) In respect of the current year  916.55  824.52 

(b) Earlier years tax  (69.77)  (55.13)

Total  846.78  769.39 

Deferred Tax

(a) In respect of the current year  412.71  (191.06)

Tax expense recognised through statement of profit and loss account  1,259.49  578.33 

Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Deferred tax

In respect of the current year  (32.41)  (83.69)

Tax credit recognised through Other Comprehensive Income  (32.41)  (83.69)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting 
profit as follows:

Profit before tax  5,060.60  3,718.48 

Enacted income tax rate in India 25.17% 25.17%

Income tax calculated  1,273.65  935.87 

Earlier years Tax  (69.77)  (55.13)

Expenses not allowed for tax purposes  895.38  142.12 

Additional allowances for tax purposes  (1,045.44)  (500.84)

Effect of Other Adjustments  205.67  56.30 

Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss  1,259.49  578.33 

Effective Tax Rate 24.89% 15.55%

Note No.

28.	 Segmental Reporting	

	 Operating segments

	 Ind AS 108 “Operating Segment” (“Ind AS 108”) establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report 
information about operating segments and related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major 
customers. Based on the “management approach” as defined in Ind AS 108, Operating segments are to be reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).The CODM evaluates 
the Group’s performance and allocates resources on overall basis. The Group’s sole operating segment is therefore ‘Medical 
and Healthcare Services’. Accordingly, there are no additional disclosure to be provided under Ind AS 108, other than those 
already provided in the consolidated financial statements. 

	 Geographical information

	 Geographical information analyses the Group’s revenue and non current assets by the Group’s country of domicile (i.e. India) 
and other countries. In presenting the geographical information, segment revenue has been based on the geographical 
location of the customers and segment assets which have been based on the geographical location of the assets.
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	 Secondary Segment - Geographical Location of customers

Particulars India Outside India Total
Current Year 
(` in Lacs)

Previous Year 
(` in Lacs)

Current Year 
(` in Lacs)

Previous Year 
(` in Lacs)

Current Year 
(` in Lacs)

Previous Year 
(` in Lacs)

Revenue by geographical 
markets

 56,334.66  45,953.93  17,407.86  9,526.20  73,742.52  55,480.12 

Non current assets  72,977.53  57,923.02  -    -    72,977.53  57,923.02 

29.	 Capital and Other Commitments	 	 (` in Lacs)

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022
a) Capital Commitments

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed 
on capital account not provided for (Net of Advances)  2,476.01  5,228.74 

b) Other Commitments
i) For commitments relating to lease arrangement, 

please refer Note 32.
ii) The Group does not have any long term commitments or material non-cancellable contractual commitments/

contracts, including derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses.

30.	 Expenditure on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) (This is with respect to the company alone)

i) Gross amount required to be spent by the Group during the year ended 31st March, 2023 Rs. 53.60 lacs 
(during the year ended 31st March, 2022 Rs. 53.35 lacs)

ii) Amount approved by board of directors Rs.53.60 lacs (Previous year Rs. 53.35 lacs)
iii) Amount spent during the year ended 31st March 2023 :

(` in Lacs)

Particulars Paid (A) Yet to be paid (B) Total (A+B) 
(i) Construction / acquisition of any property, plant and equipment  -  -  - 

(ii) On purposes other than ( i ) above  53.67
53.71*

 - 
 - 

 53.67
53.71*

*For the year ended 31st March, 2022

iv) Details of related party transactions :
a) Contribution during the year ended 31st March, 2023 Rs. Nil Lacs (Previous year - Rs. 6.55 Lacs)

b) Payable as at 31st March, 2023 Rs. Nil (Previous year - Rs. Nil)

 v) 	 Details of ongoing CSR projects under section 135(6) of the Companies Act, 2013		  (` in Lacs)
 Particulars  For the year ended 

31st March, 2023 
 Balance as at 1st April, 2022  
 With the Group  - 
 In separate CSR Unspent account  - 
   - 
 Amount required to be spent during the period 36.10
  36.10
 Amount spent during the period  
 From the Group’s bank account 36.10
 From separate CSR Unspent account  - 
  36.10
 Balance as at 31st March, 2023  
 With the Group  - 
 In separate CSR Unspent account  - 
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(vi) 	Details of CSR expenditure under section 135(5) of the Act in respect of other than ongoing projects	 (` in Lacs)

 Particulars  For the year ended 
31st March, 2023 

 Balance as at 1st April, 2022  -   
 Amount required to be spent during the period  17.57 
 Amount deposited in a specified fund of Schedule VII of the Act with in 6 months -  -   
 Amount spent during the period/year  (17.57)
 Balance as at 31st March, 2023  -   

(vii) Details of excess CSR expenditure under section 135(5) of the Act		  (` in Lacs)

 Particulars  For the year ended 
31st March, 2023 

 Balance excess spent as at 1st April, 2022  (0.36)
 Amount required to be spent during the period  53.60 
 Amount spent during the year  (53.67)

 Balance excess spent as at 31st March, 2023  (0.43)

31.	 Related party disclosure
a)	 Name of related parties

(i)    Holding Company Constructive Finance Private Limited
(ii)  Other Related Parties:

Directors and Key Management Personnel Mr. Onkar Kanwar (Chairman)
Dr. Devlina Chakravarty (Managing Director)
Mr. Neeraj Kanwar (Non-Executive Director)
Mrs. Shalini Kanwar Chand (Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari (Chief Financial Officer)
Mrs. Shilpa Budhia (Company Secretary) (up to 7th October, 2022)
Mrs. Poonam Makkar (Company Secretary)  
(from 9th November, 2022)

Relatives of Key Managerial Personnel## Mrs. Taru Kanwar
Mrs. Devarchana Rana
Dr. Srishti Chakravarty

Non-Executive Directors Dr. Nirmal Kumar Ganguly (Non-Executive Director)
Dr. S. Narayan (Independent Director)
Dr. Sanjaya Baru (Independent Director)
Ms. Deepa Gopalan Wadhwa (Independent Director)
Mr. Sanjib Sen (Independent Director)
Mr. Sunil Tandon (Independent Director)

Enterprises owned or Jointly Controlled 
Entities of Promoter - Promoter Group##

Apollo Tyres Limited

Apollo International Limited

Artemis Health Sciences Foundation
Artemis Education & Research Foundation
Swaranganga Consultants Private Limited
Premedium Pharmaceuticals Private Limited
Apollo Tyres Centre of Excellence Limited

## where transactions have taken place during the year or previous year / balances outstanding.
Notes: Related parties and their relationships are as identified by the management and relied upon by the auditors. 
            All transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s length.
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b)	 Transactions during the year	 	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 

 Parent Company 
 Key Management 

Personnel and their 
relatives 

 Enterprises owned 
or significantly 
influenced by 

key management 
personnel or their 

relatives 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 Reimbursement of Expenses Received            

 CSR Expenses            

 Artemis Health Sciences Foundation  -  -  -  -  -  6.55 

 Recovery of Loans & Advances            

 Devlina Chakravarty  -  -  12.00  12.00  -  - 

 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  -  -  6.00  6.00  -  - 

 Lease Expenses *            

 Apollo Tyres Centre of Excellence Limited  -  -  -  -  2.12  0.53 

 Swaranganga Consultants Private Limited  -  -  -  -  -  1.94 

 Charges for support services            

 Artemis Education Research Foundation  -  -  -  -  19.72  18.86 

 Sale of Services / License            

 Total Transactions  -  -  31.54  16.13  704.44  957.49 

 Transactions in excess of 10%            

 ---- Apollo Tyres Limited.  -  -  -  -  698.99  949.55 

 Purchase of services / goods *            

 Apollo Tyres Limited.  -  -  -  -  7.08  7.08 

 Devarchana Rana  -  -  8.57  7.35  -  - 

 Dr. Srishti Chakravarty      14.00  -    

 Nirmal Kumar Ganguly  -  -  22.95  19.80    - 

 Premedium Pharmaceuticals Private Limited  -  -  -  -  955.25  4,170.72 

 Donation Paid            

 Artemis Education & Research Foundation  -  -  -  -  25.00  20.00 

 Artemis Health Sciences Foundation  -  -  -  -  78.39  7.06 

 Directors’ Sitting Fees paid            

 Onkar Kanwar  -  -  2.50  2.20  -  - 
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Particulars 

 Parent Company 
 Key Management 

Personnel and their 
relatives 

 Enterprises owned 
or significantly 
influenced by 

key management 
personnel or their 

relatives 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 31st 
March 
2023 

 31st 
March 
2022 

 Neeraj Kanwar  -  -  3.30  2.80  -  - 

 Shalini Kanwar Chand  -  -  2.80  2.80  -  - 

 S. Narayan  -  -  4.10  2.20  -  - 

 Sanjaya Baru  -  -  3.50  2.30  -  - 

 Nirmal Kumar Ganguly  -  -  3.70  3.20  -  - 

 Sunil Tandon  -  -  3.10  2.60  -  - 

 Deepa Gopalan Wadhwa  -  -  4.10  3.40  -  - 

 Sanjib Sen  -  -  3.10  2.40  -  - 

 Key management personnel-Compensation            

 Devlina Chakravarty  -  -  474.35  475.29  -  - 

 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  -  -  75.75  75.96  -  - 

 Mrs Poonam Makkar  -  -  20.03  -  -  - 

 Shilpa Budhia  -  -  14.47  24.41  -  - 

 Defined benefit obligation as at year end            

 Post-employment benefits  -  -  83.19  87.99  -  - 

 Short-term benefits  -  -  24.31  26.66  -  - 

 Share-based payments      904.49  -    

 Total  -  -  1,011.99  114.65  -  - 

 Dr. Devlina Chakravarty  -  -  100.13  93.26  -  - 

 Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  -  -  24.12  20.10  -  - 

 Mrs Poonam Makkar  -  -  0.83  -  -  - 

 Ms Shilpa Budhia      -  1.29    

 Total  -  -  125.09  114.65  -  - 

* Transactions are reported including taxes.
(` in Lacs)

 Balance Payable  Name of Entity  31st March 2023  31st March 2022 

 Key Management Personnel and their relatives  Relatives of Director & KMP 
 Arpit Jain - 3.87

 Enterprises owned or significantly influenced  
by key management personnel or their 
relatives.

 Premedium Pharmaceuticals 
Private Limited  55.94  256.27 
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(` in Lacs)

Balance Recoverable  Name of Entity  31st March 2023  31st March 2022 

Key Management Personnel and their 
relatives 

 Relatives of Director & KMP  13.87  7.39 

 Devlina Chakravarty  10.09  27.01 

 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari  2.85  12.87 

Enterprises owned or significantly influenced  
by key management personnel or their 
relatives 

 Apollo Tyres Limited.   23.97  59.63 

 Apollo International Limited.   6.09  2.02 

 Artemis Education & Research 
Foundation  -    11.11 

32.	 Leases

a. 	 Movement of Lease Liabilities during the year	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,763.88  1,931.37 

Addition during the year  2,937.66  (3.24)

Finance cost accrued during the year  288.63  170.41 

Payment of Lease Liability  (557.69)  (334.66)

Balance at the end of the year  4,432.47  1,763.88 

Impact on the statement of profit or loss (increase / (decrease)	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Depreciation expense  430.40  256.70 

Short Term Lease Expenses (refer note 26)  121.77  54.56 

Finance Cost  288.63  170.41 

Total Expense for the year  840.80  481.67 

b. 	 The following is the cash outflow on lease during year	 	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Payment of lease liabilities - Principal amount  269.07  164.26 

Payment of lease liabilities - Interest amount  288.63  170.41 

Total Cash outflow on leases  557.69  334.66 
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c.	  The table below provides detail regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities on undiscounted cases
(` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year Ended  
31st March 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March 2022

Less than 1 year  3,210.15  398.48 

1 to 5 years  1,186.26  932.79 

Over 5 years  3,990.46  1,929.32 

Total Cash outflow on leases  8,386.87  3,260.59 

d. 	 The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities as the current assets are sufficient to 
meet the obligations related to lease liabilities as and when fall due.

e. 	 Lease payments during the period have been disclosed under financing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
flows.

f. 	 The Group has entered into a lease agreement to operate a hospital which shall commence in the next financial year.

33.	 The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises have been identified by the company alone, from the available information, which 
has been relied upon by the auditors. According to such identification, the disclosures as per Section 22 of “The Micro, Small 
and Medium Enterprise Development (MSMED) Act, 2006” are as follows:	

(` in Lacs)

Details of dues to Micro and Small Enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006  Year Ended  
31st March, 2023

 Year Ended  
31st March, 2022

The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier 
at the end of each accounting year.	

   

- Principal Amount  1,171.65  1,293.18 

- Interest thereon  -  - 

The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the Micro Small 
and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the 
payment made  to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting 
year.

 -  - 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 
(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but   
without adding the interest specified under Micro Small and Medium Enterprise 
Development Act, 2006.

 -  - 

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid  at the end of the accounting 
year.

 -  - 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date  when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under 
section 23 of the Micro Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006.

 -  - 
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34.	 Earning Per Share (EPS)

Particulars Year Ended
31st March, 2023

Year Ended
31st March, 2022

Net profit after Tax

Profit / (Loss) attributable to the Equity Shareholders (` in Lacs)  3,859.76  3,181.44 

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating 
basic earning per share

(Number)  13,33,60,859  13,23,77,000 

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating 
diluted earning per share

(Number)  13,85,86,109 1,390,17,982

Earning Per Share (in Rupees)

-   Basic (In Rupees)  2.89  2.40 

-   Diluted (In Rupees)  2.79  2.29 

Nominal value of Equity Shares (In Rupees)  1.00  1.00 

The shares pending for allotment for the previous year have been considered for the purpose of calculation of EPS appropriately.

The Board of Directors of Artemis Medicare Services Limited (‘Group’) in its meeting held on August 5, 2021, approved a 
proposal for sub-division of the face value of the equity shares of the Group from Rs. 10 per equity share to Re. 1 per equity 
share i.e. 1 equity share to be split into 10 equity shares. Subsequent to the approval of the above proposal by the shareholders 
of the Group, the record date was fixed as September 24, 2021 and thereafter the sub-division became effective. Accordingly, 
the basic and diluted earnings per equity share (EPS) have been computed for all the periods presented in the Financial Results 
of the Group on the basis of new number of equity shares in accordance with Ind AS 33 - Earnings per shares.

35.	 Employee Benefits

A)	 Defined Contribution Plan

i)	 The Group has recognized, in statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March 2023 an amount of Rs.583.36 
Lacs (Previous year Rs. 439.380 Lacs) under defined contribution plans.

Expense under defined contribution plans include: Year Ended
31st March, 2023

(` in Lacs)

Year Ended
31st March, 2022 

(` in Lacs)

a)   Employer's contribution to provident fund  583.36  439.38 

The expense is disclosed in the line item - contribution to provident fund and other funds in Note 23.

B) Defined Benefit Plan

ii) The Group has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of the 
service gets a gratuity on retirement / termination at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year 
of service. The Group has also provided for long-term compensated absences.
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(` in Lacs)

Gratuity (unfunded) Leaves (unfunded)

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2023

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2022

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2023

Year Ended 
31st March, 

2022

(i) Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of obligations:

a) Obligation at the beginning  878.13  672.42  333.54  292.30 

b) Current Service Cost  120.66  119.55  110.46  72.21 

c) Interest Cost  53.59  36.32  20.53  15.88 

d) Past Service Cost  -    -    -    -   

e) Actuarial (Gain) / Loss  (59.69)  117.16  (46.18)  8.93 

f) Benefits paid  (78.14)  (67.33)  (67.93)  (55.78)

g) Obligation at the year end  914.55  878.13  350.43  333.54 

(ii) Change in Plan Assets (Reconciliation of opening and closing balances):

a) Fair Value of Plan Assets at beginning  -  -  -  - 

b) Prior Period Adjustment  -  -  -  - 

c) Expected return on Plan Asset  -  -  -  - 

d) Contributions  -  -  -  - 

e) Benefits paid  -  -  -  - 

f) Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Plan Assets  -  -  -  - 

g) Fair Value of Plan Assets at year end  -  -  -  - 

(iii) Reconciliation of fair value of assets and obligations:

a) Present value of obligation at year end  914.55  878.13  350.43  333.54 

b) Fair Value of Plan Assets at year end  -    -    -    -   

c) Asset / Liability recognized in the Balance 
Sheet

 914.55  878.13  350.43  333.54 

(iv) Amount recognized in the income statement

a) Current Service Cost  120.66  119.55  110.46  72.21 

b) Past Service Cost  -    -    -    -   

c) Interest Cost  53.59  36.32  20.53  15.88 

d) Curtailment Cost (Credit)  -    -    -    -   

e) Expected return on Plan Assets  -    -    -    -   

f) Actuarial (Gain) / Loss  -    -    (46.18)  8.93 

g) Expenses recognized during the year  174.25  155.87  84.81  97.01 

(v) Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

a) Unrealised actuarial Gain / (Loss)  59.69  (117.16)  -  - 
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(vi) Assumptions: Year Ended 31st March, 2023 Year Ended 31st March, 2022

a) Discounting Rate (per annum) 7.20% - 7.39% 6.10% - 7.26% 

b) Future Salary Increase 5% - 6.5% 5.00%

Withdrawal / Employee Turnover Rate

c) Age upto 30 years 36.00% 36.00%

d) Age from 31 to 44 years 32.00% 32.00%

e) Age above 44 years 15.00% 15.00%

Mortality table used "Indian Assured Lives  
Mortality (2012-14 ult)"

"Indian Assured Lives  
Mortality (2012-14 ult)"

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take into account inflation, seniority, 
promotion and other relevant factors including supply and demand in the employment market.

Significant actuarial assumption for the determination of the defined obligation are discounted rate, expected salary 
escalation rate and withdrawal rate. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably 
possible changes of the respective assumption occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other 
assumptions constant.

The above information is certified by the actuarial valuer.

Group best estimate of contribution during next year is Rs. 159.2 Lacs for Gratuity & Rs. 92.18 Lacs for Leave 
Encashment.

The discount rate is based on prevailing market yield of Government Bonds as at the date of valuation.

(vii)	Sensitivity Analysis	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars

Year Ended  
31st March, 2023

Year Ended  
31st March, 2022

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Change in discount rate by 1.00%  33.95  36.72  37.00  40.86 

Change in Salary escalation rate by 1.00%  36.62  34.48  40.91  37.71 

Sensitivity due to mortality and withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change not calculated.

Sensitivity as to rate of inflation, rate of increase of pensions in payment, rate of increase of pensions before retirement 
and life expectancy are not applicable being a lump sum benefit on retirement.	

36.	 Capital Management

	 The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return 
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

	 The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in Notes 12, 15 & 17 offset by cash and bank 
balances) and total equity of the Group.	

	 The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than for covenants under various loan 
arrangements of the Group.	

	 The Group’s Board reviews the capital structure of the Group on need basis. As part of this review, the Board considers the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The gearing ratio at 31st March 2023 of 65.37% (previous year 
57.58%) (See below).
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	 Gearing Ratio :

	 The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows :	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022
Debt *  24,235.89  18,411.09 
Less : Cash and Cash Equivalents (Refer Note 8)  2,286.86  1,569.88 
Net Debt  21,949.03  16,841.21 
Total Equity (Net of Revaluation Reserve)  33,574.13  29,249.30 
Gearing Ratio 65.37% 57.58%

* Debt is defined as long-term and short-term borrowings.

37.	 Financial Instruments	

	 i)	 Categories of Financial Instruments		
	 The criteria for recognition of financial instruments is explained in accounting policies for Company.	 (` in Lacs)

Financial Assets Fair value hierarchy 
(Level 1, 2 or 3)

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Measured at amortised cost
Loans- Non Current  59.90  27.57 
Other Financial assets - Non Current  422.23  311.10 
Trade receivables - Current  9,327.63  7,341.45 
Cash and cash equivalents  2,286.86  1,569.88 
Other Bank balances - Current  2,807.34  1,199.91 
Loans - Current  85.40  78.90 
Other financial assets - Current  687.25  587.73 
Total  15,676.61  11,116.55 

	 At the end of the reporting period, there are no significant concentrations of financial assets designated at FVTPL. The 
carrying amount reflected above represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for such financial assets.

(` in Lacs)

Financial Liabilities Fair value hierarchy 
(Level 1, 2 or 3)

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Measured at amortised cost
Borrowings - Non Current  21,358.91  16,129.07 
Borrowings - Current  2,794.68  2,227.25 
Trade payables - Current  8,818.34  5,997.08 
Lease Liabilities - Non Current  3,936.67  1,495.57 
Lease Liabilities - Current  495.80  268.31 
Other financial liabilities - Current  4,377.52  1,887.59 
Total  41,781.91  28,004.87 

	 The management considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised 
cost in the balance sheet approximates their fair value.

	 Fair Value Hierarchy

	 The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could 
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following 
table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of Company’s asset and liabilities, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 as 
described below :-

i. 	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can 
access at measurement date;

ii. 	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included in level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

iii. 	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the valuation of assets/liabilities
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ii)	 Financial Risk Management Objectives
	 The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and 

international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks including market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

	 The Board of Directors manages the financial risk of the Group through internal risk reports which analyse exposure by 
magnitude of risk. The Group has limited exposure from the international market as the Group’s operations are in India. 
The Group has limited exposure towards foreign currency risk it earns approx. 15.89% of its revenue from in foreign 
currency from international patients. Also capital expenditure includes capital goods purchased in foreign currency 
through the overseas vendors. The Group has not taken any derivative contracts to hedge the exposure. However the 
exposure towards foreign currency foreign currency fluctuation is party hedged naturally on account of receivable from 
customers and payable to vendors in foreign currency.

	 Market Risk	
	 The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange 

rates.
a)	 Foreign Currency risk management	
	 The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate 

fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters.	
	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the 

end of the reporting period are as follows:
(` in Lacs)

I.  Assets Foreign 
Currency

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

FC in lacs Equivalent  
` In Lacs FC in lacs Equivalent  

` In Lacs

Receivables (trade & others) (A) USD  6.92  563.24  1.66  124.56 

Hedges by derivative contracts (B) USD  -    -    -    -   

Unhedged Receivables (C = A - B) USD  6.92  563.24  1.66  124.56 

(` in Lacs)

II.  Liabilities Foreign 
Currency

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

FC in lacs Equivalent  
` In Lacs FC in lacs Equivalent  

` In Lacs

Payables (trade & others)  
(including Deferred payment liability) (D) USD  -  -  -  - 

Hedges by derivative contracts (E) USD  -  -  -  - 

Unhedged Payables  (F = D - E ) USD  -  -  -  - 

(` in Lacs)

III.  Contingent Liabilities and 
Commitments

Foreign 
Currency

As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

FC in lacs Equivalent  
` In Lacs FC in lacs Equivalent  

` In Lacs

Contingent Liabilities (G) USD  -  -  -  - 

Commitments (H) USD  -    -    11.59  886.21 

Hedges by derivative contracts (I) USD  -    -    -    -   

Unhedged Payables (J = G + H - I) USD  -    -    11.59  886.21 

Total unhedged FC Exposures K=C-F-J  USD  6.92  563.24  (9.93)  (761.66)
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
	 The Group is mainly exposed to the USD currency	.
	 The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the Rupees against the USD. 

1% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
the period end for a 1% change in foreign currency rates. In case of net foreign currency outflow, a positive number 
below indicates an increase in profit or equity where the Rs. strengthens 1% against the relevant currency. For a 1% 
weakening of the Rupees against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, 
and the balances below would be negative. In case of net foreign currency inflow, a positive number below indicates 
an increase in profit or equity where the Rs. weakens 1% against the relevant currency. For a 1% strengthening of the 
Rupees against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the balances 
below would be negative.

(` in Lacs)

If decrease by 1% Currency Impact (net USD Inflow)

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year 5.63  1.25 

Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period 5.63  1.25 

(` in Lacs)

If increase by 1% Currency Impact (net USD Inflow)

Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year  (5.63)  (1.25)

Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period  (5.63)  (1.25)

b)	 Interest Rate risk management

	 The Group is exposed to  interest  rate  risk  because  Group  borrow  funds  at  both  fixed  and  floating  interest rates. 
The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings. 
The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 
management section of this note.

	 Interest Rate sensitivity analysis

	 The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the 
reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used 
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

(` in Lacs)
If increase by 1% in interest rates Interest Impact
Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022
Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year  (241.54)  (183.56)
Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period  (241.54)  (183.56)

(` in Lacs)

If decrease by 1% in interest rates Interest Impact
Particulars As at 31st March, 2023 As at 31st March, 2022
Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss for the year  241.54  183.56 
Increase / (decrease) in total equity as at the end of the 
reporting period  241.54  183.56 
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c)	 Credit Risk Management
	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and loans given. 
Credit risk arises from cash held with banks, as well as credit exposure to trade receivables and other financial 
assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets. The objective of 
managing counter party credit risk is to prevent losses in financial assets. The Group assesses the credit quality of the 
counterparties, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.

	 Trade and other Receivables 
	 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Trade 

receivables and unbilled revenue are typically unsecured and are derived from revenue earned from customers. 
The Group has a process in place to monitor outstanding receivables on a monthly basis. In monitoring customer 
credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including government entities, insurance 
companies, corporates, individual and others. The default in collection as a percentage to total receivable is low. 
Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than one year are still collectible in 
full, based on historical payment behaviour and extensive analysis of customer credit risk.

	 Cash and bank balances, loans and other financial assets
	 Cash and bank balances comprises of deposits with bank, interest accrued on deposits, and security deposits. These 

deposits are held with credit worthy banks. The credit worthiness of such banks are evaluated by the Management 
on an ongoing basis and is considered to be good with low credit risk. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
as at 31st March 2023, and 31st March 2022 is the carrying value of each class of financial assets. 

	 The security deposit pertains to rent deposit given to lessors. The Group does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counter-parties.	

d)	 Liquidity risk management
	 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an 

appropriate liquidity risk management  framework  for  the  management  of  the  Group’s  short-term,  medium-term 
and  long-term  funding  and  liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining  
adequate  reserves,  banking  facilities  and  reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets  and liabilities. Note given below sets out 
details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.	

	 Liquidity risk	
	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

	 The table below provides details regarding the undiscounted contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities :

(` in Lacs)

Particulars Within 1 
year 1 - 2 years More than 2 

years Total
Carrying Amount 
(net of transaction 

cost)

As at 31st March, 2023

Term Loan  2,794.68  4,036.75  17,322.16  24,153.59  24,153.59 

Trade Payables  8,818.34  -    -    8,818.34  8,818.34 

Interest accrued but not due on 
borrowings  82.30  -    -    82.30  82.30 

Lease Liability  495.80  430.51  3,506.15  4,432.47  4,432.47 

Other Financial Liability  4,295.22  -    -    4,295.22  4,295.22 

Total  16,486.34  4,467.26  20,828.32  41,781.91  41,781.91 
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(` in Lacs)

Particulars Within 1 
year 1 - 2 years More than 2 

years Total
Carrying Amount 
(net of transaction 

cost)

As at 31st March, 2022

Term Loan  2,192.70  2,187.37  13,976.25  18,356.32  18,356.32 

Trade Payables  5,997.08  -    -    5,997.08  5,997.08 

Interest accrued but not due on 
borrowings  54.77  -    -    54.77  54.77 

Lease Liability  268.31  155.44  1,340.13  1,763.88  1,763.88 

Other Financial Liability  1,832.82  -    -    1,832.82  1,832.82 

Total  10,345.68  2,342.81  15,316.38  28,004.86  28,004.86 

38.	 Disclosure under Ind AS - 115 (Revenue from contracts with customers)
(` in Lacs)

a. Disaggregated revenue information  Year Ended  
31st March, 2023 

 Year Ended  
31st March, 2022 

Type of Services or goods

Revenue from Healthcare & Other Services  72,231.22  54,134.22 

Revenue from Sale of Pharmacy Drugs & Medical Consumables  1,511.30  1,345.90 

Total  73,742.52  55,480.12 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Revenue from Customers based in India  56,334.66 45,953.93

Revenue from Customers based outside India  17,407.86 9,526.20

Total  73,742.51  55,480.13 

Timing of Revenue Recognition 

Services transferred over time (Healthcare Services & Others)  72,204.33  54,094.53 

Goods (Pharmacy & Scrap) transferred at a point in time  1,538.19  1,385.59 

Total  73,742.52  55,480.12 

(` in Lacs)

b. Trade receivables and Contract Customers  Year Ended  
31st March, 2023 

 Year Ended  
31st March, 2022 

Trade Receivables  9,327.63 7,341.45

Unbilled revenue  668.98 574.65

Contract Liabilities (advance from patients)  1,353.21 1,080.48
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c.	 The Group classifies the right to consideration in exchange for deliverables as either a receivable or as unbilled revenue. 
A receivables is right to consideration that is unconditional upon passage of time. Revenue for ongoing services at the 
reporting date yet to be invoiced is recorded as unbilled revenue. Trade receivables and unbilled revenue are presented 
net of impairment in the Balance sheet.

d.	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0- 90 days. Rs. 153.86 Lacs (Rs. -98.47 Lacs as at 
31st March 2022) was recognised as provision during the year for expected credit losses on trade receivables.

e.	 Performance obligation and remaining performance obligation 

	 The remaining performance obligation disclosure provides the aggregate amount of the transaction price yet to be 
recognized as at the end of the reporting period and an explanation as to when the Group expects to recognize these 
amounts in revenue. As on 31st March 2023, there were no remaining performance obligation as the same is satisfied 
upon delivery of goods/services.

39.	 Contingent Liabilities	 		  (` in Lacs)

Particulars As at  
31st March, 2023

As at  
31st March, 2022

A Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts

(i) In respect of compensation demanded by the patient / their relatives, for 
negligence in treatment and are pending with various consumers disputes 
redressal forums. The Group has been advised by its legal counsel that it is 
possible, the action may succeed after considering that insurance cover has 
also been taken by the Group and the doctors, the Group is of the view  that is 
adequately insured to mitigate the possibility of any loss to that extent.

 2,061.64  1,654.12

(ii) Basis on the Apex court judgement dated 28th February 2019 in the matter 
of “M/s Surya Roshini Limited Vs RPFC”, the RPFC (Regional Provident 
Fund Commissioner – I) Gurugram, has passed an impugned order (dated  
12th January 2021) against the holding company to deposit a sum of Rs. 392.16 
Lacs plus interest & penalty for the period November 2015  till January 2019. 
‘’The Holding Company has filed appeal & got favourable order from “The 
Central Govt. Industrial Tribunal -1”.

-  392.16

(iii) Outstanding Bank Guarantee’s issued out of non fund based overdraft limit  609.01  509.00 

B	 The status of completion of obligation as at the end on licensing years for the EPCG licenses obtained by the Group is as 
under:

(` in Lacs)

Export Obligation value  
(` in lacs) Licensing Year Export Obligation to 

be completed till

Export Obligation 
completed 
(Rs in lacs)

Export Duty Payable 
(With interest)

470.75 2018-2019 2024-2025 470.75* 126.21

205.02 2019-2020 2025-2026 205.02* 52.69

434.82 2020-2021 2026-2027 434.82* 102.07

2845.52 2021-2022 2027-2028 NIL 342.3

* In respect of Licensing of FY 2018-19, FY 2019-20 and FY 2020-21, Export Obligations are completed but yet not approved 
by regulatory authorities.

C	 For the Income Tax assessment proceedings for AY 2017-18, Assessing officer has made addition of Rs. 937.84 Lacs. 
Addition made by the Assessing Officer has not resulted any demand, as the additions has been setoff against unabsorbed 
losses of the Group. However, the Group has filed an appeal before CIT (Appeals) against the order passed by the Assessing 
Officer and matter is sub-judice.
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40.	 The Group carries a general provision for contingencies towards various claims against the Group including claims raised by 
patients / vendors / government authorities, not acknowledged as debts as mentioned in note no. 38A

(` in Lacs)

  Opening Balance as at 
01.04.2022

Additional provision 
made during the year

Incurred / (reversed) against 
provision during the year

Closing Balance as at 
31.03.2023

670.77 0.00 91.85 762.62

41.	 India’s Code on Social Security, 2020, which aims to consolidate, codify and revise certain existing social security laws, received 
Presidential assent in September 2020 and has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the related final rules have 
not yet been issued and the date on which this Code will come into effect has not been announced. The Code may impact 
the contributions by the Group towards provident fund, gratuity and ESIC. The Group will assess the impact of this Code and 
the rules thereunder when they come into effect and will record any related impact, if any, in the period the Code becomes 
effective.

42.	 a)	 Interest in other entities

	 Detail of subsidiaries which have been consolidated are as follows:

S. 
No. Name of Company Country of 

Incorporation

Ownership Interest 
held by the group

 Ownership Interest 
held by the non-

controlling interests Reporting 
date used for 
consolidation31st 

March, 
2023

 31st 
March, 
2021 

 31st 
March, 
2023 

 31st 
March, 
2021

1 Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited India 65% 65% 35% 35%  31st March, 
2023 

b)	 Additional information as required by Paragraph 2 of the General Instructions for Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements to Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013

Current Year 2022-23	 (` in Lacs)

S. 
No.

Name of the 
Entity in the 
Group

Net Assets, i.e. total 
assets minus total 

liabilities
Share in Profit or Loss Share in Other 

Comprehensive Income
Share in Total Comprehensive 

Income

As % of 
consolidated 

net assets
Amount

As % of 
consolidated 
Profit or 

Loss

Amount

As % of 
consolidated 

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Amount

As % of 
consolidated 

Total 
Comprehensive 

Income

Amount

 

Artemis 
Medicare 
Services Limited 
(Parent) 

99.69% 40,642.10 104.40%  3,968.52 99.79%  91.91 104.30%  4,060.42 

  Subsidiary                

1 Artemis Cardiac 
Care Pvt Ltd. -0.80%  (326.43) -2.87%  (108.93) 0.13%  0.12 -2.79%  (108.81)

 
Non-controlling 
Interests in 
Subsidiary

1.11%  454.23 -1.54%  (58.66) 0.07%  0.07 -1.50%  (58.59)

  Adjustments 
arising 0.00%  (0.92) -0.01%  0.18 0.00%  -   0.00%  0.18 

  TOTAL 100% 40,768.98 100.00%  3,801.11 100%  92.10 100.00%  3,893.21 
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Previous Year 2021-22		  (` in Lacs)

S. 
No.

Name of the 
Entity in the 

Group

Net Assets, i.e. total 
assets minus total 

liabilities
Share in Profit or Loss Share in Other 

Comprehensive Income
Share in Total Comprehensive 

Income

As % of 
consolidated 

net assets
Amount

As % of 
consolidated 
Profit or 

Loss

Amount

As % of 
consolidated 

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Amount

As % of 
consolidated 

Total 
Comprehensive 

Income

Amount

 

Artemis 
Medicare 
Services Limited 
(Parent) 

100.10% 36,161.20 103.74%  3,257.74 101.00%  (33.81) 103.77%  3,223.93 

  Subsidiary                

1 Artemis Cardiac 
Care Pvt Ltd. -0.60%  (217.62) -2.44%  (76.67) -0.67%  0.23 -2.46%  (76.44)

 
Non-controlling 
Interests in 
Subsidiary

0.51%  183.82 -1.31%  (41.28) -0.36%  0.12 -1.32%  (41.16)

  Adjustments 
arising 0.00%  (1.10) 0.00%  0.36 0.00%  -   0.01%  0.36 

  TOTAL 100% 36,126.30 100%  3,140.15 100%  (33.47) 100%  3,106.68 

43.	 Share-based payments

(a)	 The share-based payment plan is an employee option plan. The options are equity settled options.

	 The Board and shareholders have approved the Artemis Medicare Management Stock Option Plan – 2021 (the Plan). In 
accordance with the Plan, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, had, on April 1, 2021, granted 6,96,700 Stock 
Options to the Managing Director. These stock options are to be vested after a minimum of one year from the grant date 
and it may extend up to a maximum of four years from the grant date. The exercise period is one year from the date of 
respective vesting.

	 Further, according to the sub-division of the Equity Shares of the Group from the face value of ₹10/- each per share into 
₹ 1/- each per share, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee revised the no. of Stock Options to bring the same 
in line with the Sub-divided Equity Shares of the Group. Accordingly, the revised no. of Stock Options stands at 69,67,000  
Stock Options with the face value of ₹ 1/- each. 

(b)	 Set out below is the summary of options

Particulars

 As at 31st March, 2023  As at 31st March, 2022

 Average 
exercise 

price/ share 
in `

 No. of 
options

 Average 
exercise 

price/ share 
in `

 No. of 
options

Opening Balance  -    69,67,000  -    -   

Granted during the period/ year  -    -    21.37 69,67,000 

Exercised during the period/ year 21.37  17,41,750  -    -   

Expired during the period/ year  -    -    -    -   

Closing Balance    52,25,250   69,67,000 

Vested and exercisable    52,25,250   69,67,000 
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(c) 	 Share options outstanding at the end of the period/ year have the following exercise period and exercise prices:

Grant Grant Date  Exercise Period Exercise Price/ 
Share in `

Share Option as on 
31st March, 2023

Share Option as on 
31st March, 2022

Grant - I 01.04.2021 2 years from the date of grant  -  -  17,41,750 

Grant - II 01.04.2021 3 years from the date of grant 21.37  17,41,750  17,41,750 

Grant - III 01.04.2021 4 years from the date of grant 21.37  17,41,750  17,41,750 

Grant - IV 01.04.2021 5 years from the date of grant 21.37  17,41,750  17,41,750 

(d) 	The group has estimated fair value of options using Black Scholes Model. The following assumptions have been used 
for calculation of fair value of options garnted:

Assumbtion Factor Year Ended  
31st March, 2023

Year Ended  
31st March, 2022

Risk Free Rate  4.52% - 5.80%  4.52% - 5.80% 
Expected Life of option  2-5 years  2-5 years 
Expected Volatility 55.80% 55.80%
Share Price 1 1

(e) 	 Fair value of options granted :-

	 The fair value at grant date is determined using the Black Scholes Model which takes into account the exercise price, term 
of option, the share price at grant date, and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield 
and the risk free interest rate for the term of option. The Fair Value of the Stock option as of grant date was ₹ 21.37. During 
the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company issued 17,41,750 equity shares (March 31, 2022: Nil).

(f) 	 Expense arising from share-based payment transactions :-

	 The group has recorded an expense of ₹ 403.05 Lacs for the year ended March 31, 2023 (March 31, 2022: ₹ 775.26 Lacs), 
as a part of the employee benefits expense.	

(g) 	 In the existing Employee Stock Option Scheme, 17,41,750 options have been exercised till March 31, 2023 (March 31, 
2022: Nil).

Note 44: Ratio Analysis and its Elements

Note 44.1: Ratio	 (` in Lacs)

Particulars Units 31st March, 2023 31st March, 2022
% change from 
 31st March, 2022 

 to 31st March, 2023

Current Ratio Times  0.83  0.92 -9.98

Debt-Equity Ratio Times  0.71  0.62 14.02

Debt Service Coverage ratio Times  2.28  2.04 11.41

Inventory Turnover ratio Times  14.48  14.08 2.84

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio Times  3.60  3.56 1.10

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio Times  7.06  6.53 7.99

Net Capital Turnover Ratio Times  (31.68)  (55.16) -42.56

Net Profit ratio Percentage 5.15% 5.66% -8.93

Return on Equity ratio Percentage 11.98% 11.43% 4.85

Return on Capital Employed Percentage 11.50% 9.76% 17.77

Return on Investment Percentage 7.77% 6.93% 12.12
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Note 44.2: Elements of Ratio	 	 (` in Lacs)

Ratios
31st March, 2023 31st March, 2022

Numerator Denominator Numerator Denominator

Current ratio  17,035.44  20,579.46  12,704.78  13,815.68 

Debt- Equity Ratio  24,153.59  34,028.35  18,356.32  29,487.33 

Debt Service Coverage ratio  10,128.69  4,450.39  7,135.27  3,492.73 

Inventory Turnover ratio  19,105.81  1,319.39  15,503.96  1,101.05 

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio  30,030.00  8,334.54  22,832.00  6,406.58 

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio  52,270.22  7,407.71  38,304.78  5,862.01 

Net Capital Turnover Ratio  73,742.52  (2,327.45)  55,480.12  (1,005.73)

Net Profit Ratio  3,801.11  73,742.52  3,140.15  55,480.12 

Return on Equity ratio  3,801.11  31,730.73  3,140.15  27,484.26 

Return on Capital Employed  7,028.25  61,133.84  4,916.00  50,361.04 

Return on Investment  7,028.25  90,495.10  4,916.00  70,966.46 

Note 44.3: Consideration of Element of Ratio

i. Current Ratio: Numerator= Current Assets  
Denominator= Current Liabilities

ii. Debt-Equity Ratio: Numerator= Total Debt  
Denominator= Total Equity - Revaluation Reserve

iii. Debt Service Coverage ratio: Numerator= Profit After Tax + Interest Cost + Depreciation  
Denominator= Principal Repayment + Interest Cost

iv. Inventory Turnover ratio: Numerator= Cost of Goods Sold  
Denominator= Average Inventory 

v. Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio: Numerator= Total Credit Sales  
Denominator=Average Trade Receivables

vi. Trade Payable Turnover Ratio: Numerator= Total Credit Purchases  
Denominator= Average Trade Payables

vii. Net Capital Turnover Ratio:
Numerator= Revenue from operations  
Denominator= Average Working Capital (i.e. Current Assets - 
Current Liabilities)

viii. Net Profit ratio: Numerator= Net Profit after tax  
Denominator= Revenue from operations

ix. Return on Equity ratio: Numerator= Profit after tax  
Denominator= Average Total Equity - Revaluation Reserve

x. Return on Capital Employed:
Numerator= Profit Before Tax + Finance cost  
Denominator= Equity - Revaluation Reserve + Debt + Deferred 
Tax Liability

xi. Return on Investment: Numerator= Profit Before Tax+ Finance cost  
Denominator= Total Assets



214

Artemis Medicare Services Ltd.
Annual Report 2022-23

Note 44.4: Reasons for more than 25% increase/ (decrease) in above ratios

Particulars “% change from March 31, 2022 to March 31, 2023

Current Ratio Not Significant

Debt-Equity Ratio Not Significant

Debt Service Coverage ratio Not Significant

Inventory Turnover ratio Not Significant

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio Not Significant

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio Not Significant

Net Capital Turnover Ratio The change in ratio has been due to increase in business operations during the year.

Net Profit ratio Not Significant

Return on Equity ratio Not Significant

Return on Capital Employed Not Significant

Return on Investment Not Significant

45.	 Other Statutory Information

(i) 	 The Group did not have any transactions with struck-off companies under section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or 
section 560 of the Companies Act, 1956.

(ii) 	 The Group has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the period/year.

(iii) 	 The Group has not advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) any funds to or in any other persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, directly or indirectly lend 
or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Group (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iv) 	 The Group has not received any funds from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(v) 	 The Group does not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or 
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey 
or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961).

(vi) 	 The Group has not raised funds on short-term basis which have been utilised for long-term purposes.

(vii) 	 The Group had not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender (as defined 
under the Companies Act, 2013) or consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by 
the Reserve Bank of India. The Group has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment 
of interest thereon to any lender.	

(viii) 	The Group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Act read with 
Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017, as amended.

(ix) 	 The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses.

(x) 	 There were no amounts, during the year, which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Group.
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46 	  Other Notes 

(i) 	 In the opinion of the Board of Directors, Trade Receivables, other current financial assets, and other current assets have 
a value on realization in the ordinary course of the Group’s business, which is at least equal to the amount at which they 
are stated in the balance sheet.

(ii) 	 The balances of some of the accounts classified as Trade Payables, Trade Receivables, etc. are in the process of 
reconciliations/ confirmation. In the opinion of Board of directors, the result of such exercise will not have any material 
impact on the carrying value. 

(iii) 	 The Board of Directors at its meeting held on May 05, 2023 has approved the Financial Statement for the year ended 
March 31, 2023.

As per our report of even date attached	 Signature to Note 1 to 46

For TR Chadha & Co LLP	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants	 of Artemis Medicare Services Limited
Firm Registration Number.: 006711N/N500028	
	 Onkar Kanwar	 Devlina Chakravarty
	 Chairman	 Managing Director
	 DIN : 00058921	 DIN : 07107875

Neena Goel	 Sanjiv Kumar Kothari	 Poonam Makkar
Partner	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary
Membership No. 057986		  Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram	
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023	
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Form AOC-1
(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures

Part “A”: Subsidiary
(Information in respect of subsidiary to be presented with amounts ` in Lacs)

Sl. No. Particulars Details

1 Name of the subsidiary Artemis Cardiac Care Private Limited

2 The date since when subsidiary was acquired/incorporated January 14, 2019

3 Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the 
holding company’s reporting period

N.A.

4 Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 
relevant Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries

N.A.

5 Share capital 1800

6 Reserves & surplus (502.21)

7 Total assets 3706.00

8 Total Liabilities 3706.00

9 Investments 0

10 Turnover 2321.41

11 Profit before taxation (225.91)

12 Provision for taxation (58.32)

13 Profit after taxation (167.59)

14 Proposed Dividend 0

15 % of shareholding 65

Onkar Kanwar
Chairman & Director
DIN:00058921

Devlina Chakravarty
Managing Director
DIN:07107875

Sanjiv Kumar Kothari
Chief Financial Officer

Poonam Makkar
Company Secretary
Membership No.: F7919

Place : Noida	 Place : Gurugram
Dated : May 5, 2023	 Dated : May 5, 2023
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